
 
 

Agenda 

 
 

 
 
 

Regular Council Meeting 
to be held at the City of Penticton, Council Chambers 

171 Main Street, Penticton, B.C. 
To view the live broadcast and recordings, visit www.penticton.ca 

 
Tuesday, February 20, 2024  

at 1:00 p.m.  
 

 
 
1. Call Regular Council Meeting to Order 
 
2. Introduction of Late Items 
 
3. Adoption of Agenda 
 
4. Recess to Committee of the Whole  
 
5. Reconvene the Regular Council Meeting  
 
6. Adoption of Minutes: 

 
6.1 Minutes of the February 6, 2024 Regular Council Meeting  1-5 Adopt 

 
7. Consent Agenda  

 
Recommendation: THAT Council approve the Consent Agenda:  6-15 

1. Minutes of the November 27, 2023 Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee;  

2.  Minutes of the February 6, 2024 Committee of the Whole Meeting; and 

3. Minutes of the February 6, 2024 Public Hearing. 

 
8. Staff Reports:   
 

Hardisty 8.1 Elected Officials Code of Conduct  16-51 
Staff Recommendation:  THAT Council adopt the Regional District Okanagan Similkameen Code of 
Conduct included as Attachment B to the report dated January 16, 2024. 
THAT Council rescind Respectful Workplace Policy dated March 17, 2014. 
That Council direct staff to amend the Council Remuneration and Expense Bylaw No. 2019-27 to 
include reduction of remuneration upon code of conduct breaches or the filing of frivolous, vexatious 
or claims made in bad faith as follows: First offence reduction of 10% for twelve months, second 
offence reduction of 15% for 12 months, third and subsequent offences 25% for 12 months. 
Reductions to remuneration shall be cumulative.  
 

 
 

http://www.penticton.ca/


    
 

 
 
Hardisty 8.2 2024 SILGA Resolutions  52-53 

Staff Recommendation:  THAT Council submit the following resolution regarding the urgent need for 
complex care opportunities in the South Okanagan for consideration at the 2024 Southern Interior 
Local Government Association (SILGA) Convention;   
AND THAT the motion be referred to the Regional District of Okanagan Similkameen for support. 
 

Raposo 8.3 License to Use Agreement – Bishop’s Snow and Marine Ltd. Operating as Pier Water Sports      54-87 
Staff Recommendation:  THAT Council approve the three (3) year License to Use Agreement renewal 
with Bishop’s Snow and Marine Ltd., operating as Pier Water Sports, for the use of approximately .55 ac. 
of Rotary Park foreshore, and use of the building for the operation of water leisure activities on 
Okanagan Lake.  
AND THAT Council authorize the Director of Finance and Administration and Corporate Officer to 
execute the License to Use Agreement. 
 

Raposo 8.4 Request for Proposal – Skaha Main Concession  88-106 
Re:  3701 Parkview Street 
Staff Recommendation:  THAT Council refer the Request for Proposal process to the Parks and 
Recreation Advisory Committee for their review and recommendation, for the use of 3701 Parkview 
Street, (Skaha Main Concession) for the purpose of seeking an operator for a food concession for a three 
(3) year term. 

 
Raposo 8.5 Request for Proposal – Sudbury Beach Concession  107-143 
  Re:  3846 Skaha Lake Road 

Staff Recommendation:  THAT Council refer the Request for Proposal process to the Parks and 
Recreation Advisory Committee for their review and recommendation for the use of 3846 Skaha Lake 
Road (Sudbury Beach Concession) for the purpose of seeking an operator for a food concession for a 
three (3) year Sub-License to Use agreement term. 

 
Raposo  8.6 Beach Vending Program           144-175 

Staff Recommendation:  THAT Council refer the renewal of the Beach Vending Program for an additional 
three-year term to the Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee for their review and recommendation;   
AND THAT Council authorize staff to extend approximately 75m2 of the existing pathway on Lakeshore 
Drive, to construct a new vending area at an approximate cost of $30,000, to be funded from anticipated 
administrative savings through the year. 

  
Dixon  8.7 Electric Kick Scooter Legislation and Public Pilot Project           176-187 

Staff Recommendation:  THAT the City of Penticton consents to the Electric Kick Scooter Pilot Project 
taking place within the City of Penticton, starting on April 5, 2024; 
AND THAT the Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure be advised accordingly;  
AND THAT the City issue a competitive call for proposals for a public bike and/or scooter share 
program. 

 
Tanguay 8.8 Development Permit PL2023-9672                    188-225 
  Re:  286 Rigsby Street 

Staff Recommendation:  THAT Council approve “Development Permit PL2023-9672” for Lot A District 
Lot 4 Group 7 Similkameen Division Yale (Formerly Yale-Lytton) District Plan EPP134647, located at 
286 Rigsby Street, a permit to approve the form and character of a 5 storey, 48 unit apartment. 

 
 
 
 
 
 



    
 

 
9. Bylaws and Permits: 

 
Collison 9.1 Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2024-04    226-227   Adopt 
   Development Variance Permit PL2023-9684    228-230                               Approve 
   Re:  200 Abbott Street 

 
10. Notice of Motion 

 
11. Business Arising  

 
12. Public Question Period  
 

If you would like to ask Council a question with respect to items that are on the current agenda, please visit our website at 
www.penticton.ca to find the telephone number or Zoom link to ask your question before the conclusion of the 
meeting.  Use the raise hand feature and you will be given the opportunity to turn on your camera and unmute your 
microphone and ask Council your questions.  Please note that the meeting is streaming live and recorded, access to 
recordings can be found on the City’s website.  

 
13. Council Round Table  
 
14. Adjournment 

 
 

http://www.penticton.ca/


 
 

Minutes 

 

 
 

 
 
 

      Regular Council Meeting 
held at City Hall, Council Chambers 

171 Main Street, Penticton, B.C.  
 

Tuesday, February 6, 2024 
at 1:00 p.m. 

   
  Present:  Mayor Bloomfield 

  Deputy Mayor Watt 
  Councillor Boultbee 
  Councillor Gilbert 
  Councillor Graham 
  Councillor Konanz 
  Councillor Miller 
   

 
Staff:   Anthony Haddad, City Manager 

     Angie Collison, Corporate Officer 
     Angela Campbell, Director of Finance & Administration     
     Kristen Dixon, General Manager of Infrastructure 
     Blake Laven, Director of Development Services   
     Kelsey Johnson, Director of Community Services 
     Julie Czeck, Director of Public Safety and Partnerships 
     Paula McKinnon, Deputy Corporate Officer    

1. Call to Order 
 
The Mayor called the Regular Council Meeting to order at 1:00 p.m. 

      
2. Introduction of Late Items 

 
3. Adoption of Agenda 

  
22/2024 It was MOVED and SECONDED 

THAT Council adopt the agenda for the Regular Council Meeting held on February 6, 2024 as 
presented. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

4. Recess to Committee of the Whole 
 

23/2024 It was MOVED and SECONDED 
 THAT Council recess to a Committee of the Whole meeting at 1:01p.m. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
 
 

- 1 -



    
Minutes of February 6, 2024 Regular Council Meeting  Page 2 of 5 

 
 

5. Reconvene the Regular Council Meeting 
 
Council reconvened the Regular Council Meeting at 1:46 p.m.  

 
6. Adoption of Minutes: 

 
  6.1 Minutes of the January 16, 2024 Regular Council Meeting  

 
24/2024 It was MOVED and SECONDED 

THAT Council adopt the Regular Council Meeting minutes of January 16, 2024 as presented.  
 CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 
  6.2 Minutes of the January 29, 2024 Special Council Meeting  

 
25/2024 It was MOVED and SECONDED 

THAT Council adopt the Special Council Meeting minutes of January 29, 2024 as presented.  
 CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 
7. Consent Agenda: 

 
26/2023 It was MOVED and SECONDED 

THAT Council approve the Consent Agenda: 
1. January 10, 2024 Minutes of the Accessibility Committee; and 
2. January 16, 2024 Minutes of the Committee of the Whole Meeting.  

       CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

8. Staff Reports: 
 

8.1  Safe & Resilient Council Priority: Public Safety Working Group Update 
  

27/2024  It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT Council receive into the record the report dated February 6, 2024 titled “Safe & Resilient 
Council Priority: Public Safety Working Group Update”, a report that outlines the public safety 
planning and actions that were implemented in 2023. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

8.2  RCMP Quarterly Update 
   

28/2024   It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT Council receive into the record the report dated February 6, 2024 titled “RCMP Quarterly 
Update”. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

8.3  Bylaw Services 2023 Year End 
     
29/2024   It was MOVED and SECONDED 

THAT Council receive into the record the report dated February 6, 2024 titled “Bylaw Services 2023 
Year End”.  

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
The Mayor recessed the meeting at 2:32 p.m. and reconvened at 2:45 p.m. 
 

 

- 2 -



    
Minutes of February 6, 2024 Regular Council Meeting  Page 3 of 5 

 
 

 
8.4  UBCM ESS Grant for 2024 

 
30/2024   It was MOVED and SECONDED 

THAT Council direct staff to apply for a Union of BC Municipalities’ Community Emergency 
Preparedness Fund’s Emergency Support Services (ESS) stream grant for approximately 
$30,000 for 2024-2025; 
AND THAT Council direct the Emergency Program Coordinator to sign and submit the 
application document; AND THAT Council direct the City Manager to sign the agreement with 
the Union of BC Municipalities should the City be successful with its application.  

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

8.5  Solid Waste Collection Contract – 2025-2032 
  

31/2024   It was MOVED and SECONDED 
  THAT the 2024-2028 Financial Plan be amended for years 2025-2028 to include forecasted expenses 

resulting from the execution of the 2025-2032 Waste Collection Services Agreement. 
CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 
8.6  Electric Utility Overview 
      

32/2024   It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT Council receive into the record the report dated February 6, 2024 titled “Electric Utility 
Overview”. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

8.7  Neighbourhood Traffic Management Policy 
   

33/2024  It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT Council rescind the 2016 Transportation Safety Policy and approve Council Policy  
CP#2024-01 Neighborhood Traffic Management Policy. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

8.8  Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2024-03 
Re: 424 and 436 Bennett Avenue 

   
34/2024   It was MOVED and SECONDED 

THAT Council give first, second, and third reading to “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2024-03”, 
for Lot 37 District Lot 250 Similkameen Division Yale District Plan 881, located at 424 Bennett 
Avenue, and for Lot 36 District Lot 250 Similkameen Division Yale District Plan 881, located at 
436 Bennett Avenue, a bylaw to rezone the subject properties from R2 (Small Lot Residential) 
to RD3 (Residential Infill); 
AND THAT prior to adoption of “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2024-03”, the following 
condition be met: 

1. A 0.5 m wide road dedication along Bennett Avenue is registered with the Land Title 
Office. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
 
 

- 3 -



    
Minutes of February 6, 2024 Regular Council Meeting  Page 4 of 5 

 
 

8.9  Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2024-04 
Development Variance Permit PL2023-9683 
Development Permit PL2023-9684 
Re: 200 Abbott Street 

  
35/2024   It was MOVED and SECONDED 

THAT Council give first, second, and third reading to “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2024-04”, 
for Lot 1 District Lot 202 Similkameen Division Yale District Plan 7492, located at 200 Abbott 
Street, a bylaw to rezone the subject property from RD2 (Duplex Housing: Lane) to RD4 (Low 
Density Cluster Housing); 
AND THAT Council, subject to adoption “Zoning Bylaw Amendment Bylaw No. 2024-04”, 
consider “Development Variance Permit PL2023-9683” for Lot 1 District Lot 202 Similkameen 
Division Yale District Plan 7492, located at 200 Abbott Street, a permit to vary the following 
sections Zoning Bylaw 2023-08: 

• Section 10.7.2.6: to reduce the front yard from 4.5 m to 3.0 m, and; 
• Section 10.7.2.8: to reduce the exterior yard from 4.5 m to 3.5 m; 

AND THAT Council, subject to adoption of “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2024-04”, approve 
“Development Permit PL2023-9684”, for Lot 1 District Lot 202 Similkameen Division Yale 
District Plan 7492, located at 200 Abbott Street, a permit to approve the form and character of 
cluster housing (four dwelling units); 
AND THAT Council direct staff to issue “Development Permit PL2023-9684”;  
AND THAT Council require that a 5 m x 5 m corner cut be completed prior to the issuance of 
the Occupancy Permit. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

9. Public Question Period 
 

10. Recess the Meeting 
 
The Mayor recessed the meeting at 3:40 p.m. 
 

11. Reconvene the Regular Council Meeting following the Public Hearing at 6:00 p.m. 
 
The Mayor reconvened the meeting at 6:45 p.m. 
 

12. Bylaws and Permits 
 

12.1  Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2023-48 
Development Variance Permit PL2023-9680 
Re: 275 Kinney Avenue 

  
36/2024   It was MOVED and SECONDED 

THAT Council adopt “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2023-48” 
 AND THAT Council approve Development Variance Permit PL2023-9680. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
 
 
 

- 4 -



    
Minutes of February 6, 2024 Regular Council Meeting  Page 5 of 5 

 
 

12.2  Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2023-49 
Re: 172 Green Avenue West 

  
37/2024   It was MOVED and SECONDED 

THAT Council adopt “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2023-49”. 
CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 
12.3  Official Community Plan Amendment Bylaw No. 2024-01 

Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2024-02 
Re: 460 Conklin Avenue 

  
38/2024   It was MOVED and SECONDED 

THAT Council give second the third reading to “Official Community Plan Amendment Bylaw 
No. 2024-01”;  
AND THAT Council give second and third reading to “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2024-02”. 

CARRIED 
Councillors Graham and Miller, Opposed 

 
13. Notice of Motion 

 
  13.1  Notice of Motion introduced by Councillor Boultbee at the January 16, 2024 Regular 

 Meeting: 
 
39/2024   It was MOVED and SECONDED 
  THAT Council direct the City Manager to hire a third party consultant to perform a Core Review to 

evaluate and substantiate the City’s service levels, staffing of the organization as a whole and the 
scope creep into provincial areas of jurisdiction and the attendant costs. 

DEFEATED 
Mayor Bloomfield and Councillors Gilbert, Graham, Konanz and Watt, Opposed  

 
14. Business Arising 

 
15. Public Question Period 

 
16. Council Round Table 

 
17. Adjournment  

 
40/2024   It was MOVED and SECONDED 

THAT Council adjourn the February 6, 2024 Regular meeting of Council at 7:27 p.m. 
CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 
 
 

Certified correct:      Confirmed: 
 
 

____________________________ ______________________________ 
Angie Collison  Julius Bloomfield 
Corporate Officer  Mayor 

- 5 -



 

  Minutes 
 
 
 

 
Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee Meeting 

to be held via Zoom 
Wednesday, November 27, 2023 

at 9:30 a.m. 

 
Present:   John Archer, Chair 
   Sue Fraser, Vice-Chair 
   Cameron Baughen 
   Juliana Buitenhuis 
   Joanne Grimaldi 
   Marc Tougas 
    
Council Liaison:  Isaac Gilbert, Councillor 
 
Staff:   Kristen Dixon, General Manager of Infrastructure  
   Kelsey Johnson, Manager of Recreation, Arts and Culture 
   Sheri Raposo, Land Administrator 
   Hayley Anderson, Legislative Assistant 
 
Regrets:  Brenda Clark 
   Victoria Jaenig 
   Don Mulhall  
 
1. Call to Order 
 

The Legislative Assistant called the Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee to order at 
 9:34 a.m. 

 
2. Adoption of Agenda 
 

It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT the Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee adopt the agenda of November 27, 2023 as 
presented. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
3. Adoption of Minutes  
 

It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT the Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee adopt the minutes of August 28, 2023 as 
presented. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
 
 
 
 

- 6 -



Minutes of the November 27, 2023 Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee Meeting Page 2 of 3 
 

4. New Business 
 
4.1 Appointment of Committee Chair and Vice-Chair 

 
It was MOVED and SECONDED 

 THAT the Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee appoint John Archer as the Committee Chair 
and Sue Fraser as Vice-Chair. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

4.2 2024-2026 Meeting Schedule 
 

It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT the Committee set the 2024 meeting schedule and time as follows; January 24, April 24, 
July 24 and October 23, 2024 at 9:30 a.m. 
AND THAT the Committee set the 2025 meeting schedule and time as follows; January 22, April 
23, July 23 and October 22, 2024 at 9:30 a.m. 
AND THAT the Committee set the 2026 meeting schedule and time as follows; January 28, April 
22, July 22, 2026 at 9:30 a.m. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
Marc Tougas joined the meeting at 9:45 am. 

 
4.3 Bishops Snow and Marine Report 

  
It was MOVED and SECONDED 

 THAT the Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee recommends that Council direct staff to 
issue the three (3) year License to Use Agreement renewal with Bishop’s Snow and Marine Ltd., 
operating as Pier Water Sports, for the use of approximately .55 ac. of Rotary Park foreshore and 
use of the building for the operation of water leisure activities on Okanagan Lake. 

 
  Amendment: 
  It was MOVED and SECONDED 

AND THAT Staff investigate best practices for specific language pertaining to environmental 
monitoring or reporting, as well as any additional insurance requirements, to include in the 
lease to ensure appropriate protect ion of the environment. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

Main Motion as Amended: 
It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT the Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee recommends that Council direct staff 
to issue the three (3) year License to Use Agreement renewal with Bishop’s Snow and 
Marine Ltd., operating as Pier Water Sports, for the use of approximately .55 ac. of Rotary 
Park foreshore and use of the building for the operation of water leisure activities on 
Okanagan Lake;  
AND THAT Staff investigate best practices for specific language pertaining to 
environmental monitoring or reporting, as well as any additional insurance requirements, 
to include in the lease agreement to ensure appropriate protection of the environment. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
 

- 7 -



Minutes of the November 27, 2023 Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee Meeting Page 3 of 3 
 

5. Next Meeting 
 
The next Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee meeting is scheduled to be held on  
January 24, 2024 at 9:30 a.m. 

 
6.  Adjournment 
 

It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT the Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee adjourn the meeting held on November 27, 2023 
at 10:15 a.m. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY  
 

Certified Correct: 
 
 
 
________________________________ 
Hayley Anderson 
Legislative Assistant  

- 8 -



 
 

Minutes 

 

 
 

 
 
 

Committee of the Whole 
held at City Hall, Council Chambers 

171 Main Street, Penticton, B.C.  
 

Tuesday, February 6, 2024 
Recessed from the Regular Council Meeting at 1:00 p.m. 

 
                           Present:    Mayor Bloomfield 

  Deputy Mayor Watt 
  Councillor Boultbee 
  Councillor Gilbert 
  Councillor Graham 
  Councillor Konanz 
  Councillor Miller 

 
Staff:   Anthony Haddad, City Manager 

     Angie Collison, Corporate Officer 
     Angela Campbell, Director of Finance & Administration     
     Kristen Dixon, General Manager of Infrastructure 
     Blake Laven, Director of Development Services   
     Kelsey Johnson, Director of Community Services 
     Julie Czeck, Director of Public Safety and Partnerships 
     Paula McKinnon, Deputy Corporate Officer   

   
 

1. Call to order 
   

The Mayor called the Committee of the Whole meeting to order at 1:01 p.m. 
 

2. Adoption of Agenda 
 

 It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT the agenda for the Committee of the Whole meeting held on February 6, 2024 be 
adopted as presented. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
3. Delegations: 

 
3.1 Proclamation “Real Acts of Caring” February 11-17, 2024 
 
Ms. Burdock and KVR Grade 7 students, provided Council with a presentation on the work 
they have been doing for Real Acts of Caring and requested that Council proclaim February 
11-17, 2024 as “Real Acts of Caring Week”. 
 
Mayor Bloomfield read the proclamation proclaiming February 11-17, 2024 as “Real Acts of 
Caring Week” in the City of Penticton. 
 

- 9 -



    
Minutes of February 6, 2024 Committee of the Whole   Page 2 of 2 
 

 
3.2 Proclamation “Chamber of Commerce Week” February 12-16, 2024 
 
Harpreet Sidhu, Vice President, and Michael Magnusson, Executive Director, Penticton & 
Wine Country Chamber of Commerce, provided Council with a presentation on Penticton’s 
Chamber of Commerce and requested that Council proclaim February 12-16, 2024 as 
“Chamber of Commerce Week”. 
 
Mayor Bloomfield read the proclamation proclaiming February 12-16, 2024 as “Chamber of 
Commerce Week”. 

 
 

3.3 Penticton Neighbourhood Association: Projects and Partnerships 
 
Nicolas Stulberg, Community President, and Ajeet Brar, Wiltse Neighbourhood Captain, 
Penticton Neighbourhood Association, provided Council with a presentation on the work of 
the Penticton Neighbourhood Association and shared their future initiatives. 

 
 

3.4 KISU Swim Club and Para Swimming Program 
 
Tina Hoeben and Naomi Antler, Coaches, KISU Swim Club provided Council with a 
presentation on the success of the swim club and new Para Swimming program. 

 
 

4. Adjourn to Regular Meeting 
 

 It was MOVED and SECONDED 
THAT Council adjourn the Committee of the Whole meeting held February 6, 2024 at 1:46 p.m. and 
reconvene the Regular Meeting of Council.  

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
 
 
Certified correct:      Confirmed: 
 
 
 
____________________________ _______________________________ 
Angie Collison  Julius Bloomfield 
Corporate Officer  Mayor 

 
 

- 10 -



 
 

Minutes 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Public Hearing  
held electronically and at City Hall, Council Chambers 

171 Main Street, Penticton, B.C.  
 

Tuesday, February 6, 2024 
at 6:00 p.m. 

   
   Present:  Mayor Bloomfield 

  Deputy Mayor Watt 
  Councillor Boultbee 
  Councillor Gilbert 
  Councillor Graham 
  Councillor Konanz 
  Councillor Miller  

 
 Staff:  Anthony Haddad, City Manager 

     Angie Collison, Corporate Officer 
     Angela Campbell, Director of Finance & Administration     
     Kristen Dixon, General Manager of Infrastructure 
     Blake Laven, Director of Development Services   
     Kelsey Johnson, Director of Community Services 
     Julie Czeck, Director of Public Safety and Partnerships 
   Paula McKinnon, Deputy Corporate Officer 
  

1. Call to order 
 

Mayor Bloomfield called the public hearing to order at 6:00 p.m. for Official Community Plan 
Amendment Bylaw No. 2024-01 and Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2024-02. 

 
The Corporate Officer read the opening statement and introduced the purpose of the bylaws. 
She then explained that the public hearing was being held in-person and electronically to 
afford all persons who considered themselves affected by the proposed bylaw an opportunity 
to be heard before Council. She further indicated that the public hearing was advertised 
pursuant to the Local Government Act. 

  
2. “Official Community Plan Amendment Bylaw No. 2024-01” (460 Conklin 

Avenue)  
 
The purpose of “Official Community Plan Amendment Bylaw No. 2024-01” is to amend 
Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 2023-08 as follows:  

 
Amend Map 1: Future Land Use by changing the future land use designation 
for Lot 13 District Lot 1 Group 7 Similkameen Division Yale (Formerly Yale-
Lytton) District Plan 3867, located at 460 Conklin Avenue, from ‘Detached 
Residential’ to ‘Ground Oriented Residential’. 

- 11 -



 
Minutes of February 6, 2024 Public Hearing  Page 2 of 5 
    
  

 
“Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2024-02” (460 Conklin Avenue)  

 
The purpose of “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2024-02” is to amend Zoning Bylaw No. 
2023-08 as follows:  

 
Rezone Lot 13 District Lot 1 Group 7 Similkameen Division Yale (Formerly Yale-
Lytton) District Plan 3867, located at 460 Conklin Avenue, from R1 (Large Lot 
Residential) to RM2 (Low Density Multiple Housing). 

 
The applicant is proposing to construct a 6-unit townhouse, consisting of two 
triplexes at 460 Conklin Avenue. 
 
 The Corporate Officer advised that two letters have been received since the 
printing of the agenda and distributed to Council. 

 
DELEGATIONS 

 
Mayor Bloomfield asked the public for the first time if anyone wished to speak to the application. 
• Tony Caulful, property next door to proposal, setback and size of building and area 

occupied by building will ruin sight lines and view of mountains. Feels the surface 
parking is inadequate for number of units, should be limited to four units. 
 

Mayor Bloomfield asked the public for the second time if anyone wished to speak to the 
application. 
• John Robertson, Conklin Avenue, few blocks from opposed development, not against 

development on that lot, folks that spoke in opposition are against the size of 
development. Concern about ease OCP can be tinkered with, OCP put together with 
great amount of effort, intelligence and resources and yet it appears it can be changed 
on a whim, appears no recognition of effort and work that went into it. Sees 76 
petitioners, 10 were missed on final page, more like 86, has original copy. Cherryland 
area supports four resident structure on that site especially if facing Conklin Avenue, 
concerned with it facing alley way because it destroys privacy of houses across the street.  
one example saw earlier was similar structure that faces out into driveway of back 
apartment building, another by PDSL group built similar and also faces out onto parking 
lot and back of industrial building, comparisons aren’t apples to apples. In support of 
four-unit front facing to Conklin Avenue, think six is too big. 

• Samantha Oxbury (via Zoom), Moosejaw Street, blocking privacy of our lot, when giving 
carriage houses permission to be built there is a part that you need to have small slanted 
windows for privacy issues, why is this development allowed to have giant windows 
facing directly into our properties? Concerned with size and height, not against 
development happening, issue with size and fact that it doesn’t fit with community 
standard. 

• Corey and Karen Sinclair (via Zoom), Argyle Street, couple blocks from site property, in 
agreement with respect to OCP changing easily and generally everything else said, OCP 
document was vetted through good public process, represents guiding process for how 
community develops, if someone comes forward to change previously agreed upon 
standards it should be incumbent on that applicant to make a case to justify why change 
is reasonable, missing from the process, just seems to have developers wanting to add 
density, doesn’t seem much attempt on part of developers to provide the justification,  
only real attempt at providing justification provided by City documentation due to 
population growth that we’re expecting, not role of City to be advocating for applicant. 

- 12 -



 
Minutes of February 6, 2024 Public Hearing  Page 3 of 5 
    
  

In line with prevailing sentiment of community, would like to see it not stick out like sore 
thumb on streets we live in, large developments will be popping up and urge council not 
to rely on fact that previous approved, not an automatic justification for adding more of 
them, will continue to grow if you’re going to justify future decisions on ones made in 
past. 

• Diane Laurentzen, 300 Block of Conklin, agrees with everything that has been said. 
• Warren Hempsted, Conklin Avenue, attended engagement opportunities, a lot of new 

young families moving into area, previously many seniors in these homes, new lane 
houses being built, wonderful small community being built, knows all neighbours and 
everyone takes care of one another. Concern that once this one goes into corner and 
theres another couple lots for sale, they’re not going to go to young families, can’t afford 
to get into them, houses, condos and townhouses being built are not affordable 
housing, most would be rentals, not helping local people or young families or seniors get 
a space in this town, for a lot of neighbours it is staring into their homes and backyards, 
infringing on everything they have, they’ve out time, money and energy into these 
homes and their futures. Developing as smaller buildings, caring for the green space 
instead of covering lots as much as you can because they’re larger lots is not helping 
anyone get ahead except building companies, not offering care for people in 
neighbourhood for 50 years. Concern is once one starts and you change zoning these 
companies will buy out next one and start knocking on doors, life is hard for people and 
money is tight, easy to push people out of area, no one will be able to afford to keep 
their homes, going to turn into boxes up and down street, scary seeing zoning change so 
much. Knows there is need for housing in town, these aren’t affordable housing for 
people looking for homes. We love our city, community is tight knit, by starting to put 
massive dwellings there, not part of community, one between Fairview and Argyle is four 
units and big shoebox, cheapest one going for $750K. Neighbourhood is established, it’s 
beautiful and has lovely history, everyone on all these streets is so concerned. Not many 
people here tonight, had to hand deliver notices only within 100 metres, most people 
not contacted about this, not including neighbourhood, from turnout here no one 
knows, most of neighbourhood has no idea this is happening, not including 
neighbourhood, easy to slip by people, if not walking or driving by little sign with cars 
often parked in front of it you would not know about it. Alley is thin and small, even if 
being rebuilt isn’t parking potential for that, bus route there but streets have lots of cars 
already and there will not be sufficient parking, each dwelling will have at least two cars, 
not feasible for most families with kids, seniors or people working to ride a bike, seems 
short-sighted, concerned about neighbourhood turning into big boxes up and down 
street, shutting down integral and very important part of community under guise of 
needing housing, not affordable. 

 
Mayor Bloomfield asked the public for the third and final time if anyone wished to speak to 
the application. 
• Tamara, three generations raised on Conklin 400 block, directly going to be very 

impacted by this, not first time speaking at housing opportunity about housing 
development in area, would like to add it is important for four units from a bylaw 
standby, inquired how many parking spots established for each unit, picture looked like 
one parking spot, if six units each home would definitely need two parking spots, a 
solution is to look at four-plex. Just because bus comes down street does not mean high 
frequency traffic area, very opposite in this community, brother needs to leave quite 
early to catch a bus and there is no bus route on Sundays, City should look to designate 
those high frequency areas so that when provincial legislation comes the City can take 
more proactive state and manage this, really challenging, grew up walking with 
grandma in the area. Height restriction mentioned at last meeting, trying to make 

- 13 -



 
Minutes of February 6, 2024 Public Hearing  Page 4 of 5 
    
  

generational housing happen for past two decades working with permits, so many 
permit issues through meetings, couldn’t make work to create multi-generational home 
to include needs of family, really frustrating if you have big money how quickly oyu can 
get things permitted, if looking at developing carriage house impossible for a small 
family. If bylaws are changing and making it easier for developers it would be  good for 
City to also look at permitting, feasibility of being able to have your family live in your 
backyard with you, should be looked at. If you have six houses in that area there is no 
green space, no yard space, would like to make sure we have strict rules as home owner, 
if want to develop carriage house there’s certain maximum that you can’t pass to meet 
family needs, was told if wanted a variance every single neighbour would need to agree 
or would not be passed by Council, how do we create fairness, when looking at this 
space valid reasons to stay to four, which way it’s facing and the windows and keeping 
variance mentioned if they want a carriage house for their family. Was told when trying 
to get permit to build the height restriction had to be two storeys, this development is 
directly in way of flight path, invites City to look at this. Site lines are huge, if six go up 
looks directly into Moosejaw, view of mountains blocked for Conklin homes. A lot of 
work was put into OCP, hopes to have proactive and designating areas as high traffic, 
just because there is a bus route does not mean high traffic. Hoping families that move 
there have green space, have proper parking, have Okanagan students already coming 
into area to park. 

• Ewen Stewart, Applicant, went through rigorous public engagement process, 
neighbourhood made it clear, doesn’t agree with everything said, understands point 
about eight units which is why reduced to six, original application was three storeys 
which was completed inline with Zoning Bylaw but seemed to be biggest single sticking 
point in public engagement, City held their engagements, we held our own at golf club, 
sent notices to 300 people in post code area, turnout of 40 odd people, comments were 
similar to City’s engagement comments, people understood variances and that the 
height was legitimate under Zoning Bylaw but really bothered them, after meetings 
went back to drawing board and took off top storey, thought it would solve a lot of 
problems, when go to three storeys you tuck parking underneath, if you put parking on 
surface you solve problem of going to six units and increase green space, eliminated all 
variances required from original application. To hear comments about two storey high 
window is too big, not sure can satisfy everyone’s desire, try to bring everything as much 
as possible to understanding of Bill 44 and what province is attempting to do. Heard 
comments about City needing to pay more attention to OCP, difference now is province 
has changed the game and wiped out single family zoning and mandating anywhere 
from three to eight units on a single lot, in our case six units, in compliance with new Bill 
44, OCP will be amended by end of June anyways, things are changing and beyond local 
control, province is stepping in and mandating a lot of what’s going on, trying to stay 
and operate within legislation, happy with the redesign to get it to a scale that works and 
satisfies the majority of issues with original proposal, in immediate neighbourhood there  
are some exceptions across the street with three storeys plus, knocking a storey off is 
major concession in neighbourhood. Speaker with development problems, it’s a 
complicated business, permitting is not an overnight wonder, interesting engagement, 
huge amount of public feedback. 

• Mayor Bloomfield, inquired about raised comments regarding parking, how many 
parking spaces are there? 

• Ewen Stewart, Applicant, responded required to have one, we have two per unit.  
 
 
 
 

- 14 -



 
Minutes of February 6, 2024 Public Hearing  Page 5 of 5 
    
  

 
The public hearing for “Official Community Plan Amendment Bylaw No. 2024-01” and 
“Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2024-02” was terminated at 6:45 p.m. and no new 
information can be received on this matter. 

 
 

Certified correct:      Confirmed: 
 
 

_____________________  ________________________ 
Angie Collison   Julius Bloomfield 
Corporate Officer  Mayor 

- 15 -



Council Report 

Date: January 16, 2024  
To: Anthony Haddad, City Manager 
From: Cheryl Hardisty, Council and Executive Operations Manager 
Subject: Elected Officials Code of Conduct    

Staff Recommendation 

1. THAT Council adopt the Regional District Okanagan Similkameen Code of Conduct included as 
Attachment B to this report dated January 16, 2024.

2. THAT Council rescind Respectful Workplace Policy dated March 17, 2014.

3. That Council direct staff to amend the Council Remuneration and Expense Bylaw No. 2019-27 to include
reduction of remuneration upon code of conduct breaches or the filing of frivolous, vexatious or claims
made in bad faith as follows: First offence reduction of 10% for twelve months, second offence reduction
of 15% for 12 months, third and subsequent offences 25% for 12 months. Reductions to remuneration
shall be cumulative.

Strategic priority objective 

Organizational Excellence: The City of Penticton will support a culture of service excellence built on good 
governance, leadership and sound financial decisions. 

Background 

In 2022, the Province added sections 113.1 and 113.2 to the Community Charter which require municipal 
councils to consider, within 6 months of their inaugural meeting (and then reconsider, if on the first 
consideration they decide not to adopt) the development of a code of conduct. These amendments establish 
prescribed principles that were intended to guide the development of codes of conduct. These principles are: 

(a) council members must carry out their duties with integrity; 

(b) council members are accountable for the decisions that they make, and the actions that 
they take, in the course of their duties; 

(c) council members must be respectful of others; 

(d) council members must demonstrate leadership and collaboration. 

- 16 -



 
Council Report  Page 2 of 5 

In April 2023, Council directed staff to proceed with a regional model for a new code of conduct with the RDOS 
based on these foundational principles.  At their meeting on April 18, 2023 Council passed the following 
resolution: 

 

In support of the direction provided by Council, staff became part of a regional working group that was formed 
to develop the regional code of conduct.   The working group was made up of member communities in the 
RDOS (Summerland, Osoyoos, Keremeos, Princeton, Oliver and Penticton) and met several times, creating a 
draft code of conduct document that began with a review of existing approved and established codes of 
conduct.  After review and feedback from the regional CAO group, a draft Code of Conduct Policy was 
provided, reviewed and then endorsed by legal counsel. The Regional District adopted this policy in 
September 2023.  

Responsible conduct, as described by the Provincial Working Group, is founded on 4 key foundational 
principles described below to provide Council with a shared understanding of what responsible conduct is. 

• INTEGRITY AND OPENNESS: Members are keepers of the public trust and must uphold the highest 
standards of ethical behaviour. Members are expected to act lawfully, be free from undue influence 
and make decisions that benefit the community. Members must conduct their duties in an open and 
transparent manner, except where this conflicts with their duties to protect confidential information. 
The following values support integrity and openness:  

o Be open and truthful in all local government dealings, while protecting confidentiality where 
necessary  

o Behave in a manner that promotes public confidence, including actively avoiding any 
perceptions of conflicts of interest, improper use of office, or unethical conduct  

o Act in the best interest of the public and community  
o Ensure actions are consistent with the shared principles, values, policies, and bylaws 

collectively agreed to by the council or board  
o Demonstrate the same ethical principles during both meetings that are open and closed to 

the public  
o Express sincerity when correcting or apologizing for any errors or mistakes made while 

carrying out official duties 
• RESPECT: Members must conduct public business efficiently, with decorum and with proper attention 

to the local government’s diversity. They must treat each other and others with respect at all times. 
The following values support integrity and openness: 

o Treat elected officials, staff, and the public with dignity, understanding and respect  
o Acknowledge how people’s beliefs, values, ideas, and contributions add diverse perspectives  
o Create an environment of trust, including displaying awareness and sensitivity around 

comments and language that may be perceived as offensive or derogatory  

- 17 -



 
Council Report  Page 3 of 5 

o Refrain from any form of discriminatory conduct against another elected official, staff, or the 
public  

o Honour the offices of local government and fulfill the obligations of Mayor/Chair and 
Councillor/Director dutifully  

o Recognize and value the distinct roles and responsibilities of local government staff  
o Call for and expect respect from the community towards elected officials and staff  
o Ensure that public statements and social media posts that concern other elected officials, staff, 

and the public are respectful 
• ACCOUNTABILITY: Members are trusted to act competently, diligently and responsibly.  They must be 

held accountable for their actions and decisions. The following values support integrity and openness: 
o Be transparent about how elected officials carry out their duties and how council conducts 

business  
o Ensure information and decision-making processes are accessible to the public while 

protecting confidentiality where necessary  
o Correct any mistakes or errors in a timely and transparent manner  
o Accept and uphold that the council/board is collectively accountable for local government 

decisions, and that individual elected officials are responsible and accountable for their 
behaviour and individual decisions  

o Listen to and consider the opinions and needs of the community in all decision-making, and 
allow for public discourse and feedback  

o Act in accordance with the law, which includes, but is not limited to, the statutes, bylaws, and 
policies that govern the local government 

• LEADERSHIP AND COLLABORATION: Members must demonstrate and promote the key principles of 
the Code of Conduct through their decisions, actions and behaviour. Their behaviour must build and 
inspire the public’s trust and confidence in the local government. The social fabric of communities and 
the wellbeing of residents depends on solid and sustainable community partnerships. Members shall 
seek to collaborate whenever possible and appropriate. The following values support integrity and 
openness: 

o Demonstrate behaviour that builds public confidence and trust in local government  
o Provide considered direction on municipal policies and support colleagues and staff to do the 

same 
o Educate colleagues and staff on the harmful impacts of discriminatory conduct, and take 

action to prevent this type of conduct from reoccurring if necessary  
o Create space for open expression by others, take responsibility for one’s own actions and 

reactions, and accept the decisions of the majority 
o Advocate for shared decision-making and actively work with other elected officials, staff, the 

public, and other stakeholders to achieve common goals  
o Foster positive working relationships between elected officials, staff, and the public  
o Commit to building mutually beneficial working relationships with neighbouring First Nations 

to further advance reconciliation efforts  
o Positively influence others to adhere to the foundational principles of responsible conduct in 

all local government dealings 

 

 

- 18 -



 
Council Report  Page 4 of 5 

Policy Components 

The policy covers expected responsible conduct of elected officials, interactions with staff, volunteers and 
other elected officials, complaint handling, and consequences of breaching the policy. It also proposes two 
appointments: the Adjudicator, who will receive and conduct a preliminary assessment of complaints, and the 
Solicitor, who will conduct formal investigations of complaints and provide recommendations to Council.  

The policy is organized into two parts, with two and five divisions respectively:  

• Part One – Ethical Conduct  
o Division One – Interpretation and Application  
o Division Two – Conduct regulations  

• Part Two – Investigation, Compliance and Enforcement  
o Division One – Implementation and Preliminary Steps  
o Division Two – Complaint Intake  
o Division Three – Resolution Procedures & Investigations  
o Division Four – Governing Body Decision  
o Division Five – Post – Decision Matters  

Part One sets out the policy statement, scope and deals with specific regulations with respect to laws, general 
conduct, personal and confidential information, conflicts of interest, interactions with staff, volunteers and 
other members, conduct at meetings, interactions with public and media, gifts and use of public resources.  

Part Two deals with preliminary steps, complaint intake, informal and formal resolution processes, remedies 
and potentially remuneration impacts.  

Remuneration 

The Policy draws from The District of Squamish which was used a starting document and is consistent with 
the Province model code. Squamish elected to impose financial penalties, via Council’s Remuneration and 
Expense Bylaw, in cases where the Solicitor finds that a member (a) breached the policy or (b) submitted a 
complaint that was frivolous, vexatious the Council Remuneration and Expense Bylaw us or made in bad faith. 
Accordingly, staff are recommending a similar approach that reflects an escalating penalty per breach, as 
follows:  

• First breach – 10% reduction to remuneration for a period of 12 months 
• Second breach – 15% reduction to remuneration for a period of 12 months 
• Third and subsequent breaches – 25% reduction to remuneration for a period of 12 months.  

Reductions to remuneration should not be considered lightly. The policy includes provisions for no reduction 
where the Solicitor finds that:  

• The member took all reasonable steps to prevent the breach 
• The breach was trivial or inadvertent, or 
• The breach was because of an error in judgement made in good faith. 

 
While the code of conduct does outline available remedies such as letter of reprimand, request for apology 
removal from committees, Council may wish to consider more stringent and escalating deterrents where 

- 19 -



 
Council Report  Page 5 of 5 

behavior has been found, by a solicitor, to be in violation and not inadvertent. The principle purpose of such 
penalties is to promote high standards of conduct. 

Financial implication 

It is difficult to gauge what the costs may be, as it would depend on the number of complaints received and 
the level of complexity and investigation required. To minimize the potential cost impacts staff have proposed 
a number of measures (e.g. limit who can make a complaint, informal resolution processes, limited cost 
reimbursement) to try and ensure such costs are minimized as much as possible. Costs associated with Code 
of Conduct complaints will be monitored and anticipated to be captured by existing legal budget. 

Given the potential complexities, costs and implications of compliance and enforcement processes, staff have 
sought to create a framework that ensures fairness through the exercise of care and discretion and strongly 
features informal resolution efforts prior to the engagement of a third party. 

Conclusion 

In reviewing best practices, staff reviewed numerous codes from across the Province, consulted legal counsel 
and considered the model code produced by the Working Group on Responsible Conduct consisting of the 
Union of British Columbia Municipalities, Local Government Management Association and Provincial 
Ministerial representation.  

The principles outlined herein were the foundation of the development of the code of conduct.  As directed 
by Council, staff are now bringing this forward for Council review and the preceding report provides a high 
level summary of the Code of Conduct document contained in Attachment B. 

The City’s current Respectful Workplace Policy was approved by Council in 2014 which applies to both Council 
and staff. The proposed policy applies only to members of Council. Staff are reviewing new Workplace 
legislation to be introduced this spring and will implement a separate policy applicable to staff to ensure 
concerns specific to groups are adequately addressed.  

Attachments 

Attachment A – Respectful Workplace Policy to be rescinded  

Attachment B – Code of Conduct  

Respectfully submitted, 

Cheryl Hardisty 
Council & Executive Operations Manager 

Concurrence  

 
Director, Finance and 
Administration 

City Manager 

 
AMC 

 

AH 

- 20 -



- 21 -



- 22 -



- 23 -



- 24 -



- 25 -



- 26 -



- 27 -



- 28 -



- 29 -



- 30 -



- 31 -



- 32 -



1 
 

Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen 

Elected Official Code of Conduct Policy 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
PART ONE – ETHICAL CONDUCT ................................................................................................................... 3 

Division 1 – Interpretation and Application .................................................................................................. 3 

Policy Statement ....................................................................................................................................... 3 

Scope ......................................................................................................................................................... 3 

Definitions ................................................................................................................................................. 4 

Interpretation ........................................................................................................................................... 4 

Foundational Principles............................................................................................................................. 4 

Division 2 – Conduct Regulations .................................................................................................................. 5 

Comply with all Laws ................................................................................................................................. 5 

General Conduct ....................................................................................................................................... 5 

Handling of Personal and Confidential Information ................................................................................. 6 

Conflict of Interest .................................................................................................................................... 6 

Interactions with Staff, Volunteers, and Other Members ........................................................................ 7 

Conduct of Meetings ................................................................................................................................. 8 

Interactions with the Public and Media .................................................................................................... 8 

Gifts ........................................................................................................................................................... 8 

Use of Public Resources ............................................................................................................................ 9 

PART TWO – INVESTIGATION, COMPLIANCE & ENFORCEMENT .................................................................. 9 

Division 1 – Implementation and Preliminary Steps ..................................................................................... 9 

Implementation ........................................................................................................................................ 9 

Preliminary Steps .................................................................................................................................... 10 

Division 2 – Complaint Intake ..................................................................................................................... 10 

Complaint Procedure .............................................................................................................................. 10 

Preliminary Assessment .......................................................................................................................... 11 

Criminal Conduct ..................................................................................................................................... 12 

Disqualification Proceedings ................................................................................................................... 12 

Division 3 – Resolution Procedures & Investigations ................................................................................. 13 

Informal Resolution ................................................................................................................................ 13 

- 33 -



2 
 

Referral to Solicitor ................................................................................................................................. 13 

Formal Resolution ................................................................................................................................... 14 

Confidentiality ......................................................................................................................................... 14 

Adjudication and Reporting .................................................................................................................... 15 

Obstruction ............................................................................................................................................. 16 

Division 4 – Governing Body Decision ......................................................................................................... 16 

Final Determination ................................................................................................................................ 16 

Remedies ................................................................................................................................................. 17 

Division 5 – Post- Decision Matters ............................................................................................................ 18 

Remuneration ......................................................................................................................................... 18 

Reimbursement of Costs ......................................................................................................................... 19 

Frivolous and Vexatious Complaints ....................................................................................................... 19 

 

 
  

- 34 -



3 
 

POLICY:  Elected Official Code of Conduct  

AUTHORITY:  Board Resolution dated September 7, 2023. 

PART ONE – ETHICAL CONDUCT 

Division 1 – Interpretation and Application 
Policy Statement 
1 (1) This Code of Conduct policy is intended to guide elected officials in conducting their 

business in accordance with the guiding principles of integrity, transparency, 
accountability, civility, openness, respect, leadership and collaboration. 
 
(2) This policy is intended not to stifle Members or to limit their ability to fully perform 
the governmental and advocacy functions that their position entails, with all the vigour, 
flair and freedom that is typical of a well-functioning democratic institution, but instead 
to guide Members to undertake those functions in a manner that accords with sound 
ethical principles. 

 
(3) This policy does not cover every possible situation that a Member, Committee  
Member, Governing Body or committee may face. It is therefore important that Members 
make every effort to align their actions with the spirit and intent of this Code of Conduct. 

 
Scope  
2 (1) This policy, after its adoption by each local government, applies to the Governing Body 

of the following jurisdictions: 
 

(a) the Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen; and 
(b) participating member municipalities. 

 
 
 

(2) This policy applies to all Members, inclusive of their actions in their capacity as 
members of various boards, committees, and other discretionary appointments.   
 
(3) The provisions of this policy apply without limitation to a Member’s use of personal 
and professional social media accounts.  

 
(4) Unless otherwise provided, this policy does not apply to a Member’s conduct in their 
personal life, except to the extent that such conduct reasonably undermines public 
confidence in local governance. 
 

- 35 -



4 
 

Definitions 
3 (1) In this policy: 

 
“Adjudicator” means an independent third party appointed by the Regional District who 
has the necessary professional skills, knowledge and experience to perform intake and 
preliminary assessment of a complaint; 

 “Campaign Period” means the period between the last day of the nomination period for 
local government elected officials and the election day; 

“FIPPA” means the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act (British 
Columbia); 

“Governing Body” means the Council or Board of Directors of a local government that has 
adopted this policy; 

“Member” means the Mayor and Councillors of a local government or the Chair and 
Board members of the Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen; 

“Solicitor” means an independent third party appointed by the Regional District who has 
the necessary professional skills, knowledge and experience to formally investigate a 
complaint;  

“Staff” means an officer or employee of a local government, but does not include 
contractors; and  

“Volunteer” means a person engaged by the local government who, without 
compensation, offers their time, skills or services to the local government. 

Interpretation  
4 (1) This policy is to be interpreted broadly and in a manner that is consistent with the 

Community Charter and Local Government Act. 
 

(2) The foundational principles in section 5 are to inform the interpretation of the 
substantive provisions of this policy and are not stand-alone bases for complaints. 
 
(3) Nothing in this policy is intended to preclude Members, prior to the filing of a 
complaint, from speaking to each other in order to resolve matters which may otherwise 
be captured by this policy. 

 
Foundational Principles  
5  Responsible conduct is essential to providing good governance. Members recognize that 

 responsible conduct is based upon the foundational principles of integrity, 
 accountability, leadership, respect, openness and collaboration: 

- 36 -



5 
 

(a) Integrity: Members are keepers of the public trust and must uphold the highest 
standards of ethical behaviour. Members are expected to act lawfully, be free 
from undue influence and make decisions that benefit the community. 

(b) Accountability: Members are trusted to act competently, diligently and 
responsibly.  They must be held accountable for their actions and decisions. 

(c) Leadership: Members must demonstrate and promote the key principles of the 
Code of Conduct through their decisions, actions and behaviour. Their behaviour 
must build and inspire the public’s trust and confidence in the local government. 

(d) Respect: Members must conduct public business efficiently, with decorum and 
with proper attention to the local government’s diversity. They must treat each 
other and others with respect at all times. 

(e) Openness: Members must conduct their duties in an open and transparent 
manner, except where this conflicts with their duties to protect confidential 
information.   

(f) Collaboration: The social fabric of communities and the wellbeing of residents 
depends on solid and sustainable community partnerships. Members shall seek 
to collaborate whenever possible and appropriate.  

Division 2 – Conduct Regulations 
Comply with all Laws  
6 Members shall comply with all applicable federal, provincial and municipal laws in the 

performance of their public duties, including but not limited to:   
 

(a) the Local Government Act;  
(b) the Community Charter; 
(c) FIPPA;  
(d) the Financial Disclosure Act; and  
(e) all bylaws and policies of the local government.  

 
General Conduct  
7 (1) Members shall not engage with others, including the public, Staff, Volunteers, and 

other Members, in a manner that is bullying, abusive, derogatory, or intimidating.  
 
(2) Members shall not use their office to attempt to gain personal or financial benefits for 
themselves, their family members, their friends, or business interests. 

 
 

- 37 -



6 
 

Handling of Personal and Confidential Information  
8 (1) Members shall collect, use and disclose personal information in accordance with FIPPA 

and the policies and guidelines as established by the local government, including: 
 

(a) the local government’s Records Management Policy; and  
 

(b) the local government’s Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Bylaw, 
if applicable. 

 
(2) Members shall keep information and records prohibited from release under section 
117 of the Community Charter in strict confidence.  
 
(3) Without limiting the generality of subsection (2), Members shall not disclose:  

 
(a) information or records concerning the property, personnel, legal affairs, or other 

information of the local government distributed for the purposes of, or 
considered in, a closed meeting;  
 

(b) resolutions or Staff report contents from a closed meeting of the Governing 
Body unless and until a Governing Body decision has been made for the 
information to become public; or 

 
(c) details on the Governing Body’s closed meeting deliberations or how individual 

Members voted on a question in a closed meeting. 
 

(4) Members shall not use confidential information to advance, directly or indirectly, 
their own personal, financial, or other private interests. 

 
Conflict of Interest 
9 (1) Members shall not participate in discussion of a matter, or vote on a question in 

respect of that matter, if the Member has a conflict of interest. 
 

(2) In respect of each matter before the Governing Body or Committee, Members shall:  
 

(a) assess whether they have a conflict of interest; and  
 

(b) determine whether it is necessary to seek independent legal advice at their own 
cost, except where the CAO approves the cost, with respect to any situation that 
may result in a conflict of interest. 

 
(3) If a Member believes that they have a conflict of interest in respect of a matter in a 
Governing Body or committee meeting, the Member shall: 

- 38 -



7 
 

(a) prior to the matter’s consideration, notify the Mayor or Chair of the meeting 
that they have a conflict of interest, stating in general terms why they consider 
that to be the case;  
 

(b) leave any meeting if the matter is discussed and not return until the discussion 
has ended or voting has been concluded;  

 
(c) refrain from discussing the matter with any other Member publicly or privately; 

and 
 

(d) refrain from attempting in any way to influence the voting on any question in 
respect of the matter. 

 
Interactions with Staff, Volunteers, and Other Members  
10 (1) Members shall: 

 
(a) direct questions and inquiries regarding departmental issues to the CAO; and 

 
(b) refrain from contacting Staff directly, unless the communication is minor and for 

the purpose of seeking administrative clarity. 
 
(2) Members shall not: 
 

(a)  interfere with, hinder or obstruct Staff, Volunteers, or other Members in the 
exercise or performance of their roles, responsibilities, powers, duties or 
functions; 

 
(b) impair the ability of officers or Staff to implement the Governing Body’s policy 

decisions; 
 

(c) request or require Staff to: 
 
i. undertake personal or private work for or on behalf of a Member; or 

ii. engage in political activities, or subject them to reprisal of any kind for 
refusing to engage in such activities; 

 
(d) induce, request encourage, aid, or permit Staff, directly or indirectly, to do 

something which, if done by the Member, would be a breach of this policy;  
 

(e) issue instructions to or otherwise communicate with any of the local 
government’s contractors, tenderers, consultants or other service providers 
unless expressly authorized to do so by the CAO or a resolution of the Governing 
Body; or 

- 39 -



8 
 

 
(f) communicate, except in a meeting, with a tenderer or proponent regarding the 

subject matter of the procurement. 
 
Conduct of Meetings  
11 (1) Members shall conduct themselves with decorum at meetings. This includes: 
 

(a) complying with all conduct provisions set out in the local government’s 
Procedure Bylaw; 
 

(b) adequately preparing for meetings; 
 

(c) using respectful language; 
 

(d) not using offensive gestures or signs;  
 

(e) listening courteously and attentively to all discussions before the Governing 
Body, and focusing on the business at hand; 

 
(f) not making comments not germane to the business of the Governing Body; 

 
(g) not interrupting other speakers, except to raise a point of order; 

 
(h) not leaving the meeting or making any disturbance while a vote is being taken 

and until a vote is declared; and  
 

(i) not otherwise interfering with the orderly conduct of a meeting. 
 
Interactions with the Public and Media  

12 (1) In an effort to promote respect and integrity for the Governing Body’s decision-
making, Members shall not misrepresent the decisions of the Governing Body or 
Committee, even if they disagree with the majority decision.  
 
(2) Members shall refrain from making any disparaging comments about other Members.   
 
(3) When presenting their individual opinions and positions, Members shall explicitly state 
that it is their own personal view and that they do not represent the Governing Body, the 
Committee, or the local government in those views. 

Gifts  
13 (1) Members shall not accept a gift or personal benefit, except in accordance with section 

105 of the Community Charter.  
 

- 40 -



9 
 

(2) Members shall disclose a gift or personal benefit, received in accordance with section 
105 of the Community Charter, as per section 106 of the Community Charter.   

Use of Public Resources  
14 (1) Members shall not use any local government property or assets, or any other public 

resources such as Staff time, equipment, technology, supplies, facilities or other property, 
for private gain, personal purposes or election-related purposes. 

 
(2) Members shall not undertake municipal election campaign related activities at the 

local government’s office or on other premises owned by the local government during 
regular working hours, unless such activities are organized by the local government.  
 

(3) A Member shall not participate in any local government events requiring them to 
perform official ceremonial duties during the Campaign Period, unless authorized by 
a resolution of the Governing Body. 

 
(4) During the Campaign Period, a Member shall not: 

 
(a) deliver local government funded campaign materials; 
 

(b) conduct open houses funded by the local government; 
 

(c) distribute mass e-mails from the Member’s local government email address, 
unless the communication arises from an emergency or the communication 
is authorized by the CAO; or 

 
(d) use devices issued by the local government for campaign-related purposes. 

  

 
PART TWO – INVESTIGATION, COMPLIANCE & ENFORCEMENT 

Division 1 – Implementation and Preliminary Steps 
Implementation 
15 (1) As an expression of the standards of conduct for Members, this policy is intended to 

be self-enforcing.  
 
(2) This policy becomes most effective when Members are thoroughly familiar with it and 
embrace its provisions. For this reason, this policy shall be provided as information to 
candidates for a Governing Body or Committee. 
 

- 41 -



10 
 

Preliminary Steps 
16 (1) If a Member believes that they have observed another Member engaging in conduct 

that would breach this policy, they must attempt to resolve the complaint directly with 
the other individual, if possible, prior to submitting a complaint under section 17. 

Division 2 – Complaint Intake 
 Complaint Procedure 
17 (1) Subject to section 16, a Member, Staff member or Volunteer may submit a complaint 

to the Corporate Officer, who will forward the complaint to the Adjudicator and copy the 
CAO.  

 
(2) A complaint must be in writing, must be submitted within 60 days of the alleged 
breach, and must include, with sufficient detail:  

 
(a) the name of the complainant;  

 
(b) the name of the respondent Member(s);  

 
(c) the conduct that the complainant alleges was in breach of the Code;  

 
(d) the date of the alleged conduct;  

 
(e) the parts of the Code the alleged conduct breached;  

 
(f) the basis for the complainant’s knowledge of the conduct; and  

 
(g) if a complaint is submitted by a Member, whether the Member attempted to 

resolve the complaint informally under section 16. 
 

(3) A complaint may be accepted notwithstanding that it does not comply with all of the 
requirements of subsection (2), if the Adjudicator determines that there has been 
substantial compliance or if the circumstances otherwise warrant acceptance. 

 
(4) A complaint submitted outside the time limits set out in subsection (2) must be 

rejected, except that the Adjudicator may grant an extension of no more than 30 
further days if the circumstances of the complaint are sufficiently serious. 

 
(5) In an election year, complaints submitted from the first day of the nomination period 

to the general voting day must be accepted and held in abeyance until after the new 
Governing Body has taken office. At that time, complaints shall only proceed if they 
relate to a Member who was re-elected in that election year. For certainty, if the 
Member who is the subject of the complaint is not re-elected, the complaint must be 
rejected.  

- 42 -



11 
 

 
Preliminary Assessment 
18 (1) On receipt of a complaint, the Adjudicator shall conduct a preliminary assessment or 

forward the complaint to the Governing Body’s Solicitor to conduct the preliminary 
assessment. If the Adjudicator determines that any of the following circumstances apply, 
they must notify the complainant and respondent Member in writing that the complaint 
will be closed, stating the reasons for the closure: 
 

(a) the complaint is not with respect to a breach of this policy; 
 

(b) the complaint is frivolous, vexatious, or not made in good faith; 
 

(c) the complaint would be more appropriately addressed through another 
process; 

 
(d) the complaint was not in compliance with section 17, and the respondent 

Member will be prejudiced by the complainant’s failure to comply; 
 

(e) the complaint concerns the same subject matter as a previous complaint that 
has already been accepted under this section, and it is not necessary to expand 
that original complaint or add the new complainant; 

 
(f) the complainant wishes to withdraw the complaint, and it would be 

appropriate to allow the complaint to be withdrawn;  
 

(g) the complaint was submitted by a Member, and the Member ought to have 
first attempted to resolve the complaint informally under section 16; or   

 
(h) there are no possible grounds on which to conclude that a violation of this 

policy has occurred. 

 
(2) In completing the preliminary assessment, the Adjudicator may request further 

information from the complainant before determining whether there are sufficient 
grounds to believe that a breach of this policy may have occurred. 
 

(3) Once a complaint is accepted under subsection (1), 
 

(a) the Adjudicator must refer the complaint to the Solicitor, if not already 
referred under subsection (1), for a determination under subsection (b); and  

 
(b) the Solicitor must then determine whether the complaint requires a formal 

investigation or whether the complaint may be resolved informally. 

- 43 -



12 
 

 
(4) If the Solicitor receives multiple complaints concerning the same matter, the Solicitor 

must proceed with the first complaint accepted, but may expand the complaint 
and/or add complainants for the purpose of seeking resolution of the complaint. 

 
Criminal Conduct 
19 (1) If, at any stage in the complaint procedure, the Adjudicator or Solicitor determines 

that there are reasonable grounds to believe that there has been a contravention of the 
Criminal Code, or learns that there is an ongoing police investigation into the conduct that 
gave rise to the complaint, then they must immediately refer the matter to the 
appropriate authorities and suspend any investigation into the complaint until any 
resulting police investigation and charge have been finally disposed of, and shall report 
the suspension to the Governing Body, the complainant, and the respondent Member. 
 
(2) For certainty, a complaint must be suspended while the respondent is on a mandatory 

leave of absence under section 109.3(1) of the Community Charter, and may be re-
commenced only once the mandatory leave of absence ends pursuant to section 
109.3(1)(b) of the Community Charter.  

 
Disqualification Proceedings  
20 (1) If, at any stage in the complaint procedure, the Adjudicator or Solicitor determines 

that:  
 

(a) the subject-matter of the complaint is being addressed in a disqualification 
proceeding commenced under section 111 of the Community Charter; or  

 
(b) the complainant could commence a disqualification proceeding under section 

111 of the Community Charter in relation to the matter that is the subject of the 
complaint 

 
the complaint must immediately be suspended until the proceeding under subsection 
(a) has concluded or the time-period within which the complainant could commence a 
proceeding under subsection (b) has expired.  

 
(2) The Adjudicator or Solicitor that has suspended a complaint under subsection (1) may, if 

 
(a) the Member who is subject to the complaint has not been disqualified from 

office by the British Columbia Supreme Court; and  
 

(b) it would be in the public interest to do so,  
 
re-commence the complaint upon the conclusion of a disqualification proceeding or the 
time-period within which a disqualification proceeding could be filed has expired.  

- 44 -



13 
 

 

Division 3 – Resolution Procedures & Investigations 
Informal Resolution  
21 (1) Where the Solicitor has determined that the complaint may be resolved informally, 

the Solicitor may, at their discretion, either attempt to resolve the complaint directly, or 
refer the complaint to: 
 

(a) the Mayor or Chair, if the complaint is made by a Member, unless the complaint 
is against the Mayor or Chair in which case the complaint will be referred to the 
Acting Mayor or Acting Chair; or  
 

(b) the CAO, if the complaint is made by a Staff member. 
 

(2) When determining whether the complaint may be resolved informally, the Solicitor may 
consider culturally appropriate or transformative or restorative justice approaches, and 
may engage a third-party mediator or facilitator to assist for this purpose.  
 

(3) Where the Solicitor has referred the complaint in subsection (1), the Mayor, Chair or CAO, 
as the case may be, may agree to assist in resolving the complaint directly, or may appoint 
a third party to assist in resolving the complaint at their discretion. 
 

(4) The person assisting in the informal resolution of a complaint shall assess the suitability 
for settlement or resolution on an ongoing basis and may decline to assist at any point. 
 

(5) The complainant or respondent Member may decline to participate in an informal 
resolution at any time.   
 

(6) If the complaint is resolved informally by someone other than the Solicitor, the person 
assisting in resolving the complaint must notify the Solicitor in writing of the terms of the 
resolution, upon receipt of which, the Solicitor must close the complaint. 
 

(7) If the person assisting in the informal resolution of a complaint declines to assist, the 
complainant or respondent Member declines to participate, or 30 days has passed since 
the determination in section 18(3) was made by the Solicitor to resolve the complaint 
informally, then the complaint shall be referred in accordance with section 22. 

 
Referral to Solicitor 
22 (1) If the Adjudicator determines that the complaint requires a formal investigation under 

section 18(3), or in the event that informal resolution is unsuccessful, they shall refer the 
complaint to the Solicitor to conduct an investigation and notify the complainant and 
respondent Member of the referral. 

 

- 45 -



14 
 

(2) The Solicitor shall, at all times during an investigation, have all of the same powers to 
dismiss a complaint on a preliminary basis as set out in section 18. 

 
(3) A Solicitor, once retained, may only be dismissed for cause.  

 
Formal Resolution  
23 (1) Once retained, the Solicitor shall deliver the complaint to the respondent Member,  

 along with a request that the respondent provide a written response to the complaint, 
 together with any submissions that the respondent chooses to make, within 10 days, 
 subject to the Solicitor’s discretion to reasonably extend the timeline. 

 
(2) The Solicitor may, at their discretion, deliver the respondent Member’s written response 

and submissions to the complainant and request a reply in writing within 10 days, subject 
to the Solicitor’s discretion to reasonably extend the timeline. 

 
(3) The Solicitor may:  

 
(a) speak to anyone relevant to the complaint;  

 
(b) request disclosure of documents relevant to the complaint, including closed 

meeting minutes; and  
 

(c) access any record in the custody or control of the local government, within the 
meaning of FIPPA, with the exception of records subject to solicitor-client 
privilege. 

 
(4) The Solicitor has discretion to conduct the investigation as they see fit, but must ensure 

that the investigation complies with the rules of procedural fairness and natural justice 
required in the circumstances of the complaint.  

 
Confidentiality  
24 (1) The Adjudicator and Solicitor must make all reasonable efforts to process and 

investigate complaints in a confidential manner. 
 

(2) The Solicitor and every person acting under the Solicitor’s instructions must preserve 
confidentiality with respect to all matters that come into the Solicitor’s knowledge in the 
course of any investigation or complaint, except as otherwise required by law.  
 
(3) Members must make all reasonable efforts to keep complaints under this policy, at 
any stage, confidential, except as otherwise provided in this policy.   

- 46 -



15 
 

 
Adjudication and Reporting  
25 (1) The Solicitor must conclude the investigation and make a determination regarding the 

alleged breach within 90 days of referral under section 22, unless the Solicitor determines 
that doing so is not practicable, in which case the Solicitor must notify the complainant 
and respondent Member of the delay and provide a revised decision date. The revised 
decision date may be extended by periods of up to 30 days at a time on provision of 
written notice to the complainant and respondent Member.  

 
(2) If, after reviewing all the material information, the Solicitor determines that the 

Member did not violate this Policy, then the Solicitor shall: 
 

(a) prepare a written investigation report providing reasons for their 
determination, which shall include a determination of whether the complaint 
was submitted frivolously, vexatiously, or in bad faith;  

 
(b) deliver a summary of the investigation report to the complainant; and 

(c) deliver a copy of the investigation report to the respondent Member and to the 
Governing Body. 

 
(3) If, after reviewing all the material information, the Solicitor determines that the 

Member did violate this Policy, then the Solicitor shall:  
 

(a) prepare a written investigation report providing reasons for their 
determination, which must include: 

 
i. a summary of the factual findings of the Solicitor;  

 
ii. an application of this policy, and any other applicable law, to the facts;  

 
iii. a recommendation of the appropriate sanction, subject to subsection 

(iv); and 
 

iv. if applicable, a determination of whether the respondent Member 
took all reasonable steps to avoid the breach or whether the breach 
was trivial, inadvertent, or due to an error in judgment made in good 
faith, in which case the Solicitor may recommend that no sanction be 
imposed;  

 
(b) notify the complainant that the investigation is complete and inform them that 

the investigation report, or a summary thereof, will be subsequently released 
by the Governing Body in accordance with section 27(4); 

- 47 -



16 
 

(c) deliver a copy of the investigation report to the respondent Member; and 
 

(d) 48 hours after the delivery of the investigation report to the respondent 
Member, deliver a copy of the investigation report to the Governing Body.  

 
(4) The Solicitor may choose to distribute the investigation report to the Governing Body 

under this section through the Corporate Officer. 

Obstruction 
26 (1) No Member, Staff member or Volunteer shall interfere with or otherwise obstruct the 

Adjudicator or Solicitor in relation to the administration of this policy or the investigation 
of a complaint. Without limitation, the following shall constitute obstruction:  

 
(a) uttering of threats or reprisal against any person involved in the complaint;  

 
(b) destruction of relevant records or documents; and 

 
(c) refusal to cooperate with the Solicitor. 

 
(2) A person who is found to have obstructed the Adjudicator or Solicitor will be subject 

to appropriate disciplinary action, which may include, but is not limited to: 
 

(a) sanctions and remedies described in section 28;  
 

(b) termination of employment for just cause; or 
 

(c) prohibition against filing a complaint under this policy for a specified and 
reasonable period of time.  

 
Division 4 – Governing Body Decision 

Final Determination  
27 (1) The Governing Body must, within 30 days of the Solicitor’s delivery of the investigation 

report, or a longer period if approved by a 2/3 vote of the Governing Body, decide on the 
appropriate measures, if any, that are warranted by a breach of this policy. 
 

(2) Prior to making any decision regarding the findings and recommendations set out in the 
investigation report, the respondent Member must be provided with an opportunity, in 
person and in writing, to comment to the Governing Body on the Solicitor’s 
determinations and recommendations.  

 
(3) While an investigation report may be considered in a closed meeting, if the 

circumstances warrant and there is a valid reason to close the meeting under section 

- 48 -



17 
 

90 of the Community Charter, when the Governing Body deliberates and votes on the 
Solicitor’s recommendation, it will generally do so in an open meeting.  

 
(4) Within 30 days of receiving the investigation report under section 25, the Governing 

Body must, subject to the local government’s obligations under FIPPA, release to the 
public the investigation report, or a summary thereof, along with a summary of the 
Governing Body’s decision if applicable. 

 
Remedies  
28 (1) Remedies that may be imposed by the Governing Body for a violation of this policy 

include the following:  
 

(a) a letter of reprimand from the Governing Body, addressed to the respondent 
Member;  

 
(b) a request from the Governing Body that the respondent Member issue a 

letter of apology; 
 

(c) the publication of the letters contemplated in subsections (a) and (b), along 
with the respondent Member’s response, if any;  

 
(d) directions to the CAO regarding the method of providing documents that 

contain confidential information to the respondent Member;  
 

(e) a recommendation that the respondent Member: 
 

i. attend specific training or counselling;  
ii. complete a specified number of volunteer hours; or 

iii. make a charitable donation of a specified or unspecified amount to a 
particular charity; 

(f) limitations on access to certain local government facilities;  
 

(g) prohibition from representing the local government at events and/or 
attending conferences; 

  
(h) suspension or removal of the respondent Member from the Acting Mayor or 

Acting Chair rotation;  
 

(i) public censure of the respondent Member;  
 

(j) removal of the Member’s appointment to the committee; or 
 

- 49 -



18 
 

(k) any other sanction recommended by the Solicitor, so long as that sanction is 
within the authority of the Governing Body.   

 
(2) The Governing Body must consider the following factors when determining whether 
to impose a sanction on a Member:  

 
(a) the degree and nature of the conduct;  

 
(b) whether the contravention was a single or repeated act;  

 
(c) whether the Member knowingly contravened this policy;  

 
(d) whether the Member took steps to mitigate or remedy the contravention;  

 
(e) the Member’s history of other contraventions; and  

 
(f) if applicable, the Solicitor’s finding that the respondent Member took all 

reasonable steps to avoid the breach, or that the breach was trivial or done 
inadvertently or because of an error in judgment.  

 

Division 5 – Post- Decision Matters 
Remuneration 
29 (1) Where the Solicitor finds that a Member: 
 

(a) breached this policy; or  
 

(b) submitted a complaint that was frivolous, vexatious, or made in bad faith,  
 

the remuneration to which that Member would otherwise have been entitled shall be 
reduced in accordance with the local government’s remuneration bylaw or policy, as 
amended from time to time.  

 
(2) Notwithstanding subsection (1), the remuneration of a Member shall not be reduced 

if the Solicitor makes a finding that:  
 

(a) the Member took all reasonable steps to prevent the breach;  
 

(b) the breach was trivial or inadvertent; or 
  

(c) the breach was because of an error in judgment made in good faith.  
 

- 50 -



19 
 

Reimbursement of Costs 
30 (1) A Member may make a request to the Governing Body for reimbursement of the costs 

of legal advice and representation in responding to the formal complaint process outlined 
in this policy. If appropriate, after considering all of the circumstances, the Governing 
Body may resolve to reimburse legal fees reasonably incurred by a Member, provided 
that all of the following are met:  

 
(a) the Member has not previously been found to have breached this policy; and  

 
(b) the amount claimed does not exceed $10,000. 

 
Frivolous and Vexatious Complaints 
31 (1) Any individual covered by this policy who makes a complaint that is subsequently 

found to have been made in a deliberately frivolous, vexatious or malicious manner, or 
otherwise made in bad faith, will be subject to appropriate disciplinary action, which may 
include, but is not limited to: 

 
(a) in the case of Members, sanctions and remedies as described in this policy;  

 
(b) in the case of Staff, disciplinary action or termination of employment for just 

cause, as applicable; and 
 

(c) in the case of any complainant, prohibition from filing complaints under this 
policy for a specified period of time. 

 

- 51 -



 

 
Council Report 

 

   

 

 

Date: February 20, 2024 
To: Anthony Haddad, City Manager 
From: Cheryl Hardisty, Council and Executive Operations Manager  
Subject: 2024 SILGA Resolutions    

 

Staff Recommendation 

THAT Council submit the following resolution regarding the urgent need for complex care opportunities in 
the South Okanagan for consideration at the 2024 Southern Interior Local Government Association (SILGA) 
Convention;   

AND THAT the motion be referred to the Regional District of Okanagan Similkameen for support. 

WHEREAS:  Communities across the Province have conducted Community Safety Reviews and are 
implementing many recommendations in support of resident's safety. 

 
WHEREAS:  Cities have carried out countless initiatives that support vulnerable individuals and the 

community at large including; added Community Safety Officers, a Safe Places Bylaw, a 
Bylaw Enforcement programs that focus on helping marginalized people in the city, 
working collaboratively with service providers to ensure there is sufficient harm reduction 
sites and toxic drug testing, working with community partners to provide emergency cold 
weather shelters. 

 
WHEREAS:  The Province has developed a complex care framework that acknowledges the growing 

number of people in our communities who require additional health, mental health, 
social, and other services to help them find and maintain housing. Complex care housing 
has been created for people at risk of or experiencing homelessness who have complex 
mental health or substance use issues, and who may also be living with other challenges 
like acquired brain injury, developmental disability, and histories of trauma. 

 
WHEREAS:  The Province has appointed health authorities as the lead in implementation and no such 

plans have been developed in the South Okanagan since the framework was completed 
in 2022. Our residents are suffering in the interim.  

 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED:  The Province provides immediate and clear instruction to the health 

authorities to prioritize the implementation of complex care facilities, and other housing 
facilities for those exiting a complex care facility, in the South Okanagan and across the 
entire Province in support of residents who are suffering. 

 

- 52 -



 
Council Report  Page 2 of 2 

Background 

The Southern Interior Local Government Association (SILGA) considers resolutions from member local 
governments at its annual convention. Resolutions passed at the SILGA convention are submitted to the 
Union of BC Municipalities (UBCM) for consideration for its annual convention, and resolutions passed through 
UBCM are directed to the Province for response and form UBCM’s policy decision-making.  

Council Priorities include two areas of focus:  

• Safe & Resilient  
o Advocate for non-enforcement response to social disorder issues specifically related to 

individuals experiencing homelessness, untreated mental health and addiction issues. 
• Livable & Accessible 

o Growth includes ensuring support and services for Penticton’s vulnerable population, including 
youth, seniors and unhoused residents.  

Cities have carried out many initiatives that support vulnerable individuals and the community at large 
including; adding Community Safety Officers, a Safe Places Bylaw, working collaboratively with service 
providers to ensure there are harm reduction sites and toxic drug testing in the city and working with health 
partners in providing emergency cold weather shelters. The actions have resulted in a reduction of crimes of 
opportunity in the city in 2023, and there has been a significant reduction in overdose death rates in Penticton 
in 2023. 

The Province has established their Complex Housing Framework which identifies health authorities as the 
sole lead in establishing complex care facilities. While initial locations were established in Kelowna and 
Kamloops with 20 beds respectively, no further action has been taken to support vulnerable individuals in 
the South Okanagan.  

While progress is being made, the urgent need for safe, stable and compassionate environments for people 
needing specialized care remains.  The city is looking to the Province to urgently support efforts in the further 
reductions in crime, overdose deaths, homelessness and other mental health issues.  

Communities that continue to struggle to support community safety and vulnerable individuals without 
adequate support require urgent action. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Cheryl Hardisty 
Council and Executive Operations  

Concurrence  

City Manager 

AH 
 

 

- 53 -



 

   

 
 
 
 

- 54 -



 

4.3 Bishops Snow and Marine Report 

- 55 -



- 56 -



KD AH 

AMC  KJ  

- 57 -



- 58 -



- 59 -



- 60 -

https://www.penticton.ca/sites/default/files/docs/city-hall/council-policies/Park%20Land%20Protection%20and%20Use%20Policy.pdf
https://www.penticton.ca/sites/default/files/docs/city-hall/council-policies/Park%20Land%20Protection%20and%20Use%20Policy.pdf


- 61 -



- 62 -



- 63 -



- 64 -



- 65 -



- 66 -



- 67 -



- 68 -



- 69 -



- 70 -



- 71 -



- 72 -



- 73 -



- 74 -

file:///C:/Users/mckinnp/AppData/Roaming/Microsoft/LTU%202024/2024-2028%20LTU%20Final%20Draft.pdf


 

License to Use – Bishops Snow and Marine Ltd. Page 1 of 13  

 
LICENSE TO USE AGREEMENT 

 
Nature of Agreement: License to Use File No.: 4320.80 

Particulars: Use of a portion of land, foreshore and existing building 
located at 185 Lakeshore Drive West, known as Rotary Park, 
for the operation of offering water leisure activities on 
Okanagan Lake.   

 
THIS AGREEMENT dated for reference the ______ day of ______________,2024. 
 
BETWEEN: 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF PENTICTON 
a duly incorporated City Municipality under the laws of 
the Province of British Columbia, located at  
171 Main Street, Penticton, BC V2A 5A9 
 
(the “City”) 

OF THE FIRST PART 
AND:    

BISHOPS SNOW AND MARINE LTD. 
d.b.a Pier Water Sports 
450 Tennis Street 
Penticton, BC V2A 5R3 
 
(the “Licensee”) 

OF THE SECOND PART 
 

WHEREAS the City has agreed to grant a license to the Licensee to enter onto that parcel 
of land described in Schedule A attached hereto (hereinafter referred to as the “Licensed 
Area”). 
 
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the fee to be paid by, and the covenants of the 
Licensee, the parties agree as follows: 
 
1. Grant of License 
 
The City, on the terms set forth herein grants a license to the Licensee to enter onto the 
Licensed Area for the purposes described in the Management Plan attached hereto as 
Schedule B (herein called the “Management Plan”) on an “as is” basis and the City 

- 75 -



License to Use – Bishops Snow and Marine Ltd.  Page 2 of 13 
 

makes no representations or warranties as to the suitability of the Licensed Area for the 
intended use. 

 
2. Duration 
 
2.1 This Agreement and the rights granted shall be for a term of_____ (_) years 

commencing on the 1st day of January, 2024 (the “Commencement Date”) 
through to the 31st day of December 202(_), unless cancelled in accordance with 
the terms of this agreement.  
  
 

2.2 In a year prior to the expiry of this agreement the City reserves the right to offer 
tenure over the Licensed Area through an open and competitive process.  The 
Licensee may participate in the competitive process. 
 

3. License Fee 
 
3.1 The Licensee shall pay to the City, an annual License Fee of ELEVEN 

THOUSAND ($11,000.00) dollars plus GST (the “License Fee”). 
  
3.2 On each and every anniversary of the Commencement Date thereafter during the 

term of this agreement, the License Fee shall be adjusted by an amount equivalent 
to the change in the Consumer Price Index for Province of British Columbia for the 
preceding year.  The License Fee may be paid in two installments.  The first 
installment will be due on June 1st and the second installment will be due on July 
1st. 

 
4. Utilities 

 
The Licensee will be responsible for the cost of electricity for the duration of each 
annual operating season from May 1 to September 30 and ensure the transfer of 
the utility account into their name for the term of the contract. 
 
 

5. Covenants of the Licensee 
 

The Licensee covenants and agrees with the City: 
 

a) to pay the License Fee due at the address of the City first written or at such 
other place as the City may specify from time to time; 

 
b) to pay and discharge when due all applicable taxes, levies, charges and 

assessments now or hereafter assessed, levied or charged which relate to 
the land or any improvements thereon (herein called “Property Taxes”); 

 
c) to observe, abide by and comply with all applicable laws, bylaws, orders, 

directions, ordinances and regulations of any competent governmental 
authority in any way affecting the Licensed Area and improvements situate 
thereon, or their use and occupation; 

 

- 76 -



License to Use – Bishops Snow and Marine Ltd.  Page 3 of 13 
 

d) not to commit or suffer any willful or voluntary waste, spoil or destruction on 
the Licensed Area or do or suffer to be done thereon anything that may be 
or become a nuisance or annoyance to owners or occupiers of the property 
or the adjoining land; 

 
e) to indemnify, save harmless, release and forever discharge the City, their 

elected and appointed officials and employees from and against all manners 
of actions, causes of actions, claims, debts, suits, damages demands and 
promises, at law or in equity, whether known or unknown, including without 
limitation for injury to persons or property including death, or any person 
directly or indirectly arising or resulting from, or attributable to, any act, 
omission, negligence or default of the Licensee in connection with or in a 
consequence of this agreement, save and except to the extent caused by 
any act, omission, negligence or default of the City, its elected and 
appointed officials and employees; 

 
f) to keep the Licensed Area in a safe, clean, tidy and sanitary condition 

satisfactory to the City and to make clean, tidy and sanitary any portion of 
the Licensed Area or any improvement that the City may direct by notice in 
writing to the Licensee; 

 
g) to use and occupy the Licensed Area in accordance with the provisions of 

this agreement including those provisions and requirements set forth in the 
Management Plan; 

 
h) to use and occupy the Licensed Area in a safe and environmentally 

responsible manner and without limiting the foregoing, in accordance with 
sound environmental and commercial standards and practices; 

 
i) to permit the City, or its authorized representative, to enter upon the 

Licensed Area at any time, with 72 hours of notice to the Licensee, to test, 
inspect or perform such other work as the City may deem necessary or 
desirable;  

 
j) that on the expiration or at the earlier cancellation of this agreement unless 

renewed: 
 

i. to peaceably quit and deliver possession of the Licensed Area to the 
City; 
 

ii. to remove all fixtures, structures, machinery, apparatus and all other 
things placed on the Licensed Area by the Licensee, leaving the 
Licensed Area in a clean and clear condition within ONE HUNDRED 
AND EIGHTY (180) days of the termination of this agreement and 
leave the Licensed Area in good repair, restoring the Licensed Area 
to a condition similar to that at the Commencement Date.  One 
hundred and eighty (180) days after the expiration or cancellation of 
this license, any improvements or fixtures that remain on the 
Licensed Area shall be absolutely forfeited and become the property 
of the City and the City, at their sole discretion, may remove any or 

- 77 -



License to Use – Bishops Snow and Marine Ltd.  Page 4 of 13 
 

all of the improvements or fixtures that were requested to be 
removed, but left by the Licensee, from the Licensed Area and the 
Licensee shall, on demand, compensate the City for all costs 
incurred by the City respecting their removal and disposal; 

 
k) and to the extent necessary, this covenant shall survive the expiration or 

cancellation of this agreement; 
 

l) to effect and keep in force during the term, insurance protecting the City 
and the Licensee (without any rights of cross-claim or subrogation against 
the City) against claims for personal injury, death, property damage or third 
party or public liability claims arising from any accident or occurrence on the 
property to an amount not less than TEN MILLION ($10,000,000.00) 
DOLLARS, and to name the City as an additional insured on the policy with 
the inclusion of the following clauses: 

 
“Cross Liability” clause: 
“The insurance afforded by the insurance policy shall apply in 
the same manner to all insureds, as though separate policies 
were issued to each insured in the event an action is brought 
against any of the additional insured by or on behalf of any 
other additional insured.” 

 
“Cancellation” clause:  
“It is understood and agreed that the coverage provided by 
this policy will not be changed or amended in any way or 
cancelled (prior to thirty (30) days after written notice of such 
change or cancellation shall have been given or sent by 
registered mail to all additional insured).” 

 
and to deliver to the City written confirmation of the required insurance 
coverage upon execution of this agreement; 
 

m) the Licensee will provide the City with a new Certificate of Liability Insurance 
annually upon renewal; 

 
n) notwithstanding subsection k) of paragraph 4, the City may from time to time 

notify the Licensee that the amount of insurance posted by the Licensee 
pursuant to that subsection be changed and the Licensee shall, within sixty 
(60) days of receiving such notice, cause the amount of insurance posted, 
pursuant to subsection l) of paragraph 4 to be changed to the amount 
specified in the notice and deliver to the City written confirmation of the 
change; 

 
o) not to place any improvements on the Licensed Area other than those 

described elsewhere in this agreement, without prior written consent of the 
City; 

 
p) not cause or permit any unusual or objectionable noises, or lights, to 

emanate from the Licensed Area; 

- 78 -



License to Use – Bishops Snow and Marine Ltd.  Page 5 of 13 
 

 
q) not cause or permit any unusual or objectionable odours which may be 

noxious or offensive or which could constitute a public or private nuisance; 
 
r) not cause or permit any waste or damage; 
 
s) not to conduct merchandising, display or advertising on the property without 

obtaining prior written permission from the City, which can be unreasonably 
withheld; and; 

 
t) to observe and comply with any rules or regulations the City may make from 

time to time pertaining to the operation, reputation, safety, care or 
cleanliness of the Licensed Area and any use thereof as provided herein. 

 
6. Environmental Covenants of the Licensee 
 

The Licensee covenants and agrees with the City: 
 

 
a) in this section: 

Governmental Requirement(s) means all requirements made or 
imposed pursuant to law by federal, provincial, municipal or other 
governments including requirements of the Environmental Laws and 
those governmental authorities entitled to enforce, impose, order, or 
requirement such Governmental Requirements, “Governmental 
Authorities”; 
Hazardous Substances means any substances that are defined as 
or regulated as being waste, contaminants, pollutants, fungicides, 
insecticides, herbicides, dangerous substances, industrial waste, 
special waste, toxic substances, hazardous waste, hazardous 
material, or hazardous substance whether or not defined as such or 
pursuant to any law, regulation or order; 
Environmental Laws means all applicable federal, provincial, 
municipal, or local laws, statutes, or ordinances, as they may be 
amended from time to time after the Commencement Date of the 
license relating to the environment, occupational safety and the 
transportation or regulations of Hazardous Substances. 

 
b) that in the performance of its obligations under this Agreement the Licensee 

shall comply with all Environmental Laws and Governmental Authorities and 
shall ensure that appropriate measures are taken to protect the environment 
of and around the foreshore and the Licensed Area from pollution, noise, 
and other environmental impacts arising from its operations and other 
activities in accordance with any Governmental Requirements and any 
orders or permits from Governmental Authorities;  
 

- 79 -



License to Use – Bishops Snow and Marine Ltd.  Page 6 of 13 
 

c) during the Term the Licensee will not carry on or permit or suffer to be carried 
on in or from the foreshore and Licensed Area or elsewhere surrounding the 
same anything which is noxious or offensive or which would constitute a 
public or private nuisance; 

d) the Licensee will not cause any waste or damage to the foreshore and 
Licensed Area; 

e) the Licensee shall, as soon as reasonably practicable, immediately notify the 
City and subsequently notify in writing of: 
(i) any enforcement, clean up, removal, litigation, or other governmental, 

regulatory, judicial, or administrative action instituted, contemplated, or 
threatened in respect of the Licensed Area pursuant to any 
Environmental Laws or Governmental Authority, of which the Licensee 
is or becomes aware; 

(ii) all claims, actions, orders, or investigations instituted, contemplated, or 
threatened by any third party relating to damage, contribution, cost 
recovery, compensation, loss, or injuries resulting from any Hazardous 
Substances on or released from, or any breach of the Environmental 
Laws on or in respect of, the foreshore and Licensed Area or in 
connection with the Permitted Purposes or business activities of which 
the Licensee is or becomes aware; and, 

(iii) the release of any Hazardous Substance on or from the foreshore and 
licensed area or in connection with the Permitted Purposes or business 
activities or its discovery of any Hazardous Substances, or any 
occurrence or condition, on the foreshore and Licensed Area or in 
connection with the Permitted Purposes or business activities that could 
subject the City or the Licensee to any fines, penalties, orders, or 
proceedings under any Environmental Laws; 

f) if any Governmental Authority having jurisdiction orders or requires the 
removal or clean-up of any Hazardous Substances brought onto, used at, or 
released on the foreshore or Licensed Area or in connection with the 
Permitted Purposes or any adjacent property during the Term, including 
without limitation the soils or groundwater of the foreshore or any adjacent 
property, by or due to the act or omission of the  Licensee, or any person for 
whom it is responsible, the Licensee  shall, at its own expense, comply with 
all applicable requirements or orders of such Governmental Authority 
prepare all necessary studies, plans and proposals, provide all bonds and 
other security required by such Governmental Authority having jurisdiction, 
and carry out the work ordered or required by such Governmental Authority 
having jurisdiction in compliance with all relevant laws and shall keep the 
City informed of such work, compliance or status. All such Hazardous 
Substances shall remain the property of the Licensee notwithstanding any 
rule of law or other provision of this License to Use agreement to the contrary 
and notwithstanding the degree of their affixation to the foreshore and 
Licensed Area or in connection with the Permitted Purposes; 

g) the Licensee will promptly deliver to the City a copy of any notice, request, 
order, demand, or claim any nature, and any documentation ancillary 
thereto, pertaining to any actual or alleged failure by the Licensee or others 

- 80 -



License to Use – Bishops Snow and Marine Ltd.  Page 7 of 13 
 

with regard to the Licensed Area to comply with any common law obligation 
or any applicable requirement of any Governmental Authority, or any judicial 
and or administrative authorities which relate, directly or indirectly to the 
Licensed Area, and including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, 
any actual or alleged presence or discharge of any Hazardous 
Substance(s)or contamination on, under or affecting the Licensed Area; 

h)  If, the Licensee fails to take any action required to be taken pursuant to any 
consequence of any release of a Hazardous Substance the City may (but 
not be obligated to) take such action after giving thirty (30) days written 
notice to the Licensee of its intention to do so, unless within such thirty (30) 
day period that Licensee has taken the required action or has commenced 
in and is continuing diligently to carry out such action, and the City shall for 
that purpose, be permitted to enter the Licensed Area with the appropriate 
equipment.  The Licensee covenants to reimburse the City for all reasonable 
costs incurred by the City in taking such required action pursuant to the 
release of any Hazardous Substance within thirty (30) days after receiving 
from the City an invoice and reasonable supporting details relating to such 
costs;  

i) the Licensee shall immediately report all safety and environmental incidents 
to the City and shall maintain a record of claims and complaints received 
from users of the business. The Licensee shall make available such register 
to the City on reasonable request; 

j) the Licensee, at its costs, will obtain and keep in force throughout the Term  
environmental impact and impairment liability insurance, (which shall name 
the City as an additional insured), providing coverage for injury to or physical 
damage to tangible property including loss of use of tangible property, or the 
prevention, control, repair, cleanup, monitoring, restoration, remediation or, 
rehabilitation of environmental impairment of lands, the atmosphere or any 
water course or body of water as a result of a sudden and accidental basis 
and as a result of a gradual release. The policy shall include bodily injury, 
including sickness, disease, shock, mental anguish, and mental injury and 
death, remediation and all other losses arising out of or in connection with 
the business activities, use and occupation of the foreshore and licensed 
area in an amount of not less than $5,000,000 per occurrence; 
 

7. Non-Exclusivity 
 

7.1 The Licensee acknowledges and agrees that this agreement herein shall not entitle 
the Licensee to exclusive possession of the Licensed Area. 

 
7.2 The Licensee covenants and agrees not to interfere with the activities of any other 

person to enter on and use the Licensed Area under any prior or subsequent 
license granted by the City. 

 
7.3 The parties hereto acknowledge that the license granted to the Licensee herein is 

a license only and shall not, under any circumstances, constitute a partnership, 
lease or joint venture between the parties. 

 

- 81 -



License to Use – Bishops Snow and Marine Ltd.  Page 8 of 13 
 

8. Assignment 
 
The License is not assignable. 

 
9. Cancellation 

 
9.1 In the event that: 
 

a) the City requires the Licensed Area for its own use or in its sole discretion, 
considers that it is in the public interest to cancel the rights herein granted, 
in whole or in part; 

 
b) the Licensee ceases to use the Licensed Area for the purposes permitted 

herein; 
 

c) the City, in its sole discretion, considers that it is no longer necessary for the 
Licensee to use the Licensed Area for the purposes permitted herein; 

 
the City may on ONE HUNDRED AND EIGHTY (180) days written notice to the 
Licensee, cancel this license and the rights herein granted, in whole or in part and 
the Licensee agrees that the City shall not be responsible for payment of any costs, 
compensation, reimbursement or any monies whatsoever as a result of a notice 
pursuant to paragraph 7.1 b).  The City will not exercise this ONE HUNDRED AND 
EIGHTY (180) DAY clause during the working season.  

 
9.2 If the Licensee is in default in the observance of any covenant, agreements, 

provisions or conditions contained herein and such failure continues for a period 
of thirty (30) days after the giving of written notice by the City to the Licensee of 
the nature of the failure the City may cancel this license without prejudice to any 
rights to which the City has accrued under this license before the said cancellation. 

 
9.3 Thirty (30) days after expiration or cancellation of this license, any improvements 

or fixtures that remain unremoved from the Licensed Area shall be absolutely 
forfeited and become the property of the City and the City may remove them from 
the Licensed Area and the Licensee shall, on demand, compensate the City for all 
costs incurred by the City respecting their removal. 

 
10. General  
 
10.1 The terms and provisions of this agreement shall extend to, be binding upon and 

enure to the benefit of the parties, hereto and their successors and permitted 
assigns. 

 
10.2 This agreement and all the terms and conditions of it may be inspected by the 

public at such times and at such places as the City may determine. 
 

10.3 Time is of the essence in this agreement. 
 
10.4 The records of the City shall be conclusive evidence of the contents of any 

schedule referred to in this agreement. 

- 82 -



License to Use – Bishops Snow and Marine Ltd.  Page 9 of 13 
 

 
10.5 In this agreement, unless the context otherwise requires, the singular includes the 

plural, and the masculine includes the feminine gender and a corporation. 
 
10.6 Where in this agreement there is a reference to Bylaws, that reference shall include 

a reference to any subsequent enactment of like effect, and unless the context 
otherwise requires all Bylaws referred to herein are enactments of the City of 
Penticton. 

 
10.7 Any waiver or acquiescence by the City of or in any breach by the Licensee of any 

covenant or condition shall not be deemed to be a waiver of the covenant or 
condition of any subsequent or other breach of any covenant or condition of this 
agreement. 

 
10.8 If the Licensee continues to exercise the agreement granted after the expiration of 

the term of it without objection by the City and without any written agreement 
providing otherwise, the Licensee shall be deemed to be a Licensee from month 
to month, and subject to the provisions of this license insofar as applicable, but it 
shall be lawful for the City to cancel and determine the license granted by delivering 
to the Licensee notice to that effect, and upon delivery of such notice the license 
shall cease without prejudice to any rights of the City under this agreement accrued 
before the cancellation. 

 
11. Notice 
 
11.1 Any notice required to be given by either party shall be deemed to have been well 

and sufficiently given if mailed, faxed, emailed or delivered: 
 

To the City: 
 
The City of Penticton 
171 Main Street 
Penticton, BC V2A 5A9 
Attn: Corporate Officer 
Email: corpadmin@penticton.ca 

 
To the Licensee: 
  
Bishop’s Snow and Marine Ltd.  
450 Tennis Street, 
Penticton, B.C. V2A 5R3 
pierwatersports@hotmail.com 

 
or such other address as the Licensee may from time to time direct in writing, and 
any such notice by the City to the Licensee shall be deemed to have been received, 
if mailed, five (5) days after the time of mailing, or if faxed or emailed, seventy-two 
(72) hours after the time of the fax or email and if hand delivered upon the date of 
delivery.  If normal mail, fax or email service is interrupted by strike, slow down, 
force majeure or other cause, a notice sent by the impaired means of 

- 83 -

mailto:corpadmin@penticton.ca


License to Use – Bishops Snow and Marine Ltd.  Page 10 of 13 
 

communication will not be deemed to have been received until actually received, 
and the City may utilize any such services which have not been so interrupted. 

 
12. Payment of City’s Expenses 
 
If at any time an action is brought or the City is otherwise required to employ the services 
of a bailiff, an agent, or its solicitors because of a breach by an act or omission of any 
covenant herein contained on the part of the Licensee, the Licensee shall pay to the City 
all expenses incurred by the City in the enforcement of its rights and remedies hereunder 
(including the City’s administrative costs and legal fees on a solicitor and his own client 
basis in connection therewith) together with interest thereon at the rate equivalent to the 
prime rate of Valley First Credit Union plus three percent (3%) per annum calculated 
monthly not in advance from the date due until paid.  For the purposes of this paragraph 
the prime rate shall mean the annual percentage rate of interest established from time to 
time by Valley First Credit Union, Main Branch, Penticton, British Columbia as the base 
rate that will be used to determine rates of interest charged by it for Canadian Dollar loans 
to customers in Canada and designated by Valley First Credit Union as the prime rate. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have hereunto executed this agreement on 
the following page as of the date and year first above written. 
 
 
 
 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF PENTICTON 
by its authorized signatories: 
 
 
       
Angela Campbell, Director of Finance and Administration 
 
 
       
Angie Collison, Corporate Officer  
 

 
 
BISHOPS SNOW AND MARINE LTD. 
by its authorized signatory(ies): 
 
 
__________________________________ 
George Bishop 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

- 84 -



License to Use – Bishops Snow and Marine Ltd.  Page 11 of 13 
 

SCHEDULE A 
LICENSED AREA 

 
Aerial no. 1 - Licensed Area outlined in red. 

 
 

- 85 -



License to Use – Bishops Snow and Marine Ltd.  Page 12 of 13 
 

SCHEDULE B 
MANAGEMENT PLAN 

 
1. Purpose 
 
The Licensee shall have the use of the Licensed Area shown outlined in red and 
described in Schedule A for the purpose of water leisure activities on Okanagan Lake 
including: 
 

a) Rental of boats, personal watercraft, and kayaks owned and operated by the 
Licensee to members of the public; 

b) Moorage of the boats, personal watercraft, and kayaks owned by the Licensee 
at or on the dock facilities located within the Licensed area; 

c) Rental of water sports related equipment; 
d) General operations and rentals from the building located within the Licensed 

area; 
e) Refueling of the Licensees boats and personal watercraft using the fueling 

facilities located in the Licensed area; and 
f) The undertaking of minor repairs of boats, personal watercraft, kayaks and 

water sports rental equipment at the dock; 
 
Not including: 

g) The provision of rental moorage space to members of the public; 
h) The rental of non-water sports related equipment; 
i) The undertaking of major repairs of boats and personal watercraft at the dock 

or in the Licensed area; 
j) The provision of food services or catering services to the public. 

 
2. Annual requirements 

 
The Licensee must annually ensure they have:  

 
a) Work Safe BC;  
b) City of Penticton business license; 
c) Evidence of Insurance as indicated in this license agreement.  
 

3. Vandalism 
 
3.1 All incidents of vandalism shall be repaired within 48 hours of occurrence. 

 
3.2 The Licensee is responsible for removal of graffiti from the Licensed Area.   
 
4. Miscellaneous 
 
4.1 Notwithstanding the above, the Licensee shall carry out all maintenance necessary 

to maintain the Licensed Area in a safe and first class condition. 
 

4.2 The Licensee shall not utilize an area larger than the Licensed Area. 
 

- 86 -



License to Use – Bishops Snow and Marine Ltd.  Page 13 of 13 
 

4.3 The Licensee shall not place signs outside of the Licensed Area without the 
consent of the City. 
 

4.4 The Licensee shall not place any permanent structures on the Licensed Area 
without the consent of the City. 
 

5. Safety/Protection 
 
5.1 The Licensee shall ensure proper procedures are followed for: 

 
a)  Fire Safety/Evacuation;  
b)  W.H.M.I.S.; 
c)  Accident/Incident Reporting;  
d)  Safety Program (WCB); and 
e) Fuel spill cleanup. 

 
5.2 The Licensee shall ensure that all staff receives proper instruction on the use and 

operation of fire safety equipment, fueling system and fuel spill clean-up, ensure 
that the fueling area is maintained and kept clear, and properly vented at all times, 
and ensure that all staff comply with all safe work practices and procedures when 
using the fueling system. 
 

5.3 The Licensee shall ensure all fire extinguishers are kept up to date.  
 

5.4 Any and all accidents or damages involving an employee or volunteer of the 
Licensee that occurs within the Licensed Area MUST be immediately reported to 
the City’s Occupational Health & Safety Representative, Daniel York at 
250-490-2553 or daniel.york@penticton.ca.   
 

5.5 All accidents or incidents shall be reported to the City within 48 hours of 
occurrence, wherein a representative of the City will investigate the occurrence.  
 

6. Special Events 
 

Please be advised that the City does have special events that may affect your licensed 
location. Please be advised that during these special events the City of Penticton is not 
responsible for finding you alternate locations nor will the City compensate you during this 
time. 

 
 

 

- 87 -

mailto:daniel.york@penticton.ca


 

 
Council Report 

 
 

 

          File No:    4320-80 
Date: February 20, 2024 
To: Anthony Haddad, City Manger  
From: Sheri Raposo, Land Administrator 
 
Subject: Request for Proposal - Skaha Main Concession 
 3701 Parkview Street, Penticton 
 

Staff Recommendation 

THAT Council refer the Request for Proposal process to the Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee for 
their review and recommendation, for the use of 3701 Parkview Street, (Skaha Main Concession) for the 
purpose of seeking an operator for a food concession for a three (3) year term. 
 

Strategic priority objective 

Vision: A vibrant, resilient, and healthy waterfront city focused on safety, livability and vibrancy.  

Property Description  

Skaha Main Concession is located at 3701 Parkview Street, as shown outlined in red on Attachment A. The 
building includes a +752 sq. ft. concession area.  Public washrooms are located on the north end of the 
building and do not form part of the Licensed Area, with the City being responsible for the maintenance of 
the washrooms. 

Background 

There are a total of four operational beach concession buildings in Penticton:  

NAME End of Term  
Skaha Main Concession September 30, 2023 
Sudbury Beach Concession September 30, 2023 
Skaha East Concession April 30, 2025 
Peach Concession April 30, 2025 

 

 

- 88 -



Skaha Main Concession 2024 
  Page 2 of 5 

Thomas & Callin Fine Foods Ltd. D.b.a. Tickleberry’s, is the most recent operator of the Skaha Main 
Concession, and they have completed their last season of the current agreement. Tickleberry’s has been in 
this location for the past nine (9) seasons.  They typically hire 15 staff, many of whom are local youths from 
the community.  Over the course of their tenure, Tickleberry’s has invested approximately $70,000 in 
equipment, beautification and upkeep of this concession.   

In the current License to Use (LTU) Agreement, there is a provision within the agreement for renewal for an 
additional negotiable term upon mutual agreement by the City and the Licensee of the terms and 
conditions.  The terms of this LTU Agreement were in place prior to the Park Land Protection and Use Policy, 
and therefore staff are directed to adhere to the policy. The current operator of the concession has indicated 
that they wish to continue with their current concession, and if this concession is to go out for an RFP, they 
will bid on it.  

License to Use Summary 

The proposed three-year term of the License to Use agreement for the concession will be from May 1, 2024 
to April 30, 2027.  

The operator of the concession will be responsible for utilities, day-to-day upkeep, safety and security of the 
building.  The City will continue to be responsible for the major maintenance of the building, surrounding 
grounds and adjoining washrooms.   

Financial Implication 

At this time, there is no financial implication to the City.  Staff anticipate that market rate in the proposals will 
not be significantly different from the former License to Use agreement rates. 

Park Land Protection and Use Policy  

As the land, where the concession building is located, is parkland, the Park Land Protection and Use Policy 
requires new agreements or renewal of agreements within our parkland follow the following procedure: 

Step 1: Application to renew submitted to City staff 
Step 2: Proposal brought forward to Open Council meeting  
Step 3: Circulation of application to City Departments and Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee 
Step 4: City staff conduct License Review to confirm conditions of license met and license in good 
 standing 
Step 5: City staff review finding with Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee 
Step 6: Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee review application and feedback from Staff 
Step 7: Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee would then make a recommendation to Council to 
 approve or deny the renewal 

If directed by Council, Staff will present a report to the Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee (PRAC) at 
the next available meeting, and then will provide Council with the Committee’s recommendation at the next 
available Council meeting.  

- 89 -



Skaha Main Concession 2024 
  Page 3 of 5 

Council does have the discretion to consider the criteria of the Park Land Protection and Use Policy and to 
provide staff with alternative direction. Staff have provided those opportunities in the Analysis section of this 
report.  

Request for Proposal Process (RFP) 

An RFP is used when the City has a need and is seeking proposals to provide a product or service. The New 
West Partnership Trade Agreement does not require issuance of an RFP for revenue generating 
opportunities such as this, however it may be an appropriate solution to seek out a future operator through 
a competitive process.  The last time that this specific tenure was offered publically was in 2015. 

Should Council wish to seek a competitive process for use of this concession, the process would need to 
commence immediately in order to have a proponent secured for the 2024 season; A three-year time period 
for a Licence to Use agreement is outlined in the policy, however depending upon a proposal that may 
come forward a longer time period may be considered appropriate, up to, in staff’s review, a maximum of 
five years. Should the RFP process be supported by Council, after review by the Committee, staff will 
commence this process immediately. 

Analysis 
A number of alternative options are available for Council’s review and are summarized below.  
 
Waive the Park Land Protection & Use Policy and Renew with Existing Operator 

The staff recommendation is based on the Park Land Protection and Use Policy, which requires the process 
in Section 6.1 of the Policy to be followed.  However, Council is not obliged to follow the Policy, and 
considering the investment that has been made in this location by the existing operator, Council may wish 
to continue with the existing operator for a further three years or a five-year period, and bypass the 
Committee process by passing the following resolution: 

THAT Council direct staff to not present a report to the Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee, and 
renew the License to Use agreement, for a three (3) year term or a five (5) year term, at annual market 
rate, plus CPI to Thomas & Callin Fine Foods Ltd. D.b.a. Tickleberry’s. 

1-Year Extension prior to RFP 

Alternatively, Council may wish to provide a one-year extension to the existing operator, this would allow a 
longer duration for staff to present a report to PRAC and to commence a competitive RFP process for use of 
the concession. The existing operator would be permitted to prepare for the 2024 season and staff would 
then commence the RFP process later in 2024. This would not only provide staff with more time to prepare, 
issue the RFP, and award for the use of the concession, this would also align the expiry of three (3) of our 
concessions. The following alternative resolution is drafted should this be desired. 

THAT Council direct staff to enter into a one-year extension agreement with Thomas & Callin Fine Foods 
Ltd. D.b.a. Tickleberry’s and direct staff to refer the three-year LTU agreement to Parks and Recreation 
Advisory Committee and issue an RFP for the use of 3701 Parkview Street, (Skaha Main Concession) for 
the purpose of seeking an operator for a food concession for a three (3) year term. 

- 90 -



Skaha Main Concession 2024 
  Page 4 of 5 

Attachments 

Attachment A – Aerial View of Building and Location of the Skaha Main Concessions 

Attachment B - Park Land Protection and Use Policy  

Attachment C – Letter from Thomas & Callin Fine Foods Ltd. D.b.a. Tickleberry’s 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

Sheri Raposo,  
Land Administrator 
 
 
 
Concurrence 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Director of Finance & 
Administration 

AMC 

General Manager 
of Infrastructure 

KD 

Director of  
Community Services 

KJ 

City Manager  

AH 

    

- 91 -



Skaha Main Concession 2024 
  Page 5 of 5 

ATTACHMENT A 

3701 Parkview Street – Skaha Main Concession 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                                     

- 92 -



- 93 -



- 94 -



- 95 -



- 96 -



- 97 -



- 98 -



- 99 -



- 100 -



- 101 -



- 102 -



- 103 -



- 104 -



- 105 -



 

 

Tickleberry’s, Main Concession 
3701 Parkveiw Street 
Penticton, BC 
V2A 3W3 
 

Dear Sheri Raposo, thank you for the opportunity to express our enjoyment and overall want, to continue use of 
Tickleberry’s on the Beach, Shaka Lake.  

We are requesting a lease of 5 years to continue happily serving locals and tourists throughout the summer months. 

Tickleberry’s has been successfully operating the main concession since 2015 with 15 seasonal employees.                 
Since 2015 Tickleberry’s has installed 2 commercial deep fryers, a commercial dish washer, 2 16 unit ice cream freezers, 
1 commercial sandwich prep unit, 2 industrial safes, 4 chest freezers, 2 standup freezers, 2 commercial fridge's,                 
4 stainless steel prep tables, storage shelves, custom mural and signage. Just over $70,000 has been put into the main 
concession.  

Upon completion of a new lease, Tickleberry’s will update the signage on the outside of the building, re-paint the front 
of the building and touch up the current mural. We will be purchasing new outdoor seating and continuing the yearly 
maintenance on the building of painting the floor and indoor walls. For the upcoming season we will be spending 
$12,000 on improvements. 

Tickleberry’s prides itself on hiring local staff and being a safe, fun place to work. At this particular location staff are 
better compensated due to the tough working conditions of no A/C and hot grills. Free drinks are given, extra breaks and 
staff snacks are always available. Each year over $100,000 of wages are paid at just this location. We also pride ourselves 
in always offering something to everyone. As a mother of 3, and the ever-growing price increases, we will always offer 
bottled water at $2.00 and novelties at $2.00 so anyone going to the beach can enjoy a sweet treat without breaking the 
bank.  

All in all, we love being part of the community and the beach experience! We will open early for school events and open 
late for city events. We will always be flexible and take suggestions and continue to be easy to work with. 

 

Thank you for your time 

Kelsey and the Tickleberry Family  
 

- 106 -



 

 
Council Report 

 
 

 

          File No:    4320-80 
Date: February 20, 2024 
To: Anthony Haddad, City Manger  
From: Sheri Raposo, Land Administrator 
 
Subject: Request for Proposal - Sudbury Beach Concession 
 3846 Skaha Lake Road  
 

Staff Recommendation 

THAT Council refer the Request for Proposal process to the Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee for 
their review and recommendation for the use of 3846 Skaha Lake Road (Sudbury Beach Concession) for the 
purpose of seeking an operator for a food concession for a three (3) year sub-license to use agreement term. 
 

Strategic priority objective 

Vision: A vibrant, resilient, and healthy waterfront city focused on safety, livability, and vibrancy.  

Property Description  

Sudbury Beach Concession is located on park land at 3846 Skaha Lake Road, as shown outlined in red on 
Attachment A. The concession is located on land the City leases from the Province (Attachment C). The 
building includes a +320 sq. ft. concession area.  Public washrooms are located at the north end of the 
building and do not form part of the Licensed Area, with the City being responsible for the maintenance of 
the washrooms. 

Background 

There are a total of four operational beach concession buildings in Penticton:  

NAME End of Term  
Skaha Main Concession September 30, 2023 
Sudbury Beach Concession September 30, 2023 
Skaha East Concession April 30, 2025 
Peach Concession April 30, 2025 

 

 

- 107 -



Council Report - Sudbury Beach Concession   Page 2 of 4 

Glow SUP Adventures d.b.a Breezy Bites, is the most recent operator of the Sudbury Beach Concession and 
had a Sub-License to Use agreement for one season. The previous tenant in this location provided notice 
early in the 2023 season that they would be unable to continue to operate the concession and complete 
their 3-year commitment with the City. Shortly after receiving this notice, staff were approached by Breezy 
Bites with a proposal to enter into a one-year Sub-License to Use agreement to keep this concession 
operational for the season. Staff supported the proposal and Breezy Bites quickly stocked up and staffed the 
concession for a successful season. The current agreement expired on September 30, 2023, and staff are now 
recommending an RFP process be utilized to select a vendor for a three-year term. 

License to Use Summary 

The proposed three-year term of the sub- license to use agreement for the concession will be from May 1, 
2024, to April 30, 2027.  

The operator of the concession will be responsible for utilities, day-to-day upkeep, safety, and security of the 
building.  The City will continue to be responsible for the major maintenance of the building, surrounding 
grounds and adjoining washrooms.   

Financial Implication 

At this time, there is no financial implication to the City.  Staff anticipate that market rates in the proposals 
will not be significantly different from the former sub-license to use agreement rates. 

Park Land Protection and Use Policy 

As the land, where the concession building is located, is park land, the Park Land Protection and Use Policy 
requires new agreements or renewal of agreements within our park land follow the following procedure: 

Step 1: Application to renew submitted to City staff 
Step 2: Proposal brought forward to Open Council meeting  
Step 3: Circulation of application to City Departments and Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee 
Step 4: City staff conduct License Review to confirm conditions of license met and license in good 
 standing 
Step 5: City staff review finding with Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee 
Step 6: Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee review application and feedback from Staff 
Step 7: Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee would then make a recommendation to Council to 
 approve or deny the renewal 

If directed by Council, Staff will present a report to the Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee (PRAC) at 
the next available meeting, and then will provide Council with the Committee’s recommendation at the next 
available Council meeting.  

Request for Proposal Process (RFP) 

An RFP is used when the City has a need and is seeking proposals to provide a product or service. The New 
West Partnership Trade Agreement does not require issuance of an RFP for revenue generating 

- 108 -



Council Report - Sudbury Beach Concession   Page 3 of 4 

opportunities such as this, however it may be an appropriate solution to seek out a future operator through 
a competitive process.  The last time that this specific tenure was offered publicly was in 2022. 

Should Council wish to seek a competitive process for use of this concession; A three-year time period for a 
sub-licence to use agreement is outlined in the policy, however depending upon a proposal that may come 
forward a longer time period may be considered appropriate, up to, in staff’s review, a maximum of five 
years. Should the RFP process be supported by Council, after review by the Committee, staff will commence 
this process immediately to ensure that a new sub-license to use agreement is in place for the 2024 season. 

Analysis 

To ensure an open competitive environment the City’s practice is to issue a request for proposal for 
concession operators.  

 
Attachments 

Attachment A – Aerial View of Building and Location of the Sudbury Beach 

Attachment B – Park Land Protection and Use Policy 

Attachment C- Provincial Lease 

Respectfully submitted, 

Sheri Raposo,  
Land Administrator 
 
 
Concurrence 

 
 

 

 

 

Director of Finance & 
Administration 

AMC 

General Manager 
of Infrastructure 

KD 

Director of  
Community Services 

KJ 

City Manager  

 

AH 

    

- 109 -



Council Report - Sudbury Beach Concession   Page 4 of 4 

ATTACHMENT A 

3846 Skaha Lake Road – Sudbury Beach Concession 

                                                                 

- 110 -



- 111 -



- 112 -



- 113 -



- 114 -



- 115 -



- 116 -



- 117 -



- 118 -



- 119 -



- 120 -



- 121 -



- 122 -



- 123 -



- 124 -



- 125 -



- 126 -



- 127 -



- 128 -



- 129 -



- 130 -



- 131 -



- 132 -



- 133 -



- 134 -



- 135 -



- 136 -



- 137 -



- 138 -



- 139 -



- 140 -



- 141 -



- 142 -



- 143 -



 

 
Council Report 

 

   

 

 

Date: February 20, 2024                                                                                      File No:  4520-01 
To: Anthony Haddad, City Manager 
From: Sheri Raposo, Land Administrator 
 
Subject: Beach Vending Program 

 

Staff Recommendation 

THAT Council refer the renewal of the Beach Vending Program for an additional three-year term to the Parks 
and Recreation Advisory Committee for their review and recommendation;   

AND THAT Council authorize staff to extend approximately 75m2 of the existing pathway on Lakeshore Drive, 
to construct a new vending area at an approximate cost of $30,000, to be funded from anticipated 
administrative savings through the year. 

Strategic priority objective 

Vibrant & Connected: Support vibrant and diverse activities creating opportunities for connection in the 
community. 

Background 

In 2021, Council approved to continue the Beach Vending Program and endorsed a 3-year License to Use 
agreement with vendors. 

These changes were endorsed by Council at their April 20, 2021 Regular Council Meeting as follows: 

- 144 -



 
Council Report - Beach Vending Program  Page 2 of 7 

Staff did investigate the option of establishing the concept of a Vending Hub.  Staff reviewed various locations, 
as well as possible different kiosk options.  Unfortunately, due to the competing summer events, as well as the 
costs to construct, or purchase kiosks, and the security risks in leaving merchandise inside the kiosks 
unattended during closed periods the concept did not seem feasible at this time. 

To date, the Beach Vending Program has 23 sites, 11 along Okanagan Lake and 12 at Skaha Lake.  All sites are 
10’ x 10’. In 2023 we had seven (7) vacant locations. 

Five (5) of these vendors currently have more than one site.  Most of these vendors have been part of the 
program since 2009.  All of our current vendors have indicated that they wish to continue to be part of the 
beach vending program. 

Previous vendors have sold mini doughnuts, shaved ice, clothing, jewelry, sunglasses, temporary tattoos and 
paddle board rentals.  The 3-year License to Use Agreements for our current vendors expires on April 30, 2024. 

Park Land Protection and Use Policy  

As all vending locations are on parkland, the Park Land Protection and Use Policy requires new and renewal 
of all agreements within our parkland follow the proper step procedure and receive a committee 
recommendation: 

Step 1: Application to renew submitted to City staff 
Step 2: Proposal brought forward to Open Council meeting  
Step 3: Circulation of application to City Departments and Parks & Recreation Advisory Committee 
Step 4: City staff conduct License Review to confirm conditions of license met and license in good 
 standing 
Step 5: City staff review finding with Parks & Recreation Advisory Committee 
Step 6: Parks & Recreation Advisory Committee review application and feedback from staff 
Step 7: Parks & Recreation Advisory Committee would then make a recommendation to Council to 
 approve or deny the renewal 

If directed by Council, Staff will present a report to the Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee (PRAC) at 
the next available meeting, and then will provide Council with the Committees recommendation at the next 
available Council meeting.  

Financial Implication 

In 2023, the Beach Vending Program generated $25,102 in revenue. Our vending fees increase annually by 
CPI.  The approximate cost of creating a new pedestrian/vendor area will be $30,000 and would be funded 
from anticipated administrative savings through the year.   

Proposed Relocation of 4 Vending Locations 

It has been identified by our Parks Department that the four (4) vending sites located at the frontage of 
Lakawanna Park grass area (sites #6-9) have been causing damage to the trees and grass within the park due 
to overuse.  As part of the normal operation of the vendor stations, damage occurs to the green space due to 
persistent heavy foot traffic and light vehicular traffic. This damage could be mitigated by moving these four 
vending locations from the current location on the south side of the street in the park to the lake side of the 
street. The movement of these vendors to the lake side of the street will also allow the users of the beach to 

- 145 -



 
Council Report - Beach Vending Program  Page 3 of 7 

access these vendors without having to cross the street, aligning with the other vendors that are already 
located on the lake side. A map of the current and proposed sites is shown in Attachment A.  

Analysis 

A vibrant waterfront needs lively, cordial walkways in which many people are moving about and spending 
time outdoors.  Vendors make an important contribution to our walkways, providing much color and 
liveliness, as well as a reason for people to walk and spend time outdoors during the summer months. Vending 
also provides job opportunities and employment for our residents. 

The establishment of a 3-year License to Use Agreement has reduced administration requirements 
substantially and has been well received by our past vendors, as it provides additional security and allows for 
planning and purchasing of stock for the next season. 

Our Beach Vending Program aligns with the social and economic benefits of our Parks and Recreation Master 
Plan by contributing to community pride and identity, attracting residents and businesses, and contributing 
to tourism opportunities.   

Staff will continue to give preference to vendors that are City residents as part of our awarding process as 
stated in the application form.   

As the program is running smoothly and the long-term vendors are very happy with the program and their 
current locations, staff foresee only a few housekeeping amendments to the Beach Vending Program such as 
eliminating one underutilized location (site #10), and the option to move sites #6-9. 

Staff are proposing to extend the pedestrian pathway and create a new pedestrian/vendor area with an 
approximate cost of $30,000.  This proposal includes adding an electrical pedestal to the new extended 
pathway. This upgrade will allow the vendor to eliminate the use of a generator on the beach providing a 
quieter and more environmentally friendly alternative. To ensure the safety of our Vendors and their 
customers, staff will install a decorative fence to separate vehicles from the foot traffic. 

Creating this path extension will eliminate 4-5 parking stalls on Lakeshore Drive.  However, staff feel that the 
preservation of Lakawana Park is a fair trade for this minimal loss of parking stalls. Staff will amend the Beach 
Vending Application, to reflect the new vending locations, if approved by Council. 

Alternate recommendations 

THAT Council direct staff to not extend approximately 75m2 of the existing pathway on Lakeshore Drive, to 
construct a new vending pedestrian area and to leave vendors in their current location.  

Attachments 

Attachment A – Map of Beach Vending Sites 

Attachment B - Beach Vending Application 2024 

Attachment C – Draft License to Use Agreement 

 

 

 

- 146 -



 
Council Report - Beach Vending Program  Page 4 of 7 

Respectfully submitted, 

Sheri Raposo 
Land Administrator 

 

Concurrence  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Director of Finance & 
Administration 

 

General Manager 
Infrastructure 

Director of 
Community Services 

City Manager 
 
 

AMC 

 
KD 

 
KJ 

AH 
 
 
 

- 147 -



 
Council Report - Beach Vending Program  Page 5 of 7 

Attachment A – Current Site Location & Proposed Relocation of 4 Sites 

 

Proposed Vending Relocation  

 

 

 

 

- 148 -



 
Council Report - Beach Vending Program  Page 6 of 7 

Attachment B - Beach Vending Application 2024 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

- 149 -



 

 
 

2024 Application for Beach Vending  
 

 

 
Please read and understand all terms and conditions stated herein as they form an integral part of the 
Beach Vending Agreement and continued tenure is dependent on adherence to these requirements. 

1. Application Information: 
 

The Undersigned hereby applies to operate a beach vending operation: 
 
Name:               
 
Business Name:   
 
Company Registration Number:   
 
Mailing Address:             
 
City:       Province: ___________ Postal Code:      
 
Phone No:        Cell No:       
 
Email:               
 
* If requested by other parties your contact information will be provided. _________ (please initial) 
 
2. Indicate what items and/or services will be offered for sale/rent: 
 

Description       
              
 

              
 

              
 

              
 
   I am a returning vendor (please check box) 
 
The City reserves the right to delete or alter the products and services that can be vended from various 
sites prior to awarding the Agreement.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

- 150 -



 

2024 Application for Beach Vending  2 | P a g e  
 
 

Vendors can be disqualified, or their License terminated at the sole discretion of the City for: 
 

• failure to complying with any of the requirements, terms and conditions as set out in the Beach 
Vending Application and Agreement or License to Use. 

• having a proposed vendor site or products/service which is perceived to present a safety hazard 
or risk. 

• inappropriate products that conflict with the family oriented nature of the beach including but 
not limited to drugs; alcohol; drug paraphernalia; e-cigarettes tobacco products; lighters; 

• fireworks; weapons, replica weapons, counterfeit items; illegal items; items that contain toxic or 
hazardous materials including lead, cadmium, mercury, or any materials that do not comply 
with Canadian health and safety standards.  (It is the vendor’s responsibility to ensure items 
sourced from outside Canada comply with Health Canada thresholds and Technical Safety BC 
standards); Items that display; The City of Penticton Logo or offensive material including nudity, 
sexually explicit material, violence, vulgar language, or materials that promote illegal activities 
(including drug use) or violence; 

• unprofessional or inappropriate vendor conduct including, but not limited to, illegal activities, 
consumption of alcohol or drugs, use of profane language, actively soliciting or harassing 
pedestrians walking by, or smoking on the beach. 

• failure to remain in assigned location or utilizing a larger area than allocated. 
 
Any illegal activities at the site will result in immediate termination of your beach vending License and 
will be dealt with by the RCMP. 
 
Other than location issues, which will be monitored by City By-law Enforcement, the City will not 
become involved in issues arising between vendors and supports fair competition in a free and open 
marketplace.  Please resolve any issues that may arise yourselves.     
 
Please provide a photograph and description of your vending cart/equipment/display and any 
commentary that you believe would be beneficial to the selection process which could include such 
items as equipment, menu, personal profile, staff qualification and experience, community 
involvement, financial capability, and business history. 
 
              
 
 

              
 
 

              
 
              
 

 
3. Applications must be received on or before 4:00 pm on Wednesday May 1, 2024.  Processing 

of late applications will be at the sole discretion of the City.   
 

4. Beach Vending Sites Selection Chart  
 

All beach vending map locations are approximate.  Sites may be moved a few feet either way 
to allow them to fit in confined areas or create double sites.  The final decision on exact 
location will be determined by the City of Penticton.  The use of pegs under 10” is encouraged.  
You must obtain a utility service locate at your cost if using pegs over 10”. 

- 151 -



 

2024 Application for Beach Vending  3 | P a g e  
 
 

5. Fees and locations  

 

 

- 152 -



 

2024 Application for Beach Vending  4 | P a g e  
 
 

 

 

- 153 -



 

2024 Application for Beach Vending  5 | P a g e  
 
 

 

 

- 154 -



 

2024 Application for Beach Vending  6 | P a g e  
 
 

Site  Location Site Size 
Pricing  
+ CPI 

1* Okanagan Lake - Lakeshore Drive by The Peach 10’ x 10’ $1805 

2* Okanagan Lake - Lakeshore Drive by The Peach 10’ x 10’ $1805 

3* Okanagan Lake - Lakeshore Drive by The Peach 10’ x 10’ $1805 

4* Okanagan Lake - Lakeshore Drive by The Peach 10’ x 10’ $1805 

5 Okanagan Lake - Lakeshore Drive by The Peach 10’ x 10’ $1805 

6** Okanagan Lake – Lakeshore Drive by Lakawanna Park 10’ x 20’ $1630 

7** Okanagan Lake - Lakeshore Drive by Lakawanna Park 10’ x 20’ $1630 

8 Okanagan Lake - Lakeshore Drive by Lakawanna Park 10’ x 10’ $1630 

9 Okanagan Lake - Lakeshore Drive by Lakawanna Park 10’ x 10’ $1630 

11 Okanagan Lake - Lakeshore Drive by Wibit (Beach Site) 10’ x 10’ $1540 

12*** Skaha Lake - Sudbury Beach   Beach Shack $1750 

13 Skaha Lake - Parkview Street 10’ x 10’ $1540 

14 Skaha Lake - Parkview Street 10’ x 10’ $1540 

15 Skaha Lake - Parkview Street 10’ x 10’ $1540 

16 Skaha Lake - Parkview Street 10’ x 10’ $1540 

17 Skaha Lake - Parkview Street 10’ x 10’ $1540 

18 Skaha Lake - Parkview Street 10’ x 10’ $1540 

19** Skaha Lake - Parkview Street 10’ x 10’ $1540 

20 Skaha Lake - East  10’ x 10’ $1515 

21*** Skaha Lake - East 10’ x 10’  $1515 

22*** Skaha Lake - East 10’ x 10’ $1515 

23*** Skaha Lake - East 10’ x 10’  $1515 

 
* Sites are on sidewalk.  Require weights to secure them to the ground. No ground penetration possible. 

** Sites allow food sales excluding hotdogs, hamburgers, french fries, ice cream and cold drinks.  

*** Available for beach or water related activities only. 

Note: 
• Electrical available at sites 1, 2, 19 & 20 (at an additional cost TBD). 
• Food vendors are not permitted within 50 meters of a fixed address or seasonal 

concession building food and beverage business. 
• Some vending sites may be closed and/or have restricted access for special events that 

occur (i.e. Peach Fest, Triathlon, etc.).  Alternate locations may be offered if available. 

- 155 -



 

2024 Application for Beach Vending  7 | P a g e  
 
 

6. Refund Policy 
 

The refund of the Beach Vending License Fee: 
• 75% refund up to 15 days before first day of permitted vending.       
• 50% refund 14-1 day(s) before first day of permitted vending.  
• 0% refund on or after first day of permitted vending.        

 
Refund of the Business License Fee: 

• 75% refund if the business has not yet operated.    
• No refund if the business has operated. 

 
7. Applicants Must Submit 

• Completed application for Beach Vending. 
• Signed City of Penticton Beach Vending Terms and Conditions for Vendors. 

 
Submit completed applications to: 
 

Land Department    Phone:   250-490-2519 
City of Penticton    Email:   Land@penticton.ca 
171 Main Street 
Penticton BC   V2A 5A9 

 
Vending sites will be awarded based on, but not limited to: 

 
• Returning vendors in good standing. 
• City residents. 
• Consideration of previous vending agreements with the City. 
• Consideration of proximity to direct competition operating from a building and  
• Impact on neighborhood. 
• Visual appearance of the vending tent or site set up. 

 
Required items: 
 
All vendors are required to provide all essential items annually and prior to the start of each vending 
season.   
 

• Completed Beach Vending Application (attached). 
• Beach Vending Licence to Use Agreement 
• Annual Beach Vending License Fee as indicated below.  
• Business License application and fee (A separate business for each location).  
• Proof of WCB Insurance. 
• Interior Health Mobile Inspection Report (applicable to vendors offering food service); 
• Penticton Fire Department Inspection checklist; (Applicable to vendors with cooking 

surfaces or propane); 
• Mobile vending equipment must bear the appropriate approval labels for Gas and 

Electrical equipment as required by the Technical Safety BC (formerly known as BC 
Safety Authority), this includes custom built and home built units (please contact 
Technical Safety BC at 1-866-566-7233 if you require further clarification). 

 

- 156 -



 

2024 Application for Beach Vending  8 | P a g e  
 
 

Liability insurance binder naming the City of Penticton as an additional insured for the amount of not 
less than five million ($5,000,000.00) dollars is required.  The binder shall comply with the 
requirements under Public Liability & Property Damage Insurance section found in the attached 
City of Penticton Beach Vending Terms and Conditions for Vendors.  

 
• Automobile Insurance (if applicable) - A minimum of five million dollars ($5,000,000.00) of 

public liability and property damage insurance shall be carried on all automotive equipment.   
 

*** Insurance must be in place prior to issue of License.  There will be no exception to the insurance 
requirements. *** 

The application and License to Use Agreement may be void and the vending License awarded to 
another applicant if the required documentation and payment are not received prior to the start of 
the vending season.  
 

8. Authorization of Application 
 

I hereby certify that the above information is correct and agree to comply with all pertinent Bylaws of 
the City whether the detailed information is contained herein or not.  I have read and agree to comply 
with the above, and the attached and signed Beach Vending Terms and Conditions for Vendors and 
Beach Vending General Conditions. 
 
The undersigned hereby applies for a Beach Vending License in the City of Penticton and confirm that 
I have read, understand and will abide by the terms and conditions in this application and the 
attached City of Penticton Beach Vending Terms and Conditions for Vendors and agree to comply 
with all pertinent Bylaws of the City whether the detailed information is contained herein or not. I 
acknowledge and agree that at its sole discretion, the City of Penticton reserves the right to terminate 
any site prior to the start of a season or relocate a vendor as required to accommodate special needs. 
 
Applicants Name(s):      
                                                            (Please Print)                                           (Please Print) 
 
Applicants Signature(s): ____    
 
Date:   
              (Please Print) 

 
Total number of sites requested:  _______ 
 
Site 1:   Site 2:    Site 3:   
 
    I have read, understand, and will abide by the terms and conditions of this agreement.  
 (Please check box) 
 
 
For more information contact the Land Department at 250-490-2519 or email land@penticton.ca.  

- 157 -



 

2024 Application for Beach Vending  9 | P a g e  
 
 

City of Penticton Beach Vending Terms and Conditions for Vendors 
 
1. Term of Agreement 
 

The term of the Agreement is from May 1, 2024 to April 30, 2027 (3 Years).  Please ensure annual 
requirements are completed prior to the start of each vendor season during the term of this agreement. 
A vendor season starts on the Friday of the Victoria Day long weekend in May up to and including the 
Monday of the Labour Day long weekend in September. 
 
2. Hours of operation 
 

All Beach vending units are permitted to operate between the hours of 9:00 am and dusk during the 
vendor season (May – September).  Units must be removed at the end of each day or when not in use.   
 
3. Maintenance 
 

a) All vendors shall have suitable garbage collection arrangements and keep the area around the 
location free from any paper, plastic, dirt, or other materials originating from the vendor’s 
business.  Do not use the city garbage cans for disposal of litter generated by your kiosk. 
 

b) Tents and securing - the vendors are responsible for adequately securing their tents, however, 
to prevent damage to underground utilities the use of pegs longer than 10” is prohibited.  If you 
require pegs longer than 10”, specific sites may be available that are cleared of services.  It is 
recommended that vendors use screw-in style anchors less than 10” and/or weighted anchor 
systems.  The vendor shall be responsible for any costs associated with any damage they cause 
as a result of installing tent pegs.  Locations of utility locations on the vending sites are available 
from the City and should be consulted prior to any ground penetration in excess of 10”. 
 

c) Driving or parking of vehicles on sidewalks, grass, or beach (sand) areas is strictly 
prohibited. This includes during the daily set up and take down of your vending site.  Vehicles 
must be parked in a legal parking spot at all times. It is the vendor’s responsibility to find 
available parking and must do so at his or her own cost (if any).  It is not the responsibility of the 
City to provide parking to the vendor or their employees.   

 

i. For Vendors operating from a trailer, the trailer must be detached from 
vehicles while the operator is open for business.  City Bylaw prohibits 
detached trailers to be located on the road.  This includes parking 
spaces.  Only trailers from which the beach vending operation is carried 
out are permitted in the beach vending area.  i.e.  Storage trailers are 
not permitted in the beach vending area.   

 
4. Assignment/Sub-Licencing 
 

The License is not assignable.  Sub-letting is not permitted.  
 

5. Waivers/Releases 
 

The Licensee is required to provide and maintain a waiver/release system where they may be 
renting equipment as part of their operation.  The content of the waivers/releases must be 
approved by the City. 

 
  

- 158 -



 

2024 Application for Beach Vending  10 | P a g e  
 
 

6. Notification 
 

The Licensee must report all accidents and incidents to the City within 24 hours of their 
occurrence.  A representative of the City and the Licensee shall investigate all occurrences. 

 
7. Display Boards 
 

Only one sign board per vending site will be permitted. 
 

Sign boards: 
• Are considered to be part of the vending site and must be approved.  
• Must be placed within their site at all times. 

 
8. Special Events 
 

Special events occur several times a year within the City.  The City, as its discretion, may approve 
additional vendors for the duration of the special event.  The City will provide you with a list of 
known events and closures prior to the start of each season. Please be advised that during 
these special events, some vending locations will not be available, and the City of Penticton 
is not responsible to find you alternate vending locations nor will the City of Penticton 
compensate you during this time. 

 
9. Interruptions 
 

The City has the right to relocate or remove the Licensees operation to undertake construction 
or for special events or for unforeseen circumstances. 

 
10. Insurance Protection and Damage 
 

The Licensee shall comply with all applicable laws, ordinances, rules, regulations, and lawful 
orders of any public authority.   

 
The Licensee shall protect the license area and adjacent property from damage as the result of 
operations under the License.  The Licensee shall not cause or permit others for whom they are 
legally responsible to be caused, to cause damage to City property and shall make good at their 
own expense any damage which may arise as the result of the Licensee’s operations under the 
License. 

 
11. Indemnity  

 
The Licensee shall save and hold harmless the City, its officers, agents, servants and employees, 
from and against any and all suits or claims alleging damage or injury (including death) to any 
person or property that may occur or that may be alleged to have occurred, in the course of the 
performance of this License, whether such claim shall be made by an employee of the Licensee, 
or by a third person and whether or not it shall be claimed that the alleged damage or injury 
(including death) was caused through a wilful or negligent act or omission of the Licensee, its 
officers, servants, agents or employees; and at its own expense, the Licensee shall defend any 
and all such actions and pay all legal charges, costs and other expenses arising there from. 

 
  

- 159 -



 

2024 Application for Beach Vending  11 | P a g e  
 
 

12. Public Liability & Property Damage Insurance  
 

The Licensee shall maintain and keep in force during the term of the License, five million dollars 
($5,000,000.00) inclusive limits for public liability and property damage, against liabilities or 
damages in respect of injuries to persons (including injuries resulting in death) and in respect 
of damage to property arising out of the operation of the Licensee.  
The Licensee shall, at the time the License is signed, submit to the City one copy of the insurance 
policies required under this Article and shall also provide a renewal of such insurance if the 
policy expires prior to the term of your agreement with the City. 

 
The City is to be named as additional insured on the policy.  The policies shall preclude 
subrogation claims by the insurer against anyone insured thereunder.  In addition, such 
insurance policy shall include the following “Cross Liability” clause: 

 
“The insurance afforded by this policy shall apply in the same manner, as though 
separate policies were issued, to any action brought against any of the named insured 
by or on behalf of any other named insured.” 

 
a) Equipment Insurance   

 
Notwithstanding anything contained elsewhere herein, it is understood and agreed that the 
City shall not be liable for any losses experienced by the Vendor as a result of loss or damage to 
Licensee’s equipment.  It is recommended that the Licensee obtain insurance over their 
equipment and business interruption insurance.   

 
b) Automotive Insurance   

 
A minimum of five million ($5,000,000) dollars of public liability and property damage insurance 
shall be carried on all automotive equipment.  Please provide the City with confirmation of such 
insurance. 

 
c) General Insurance 
 
Before starting the vending season, the Licensee shall file with the City, certificates of all 
insurance policies acceptable to the City.  These certificates shall state that the insurance 
complies with the requirements of the License Documents.  

 
Each insurance policy required under this Article shall contain an endorsement to provide all 
Named Insured with prior notice of changes and cancellations.  Such endorsement shall be in 
the following form: 

 
“It is understood and agreed that the coverage provided by this policy will not be 
change or amended in any way or cancelled until thirty (30) days after written notice of 
such change or cancellation shall have been given or sent by registered mail to all 
Named Insured.” 

 
Should the Licensee fail to make a payment of any premiums or other assessments required by 
the Licensee’s insurers to maintain such policies in force and effect, the City will terminate the 
License agreement immediately without further notice. 

 

- 160 -



 

2024 Application for Beach Vending  12 | P a g e  
 
 

Whenever the word the City is to appear in the insurance policies, the legal name, The 
Corporation of the City of Penticton, shall be inserted. 
 

13. Compliance with Workers Compensation Act 
 

It is the responsibility of the vendor to ensure compliance with all WCB regulations. 
 
14. City’s Right to Terminate the License 
 

Any of the following occurrences or acts shall constitute an event of default by the Licensee 
under the Agreement and at the City’s sole discretion can be grounds for termination of the 
agreement: 

 
• Failure to make full payment of the obligation(s) in the Agreement or any other sum 

required to be paid by the Licensee hereunder by the due date. 
 

• Non-performance or non-observance of any of its other covenants, Agreements, or 
obligations expressed or implied herein or in the Application for Beach Vending Sites 
which continuing for five (5) days after the City has given to the Licensee notice in 
writing.  If the failure cannot be remedied within five (5) days, then the City at its 
discretion may extend the time period; or any three such breaches in any one season. 
 

• If the term hereby granted shall at any time cease or be taken in execution or in 
attachment by any creditor of the Licensee, or if the Licensee shall make any assignment 
for the benefit of creditors or, becoming bankrupt or insolvent, shall take the benefit of 
any act that may be enforced for bankrupt or insolvent Licensees, then the current rate 
(if not then paid) shall immediately become due and payable to the City, and said 
License hereby granted shall immediately become forfeit and void; 
 

• If sufficient cause exists to justify such action, the City may without prejudice to any 
other right or remedy which the City may have at law or in equity, by giving the Licensee 
written notice, terminate the Agreement.  The City shall nevertheless be entitled to 
recover any monies then owing.  Similarly, if a court of competent jurisdiction on 
account of the Licensee’s insolvency appoints a receiver, the City may take the same 
action in the same manner; 
 

• Notwithstanding anything contained herein, the City may, at any time during the term 
of the agreement terminate the agreement, if the City, at their sole discretion, is of the 
opinion that the operation of the Licensee is not of a standard satisfactory to the City.  
Further, the City, at its sole discretion may terminate the agreement for reasons 
including but not limited to unethical or criminal activities.    

 
 

  

- 161 -



 

2024 Application for Beach Vending  13 | P a g e  
 
 

INSURANCE ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 

 

Please have your Insurance Broker sign and acknowledge that insurance policy issued to  

The Corporation of the City of Penticton and _____________________________  

includes the following:  

Liability Insurance naming the Corporation of The City of Penticton as an additional insured 
for the amount of not less than five million ($5,000,000) dollars that will be in effect, at a 
minimum, from May 1, 2024 to September 30, 2024;  

“Cross Liability” clause: 

“The insurance afforded by the insurance policy shall apply in the same manner to all insureds, 
as though separate policies were issued to each insured in the event an action is brought 
against any of the named insured by or on behalf of any other named insured.”   

“Cancellation” clause:  

“It is understood and agreed that the coverage provided by this policy will not be changed or 
amended in any way or cancelled (prior to thirty (30) days after written notice of such change 
or cancellation shall have been given or sent by registered mail.  

As the Insurance Broker of the policy as indicated above, I acknowledge and confirm that the 
policy conforms to the above requirements.  

 

_____________________________________ ___________________________________ 

Insurance Broker      Verification Stamp  

 

Please sign, provide a verification stamp, and attach a copy of your business card. 

 

- 162 -



 
Council Report - Beach Vending Program  Page 7 of 7 

 

Attachment C – Draft License to Use Agreement 

 

- 163 -



 

 

LICENSE TO USE AGREEMENT 
 
Nature of Agreement: License to Use – Beach Vending File No.: 4320.70 

Particulars: Use of City Land known as Site [XX] for the purpose of beach 
vending. 

 
THIS AGREEMENT dated for reference _______ day of______________, 2024. 
 
BETWEEN: 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF PENTICTON 
a duly incorporated City Municipality under the laws of 
the Province of British Columbia, located at  
171 Main Street, in the City of Penticton,  
in the Province of British Columbia, V2A 5A9 
 
(hereinafter call the “City”) 

OF THE FIRST PART 
 
AND: 

[Name and address of business/operator] 
 
(hereinafter called the “Licensee”) 

OF THE SECOND PART 
 
WHEREAS the City has agreed to grant a non-exclusive license to the Licensee to 
operate a vending business on the vending site as shown and described in Schedule A 
attached hereto (the “Vending Site”); 
 
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the fee to be paid by, and the covenants of the 
Licensee, the parties agree as follows: 
 
1. Grant of License 
 
The City, on the terms set forth herein grants a license to the Licensee to operate a 
vending business on vending site #[XX] located at [OKANAGAN/SKAHA] Lake, 
Penticton, BC as shown on Schedule A, or such site as may be designated from time to 
time by the City for the purposes described in the Management Plan attached hereto as 
Schedule B (the “Management Plan”) and under the terms and conditions disclosed in 
the 2024 Application for Beach Vending and the City of Penticton Beach Vending Terms 
and Conditions for Vendors.  This Vending Site is on an “as is” basis and the City makes 
no representations or warranties as to the suitability of the Vending Site for the intended 
use. 

- 164 -



 

License to Use – Beach Vending Site #XX Page 2 of 12 
 

2. Duration 
 
2.1 This license and the rights granted shall be for THREE (3) years as follows: 

 
1 Season 
May 1, 2024 (the “Commencement Date”) through to September 30, 2024, 
unless cancelled in accordance with the terms of this agreement.  
 
2 Season 
May 1, 2025 (the “Commencement Date”) through to September 30, 2025, 
unless cancelled in accordance with the terms of this agreement. 
 
3 Season 
May 1, 2026 (the “Commencement Date”) through to September 30, 2026, 
unless cancelled in accordance with the terms of this agreement. 
 

2.2 In a year prior to the expiry of this agreement, the City reserves the right to offer 
tenure over the Vending Site through an open and competitive process.  The 
Licensee may participate in the competitive process. 
  

3. License Fee 
 
3.1 Prior to each vending season, during the term of the agreement, the Licensee shall 

pay to the City a License Fee in the amount of [XXXX] – XX/100 ($XX) dollars plus 
GST. 
 

3.2 On each and every anniversary of the Commencement Date thereafter during the 
term of this agreement, the License Fee shall be adjusted by an amount equivalent 
to the change in the Consumer Price Index for Province of British Columbia for the 
preceding year.   
 

3.3 It is intended that this is a “gross” license to the Licensee and that the City is not 
responsible for any cost, charges, expenses or outlays of any nature arising from 
this agreement and the Licensee shall pay all charges and costs of every nature 
related to this agreement whether or not referred to in this agreement and whether 
or not of a kind now existing or contemplated by the parties including but not limited 
to, any operating or utility costs. 
 

4. Covenants of the Licensee 
 
The Lessee covenants and agrees with the Lessor: 
 

a) to pay the License Fee due at the address of the City first written or at such 
other place as the City may specify from time to time, prior to the issuance 
of the vending license; 

 
b) to observe, abide by and comply with all applicable laws, bylaws, orders, 

directions, ordinances and regulations of any competent governmental 

- 165 -



 

License to Use – Beach Vending Site #XX Page 3 of 12 
 

authority in any way affecting the Vending Site and improvements situate 
thereon, or their use and occupation; 

 
c) not to commit or suffer any willful or voluntary waste, spoil or destruction on 

the Vending Site or do or suffer to be done thereon anything that may be or 
become a nuisance or annoyance to owners or occupiers of the property or 
the adjoining properties; 

 
d) to indemnify, save harmless, release and forever discharge the City, their 

elected and appointed officials and employees from and against all manners 
of actions, causes of actions, claims, debts, suits, damages demands and 
promises, at law or in equity, whether known or unknown, including without 
limitation for injury to persons or property including death, or any person 
directly or indirectly arising or resulting from, or attributable to, any act, 
omission, negligence or default of the Licensee in connection with or in a 
consequence of this agreement, save and except to the extent caused by 
any act, omission, negligence or default of the City, its elected and appointed 
officials and employees; 

 
e) to keep the Vending Site in a safe, clean, tidy and sanitary condition 

satisfactory to the City and to make clean, tidy and sanitary any portion of 
the Vending Site;  

 
f) to use and occupy the Vending Site in accordance with the provisions of this 

license including those provisions and requirements set forth in the 
Management Plan; 

 
g) to permit the City, or its authorized representative, to enter upon the Vending 

Site at any time to inspect the operation of the Vending Site; 
  

h) that on the expiration or at the earlier cancellation of this license: 
 

i. to peaceably quit and deliver possession of the Vending Site to the 
City; 
 

ii. to immediately remove all fixtures, structures, machinery, apparatus 
and all other things placed on the Vending Site by the Licensee, 
leaving the Vending Site in a clean and clear condition restoring the 
Vending Site to a condition similar to that at the Commencement 
Date. After the expiration or cancellation of this license, any 
improvements or fixtures that remain on the Vending Site shall be 
absolutely forfeited and become the property of the City and the City, 
at their sole discretion, may remove any or all of the improvements 
or fixtures that were requested to be removed, but left by the 
Licensee, from the Vending Site and the Licensee shall, on demand, 
compensate the City for all costs incurred by the City respecting their 
removal and disposal.; 

 

- 166 -



 

License to Use – Beach Vending Site #XX Page 4 of 12 
 

iii. to the extent necessary, this covenant shall survive the expiration or 
cancellation of the License; 

 
i) to effect and keep in force during the term, liability insurance against claims 

for personal injury, death, property damage or third party or public liability 
claims arising from any accident or occurrence on the Vending Site to an 
amount not less than FIVE MILLION ($5,000,000) DOLLARS, and to name 
the City as an additional insured on the policy with the inclusion of the 
following clauses: 

 
“Cross Liability” clause: 
“The insurance afforded by the insurance policy shall apply in 
the same manner to all insureds, as though separate policies 
were issued to each insured in the event an action is brought 
against any of the named insured by or on behalf of any other 
named insured.” 

 
“Cancellation” clause:  
“It is understood and agreed that the coverage provided by 
this policy will not be changed or amended in any way or 
cancelled (prior to thirty (30) days after written notice of such 
change or cancellation shall have been given or sent by 
registered mail to all named insured).” 

 
j) to effect and keep in force during the term of this agreement, automobile 

insurance with an amount not less than FIVE MILLION ($5,000,000) 
DOLLARS of public liability and property damage on all automotive 
equipment.  For more information, please refer to the City of Penticton Beach 
Vending Agreement Terms and Conditions contained in the 2024 Application 
for Beach Vending;   
 

k) to deliver to the City written confirmation of the required insurance coverage 
prior the start of each vending season.  There are no exceptions to the 
insurance requirements;  
 

l) to provide the City with a new Certificate of Liability Insurance and 
automobile insurance annually upon renewal; 

 
m) notwithstanding subsection j) and k) of Section 4, the City may from time to 

time notify the Licensee that the amount of insurance posted by the Licensee 
pursuant to that subsection be changed and the Licensee shall, within sixty 
(60) days or receiving such notice, cause the amount of insurance posted, 
pursuant to subsection j) and k) of Section 4 to be changed to the amount 
specified in the notice and deliver to the City written confirmation of the 
change; 

 
n) not to place any improvements on the Vending Site other than those 

described elsewhere in this agreement or in the 2024 Application for Beach 
Vending, without prior written consent of the City; 

- 167 -



 

License to Use – Beach Vending Site #XX Page 5 of 12 
 

o) not cause or permit any unusual or objectionable noises, or lights, to 
emanate from the License Area; 
 

p) not cause or permit any unusual or objectionable odours which may be 
noxious or offensive or which could constitute a public or private nuisance;  

 
q) not cause or permit any waste or damage; 
 

r) not to conduct merchandising, display or advertising other than those 
expressly indicated in the 2024 Application for Beach Vending without 
obtaining prior written permission from the City;  

 
s) to observe and comply with any rules or regulations the City may make from 

time to time pertaining to the operation, reputation, safety, care or 
cleanliness of the Vending Site and any use thereof as provided herein; 

 
t) that if, as a consequence of any release of a Hazardous Substance resulting 

from the Licensees use of the Vending Site in or on the Vending Site by the 
Licensee or its servants, agents, or contractors or any person for whom the 
Licensee is in law responsible, any actions are required to be taken in order 
to comply with any Government Requirement applicable to the use, 
presence or removal of such Hazardous Substance on or from the Vending 
Site (including any Governmental Requirement relating to testing for or 
identification of Hazardous Substances) and if the Licensee has received 
notice in writing of such Governmental Requirement from the relevant 
authority (whether the requirement is made of the City or Licensee), then the 
Licensee shall at its expense take such action as required by the 
Governmental Requirement (or alternatively such other action as may be 
acceptable to the relevant authority after discussing with the Licensee).  For 
the purposes of this paragraph: 
  Governmental Requirement(s) means all requirements 

made or imposed pursuant to law by federal, provincial, 
municipal or other governments including requirements of the 
Environmental Laws. 

  Hazardous Substances means any substances that are 
defined as or regulated as being waste, contaminants, 
pollutants, fungicides, insecticides, herbicides, dangerous 
substances, industrial waste, special waste, toxic substances, 
hazardous waste, hazardous material, or hazardous 
substance whether or not defined as such or pursuant to any 
law, regulation or order 

  Environmental Laws means all applicable federal, 
provincial, municipal or local laws, statutes or ordinances, as 
they may be amended from time to time after the 
Commencement Date of the License relating to the 
environment, occupational safety and the transportation or 
regulations of Hazardous Substances. 

- 168 -



 

License to Use – Beach Vending Site #XX Page 6 of 12 
 

u) that if, the Licensee fails to take any action required to be taken pursuant to 
any consequence of any release of a Hazardous Substance the City may 
(but not be obligated to) take such action after giving thirty (30) days written 
notice to the Licensee of its intention to do so, unless within such thirty (30) 
day period that Licensee has taken the required action or has commenced 
in and is continuing diligently to carry out such action, and the City shall for 
that purpose, be permitted to enter the Vending Site with the appropriate 
equipment.  The Licensee covenants to reimburse the City for all reasonable 
costs incurred by the City in taking such required action pursuant to the 
release of any Hazardous Substance within thirty (30) days after receiving 
from the City an invoice and reasonable supporting details relating to such 
costs. 
 

v) that at all times during the term and at its own expense procure and carry, 
or cause to be procured and carried and paid for, full workers' compensation 
coverage in respect of all workmen, employees, servants, and others 
engaged in or upon any work, non-payment of which would create a lien on 
the Vending Site. 

 
5. Non-Exclusivity 

 
5.1 The Licensee acknowledges and agree that the license herein shall not entitle the 

Licensee to exclusive possession of the Vending Site. 
 
5.2 The parties hereto acknowledge that the License granted to the Licensee herein 

is a License only and shall not, under any circumstances, constitute a partnership, 
lease or joint venture between the parties. 

 
6. Assignment 
 
The License it not assignable. 

 
7. Cancellation 

 
7.1 In the event that: 
 

a) the City requires the Vending Site for its own use or in its sole discretion, 
considers that it is in the public interest to cancel the rights herein granted, 
in whole or in part, 

 
b) the Licensee ceases to use the Vending Site for the purposes permitted 

herein; or  
 
c) the City, in its sole discretion, considers that it is no longer necessary for 

the Licensee to use the Vending Site for the purposes permitted herein, 
 
the City may on one hundred and eighty (180) days written notice to the Licensee, 
cancel this license and the rights herein granted, in whole or in part and the 
Licensee agrees that the City shall not be responsible for payment of any costs, 

- 169 -



 

License to Use – Beach Vending Site #XX Page 7 of 12 
 

compensation, reimbursement or any monies whatsoever as a result of a notice 
pursuant to paragraph 7.1 a), b) or c) except repayment of the prorated portion of 
any prepaid License Fee if notice is pursuant to paragraph 7.1 a) or c).  
 

7.2 If the Licensee is in default in the observance of any covenant, agreements, 
provisions or conditions contained herein and such failure continues for a period 
of thirty (30) days after the giving of written notice by the City to the Licensee of 
the nature of the failure the City may cancel this License without prejudice to any 
rights to which the City has accrued under this License before the said 
cancellation. 

 
7.3 Thirty (30) days after expiration or cancellation of this license, any improvements 

or fixtures that remain unremoved from the Vending Site, shall be absolutely 
forfeited and become the property of the City and the City may remove them from 
the Vending Site and the Licensee shall, on demand, compensate the City for all 
costs incurred by the City respecting their removal. 

 
8. General 
 
8.1 The terms and provisions of the license shall extend to, be binding upon and enure 

to the benefit of the parties, hereto and their successors and permitted assigns. 
 
8.2 This license and all the terms and conditions of it may be inspected by the public 

at such times and at such places as the City may determine. 
 

8.3 Time is of the essence in this agreement. 
 
8.4 The records of the City shall be conclusive evidence of the contents of any 

schedule referred to in this agreement. 
 
8.5 In this agreement, unless the context otherwise requires, the singular includes the 

plural and the masculine includes the feminine gender and a corporation. 
 
8.6 Where in this agreement there is a reference to Bylaws, that reference shall include 

a reference to any subsequent enactment of like effect, and unless the context 
otherwise requires all Bylaws referred to herein are enactments of the City of 
Penticton. 

 
8.7 Any waiver or acquiescence by the City of or in any breach by the Licensee of any 

covenant or condition shall not be deemed to be a waiver of the covenant or 
condition of any subsequent or other breach of any covenant or condition of this 
license. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

- 170 -



 

License to Use – Beach Vending Site #XX Page 8 of 12 
 

9. Notice 
 

Any notice required to be given hereunder by the Licensee shall be in accordance with 
the provisions of the Local Government Act of British Columbia and if by the City to the 
Licensee any notice hereunder shall be deemed to have been well and sufficiently given 
if mailed, by prepaid registered mail, or emailed, faxed or delivered to the Licensee at: 
 

To the City: 
 

171 Main Street 
Penticton, BC V2A 5A9 
Attn: Corporate Officer 
Email: corpadmin@penticton.ca 
 
To the Licensee: 

 [Insert Address] 
 Email:  
 
or such other address as the Licensee may from time to time direct in writing, and any 
such notice by the City to the Licensee shall be deemed to have been received, if mailed, 
five (5) days after the time of mailing, or if emailed or faxed, seventy-two (72) hours after 
the time of faxing or emailed and if delivered upon the date of delivery.  If normal mail 
service, fax or email service is interrupted by strike, slow down, force majeure or other 
cause, a notice sent by the impaired means of communication will not be deemed to have 
been received until actually received, and the City may utilize any such services which 
have not been so interrupted. 

 
10. Payment of City’s Expenses 
 
If at any time an action is brought or the City is otherwise required to employ the services 
of a bailiff, an agent, or its solicitors because of a breach by an act or omission of any 
covenant herein contained on the part of the Licensee, the Licensee shall pay to the City 
all expenses incurred by the City in the enforcement of its rights and remedies hereunder 
(including the City’s administrative costs and legal fees on a solicitor and his own client 
basis in connection therewith) together with interest thereon at the rate equivalent to the 
prime rate of Valley First Credit Union plus three percent (3%) per annum calculated 
monthly not in advance from the date due until paid.  For the purposes of this paragraph 
the prime rate shall mean the annual percentage rate of interest established from time to 
time by Valley First Credit Union, Main Branch, Penticton, British Columbia as the base 
rate that will be used to determine rates of interest charged by it for Canadian Dollar loans 
to customers in Canada and designated by Valley First Credit Union as the prime rate. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

- 171 -

mailto:corpadmin@penticton.ca


 

License to Use – Beach Vending Site #XX Page 9 of 12 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have hereunto executed this agreement on 
the following page as of the date and year first above written. 
 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF PENTICTON 
by its authorized signatories: 
 
       
Angela Campbell, Director of Finance and Administration 
 
       
Angie Collison, Corporate Officer  
  
SIGNED in the presence of  } 
 } 
____________________________________ } 
Witness as to all signatures } 
 } 
_________________________________ } 
Print Name } 
 } 
_________________________________ } 
Address } 

 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
 
 
_____________________________________ 

 

- 172 -



 

License to Use – Beach Vending Site #XX Page 10 of 12 
 

SCHEDULE A 
 

Vending Site 
 

 
[Insert site location] 
 
 

 
 

  

- 173 -



 

License to Use – Beach Vending Site #XX Page 11 of 12 
 

SCHEDULE B 
Management Plan 

 
1. Purpose 
 
The Licensee shall use the Vending Site only for the purpose of beach vending and the 
sale of [insert description of vending business] as per the 2024 Application for Beach 
Vending (copy attached to this agreement). 
 
2. Special Provisions 

 
2.1 The Licensee shall not anchor nor secure any buildings, structures or 

improvements on the Vending Site.  It is the Licensee’s responsibility to adequately 
secure their tents (if applicable), to prevent damage to underground utilities.  The 
use of pegs longer than ten inches (10”) is prohibited.  If you require pegs longer 
than ten inches (10”), specific sites may be available that are cleared of services.  
It is recommended that vendors use screw-in style anchors less than ten inches 
(10”) and/or weighted anchor systems.   

 
2.2 The Licensee will be responsible for any costs associated with any damage caused 

as a result of installing tent pegs.  Locations of utility locations on Vending Sites is 
available from the City and the City should be consulted prior to any ground 
penetration in excess of ten inches (10”). 

 
2.3 The Licensee shall not utilize an area larger than their site size noted in Schedule 

A or allow their vending site to be placed other than in the defined location. 
 
2.4 No signs are permitted to be posted or placed outside your vending area. 
 
2.5 Permanent structures are not permitted on the Vending Site and all objects are to 

be removed daily from the Vending Site at closing. 
 
2.6 The Licensee shall not sell any inappropriate products that conflict with the family 

oriented nature of the beach, including but not limited to: drugs, alcohol; drug 
paraphernalia, e-cigarettes, tobacco products, lighters, fireworks, weapons, replica 
weapons, counterfeit items, illegal items, items that contain toxic or hazardous 
materials including lead, cadmium, mercury or any materials that do not comply 
with Health Canada thresholds and Technical Safety BC standards; items that 
displace the City of Penticton logo or offensive material including: nudity, sexually 
explicit material, violence, vulgar language or materials that promote illegal 
activities (including drug use) or violence. 

 
2.7 The Licensee shall not exhibit, display or allow any of their staff to exhibit 

unprofessional or inappropriate vendor conduct including, but not limited to, illegal 
activities, consumption of alcohol or drugs, use of profane language, actively solicit 
or harass pedestrians, or smoke on the beach. 

 
 
 

Initials 
  

- 174 -



 

License to Use – Beach Vending Site #XX Page 12 of 12 
 

2.8 Driving or parking of vehicles on sidewalks, grass or beach (sand) areas is strictly 
prohibited. This includes during the daily set up and take down of your vending 
site.  Vehicles must be parked in a legal parking spot at all times.  It is the 
Licensee’s responsibility to find available parking and must do so at their own cost 
(if any).  It is not the responsibility of the City to provide parking to the Licensee or 
their employees. 

 
2.9 If operating from an approved vending trailer, trailers must be detached from the 

towing vehicle while the operator is open for business.  Detached trailers are not 
permitted on City roads.   

 
2.10 Any and all accidents or damages resulting from the Licensee’s operation MUST 

be immediately reported to the City’s Occupational Health & Safety 
Representative, Daniel York at 250-490-2553 or daniel.york@penticton.ca.   

 
2.11 The Licensee and their employees must adhere to all rules, regulations and 

conditions stipulated in the 2024 Application for Beach Vending and in the City of 
Penticton Beach Vending Terms and Conditions for Vendors. 
 

3. Special Events 
 
Please be advised that some special events held throughout the season may affect your 
Vending Site and prohibit you from operating during specific dates and times.  At the start 
of each season, the City will provide you with a list of events and affected sites.  The City 
is not responsible to find you an alternate location nor will the City compensate you during 
this time. 
 
4. Requirements 
 
It is a mandatory requirement to provide all required documents to the City, prior to the 
start of your vending season. 
 

Initials 
  

- 175 -

mailto:daniel.york@penticton.ca


 

 
Council Report 

 

   

 

 

Date: February 20, 2024       
To: Anthony Haddad, City Manager 
From: Kristen Dixon, GM of Infrastructure 
 
Subject: Electric kick scooter legislation and public pilot project  

 

Staff Recommendation 

THAT the City of Penticton consents to the Electric Kick Scooter Pilot Project taking place within the City of 
Penticton, starting on April 5, 2024; 

AND THAT the Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure be advised accordingly;  

AND THAT the City issue a competitive call for proposals for a public bike and/or scooter share program. 

Strategic priority objective 

Vision: A vibrant, resilient and healthy waterfront city focused on safety, livability and vibrancy.  

Livable & Accessible: The City of Penticton will proactively plan for deliberate growth; focused on an 
inclusive, healthy, safe and desirable place to live. 

Background 

In 2021, the Provincial government established a pilot project to allow citizens and local governments to test 
the use of electric kick scooters in participating pilot project communities. The Province intended to use the 
results of the pilot project to determine if and how electric kick scooters should be authorized for permanent 
use in B.C.   The City was monitoring the pilot program and the results in neighboring communities, and 
actively waiting for the Province to announce the permanent changes in advance of the completion of the 
pilot program on April 5, 2024.  Instead, the Province recently announced that the pilot program will be 
extended for an additional four years, with updated terms that make it much simpler to participate.  The 
Province is encouraging municipalities to join the renewed pilot.  

Given that many of these devices are being used (albeit illegally) on City streets already, as well as the length 
of time that will pass before the motor vehicle act is permanently amended (at least another four years), 
combined with the benefits of e-mobility devices, staff believe that now is the appropriate time for Penticton 
to join the pilot program.  

- 176 -



 
Council Report  Page 2 of 4 

Should the City join the Provincial pilot program, staff would also recommend that it would be an opportune 
time to also provide a public bike and scooter sharing program, similar to what has been implemented in 
other Cities.  The aim of these programs is to provide low-cost transportation options to compliment active 
transportation and transit, and will be discussed further below.   

Financial implication 

None.  There is no cost to participate in the provincial pilot project or to complete the call for proposals for 
publicly shared devices.  Any costs that the City may be requested to incur by proponents would be 
discussed as part of the future implementation report.   

Climate Impact 

Transportation accounts for 55% of Penticton’s community generated greenhouse gas emissions (GHGs), 
while also accounting for 50% of the community’s energy costs. By enabling programs that increase active 
transportation options, the City is supporting residents in reducing their impact on the environment while 
also reducing costs associated with driving conventional vehicles. 

The Community Climate Action Plan strategy ‘Shift 2.5’ recommends promoting e-mobility services by 
collaborating with a technology vendor to bring e-mobility on demand solutions to the community, such as 
electric kick-scooters or e-bikes. Once established, this will encourage residents and visitors to choose an 
active mode of travel instead of relying on conventional vehicles.  

Implementation of policies and programs that support active transportation can reduce emissions by up to 
2,300 tonnes per year.  

Analysis 

E-Scooter Legislation:   

The Province has provided an FAQ for Municipal Governments summarizing the updated pilot program, and 
it has been attached to this report for information. In general, the Province intends to study the benefits and 
effects of people using e-scooters to help more local governments across B.C. evaluate how this clean and 
popular mode of personal transportation can be safely integrated into local transportation networks.  E-
scooters are a cost effective micro mobility option, and their usage aligns with the mode shift goals in the 
City’s Master Transportation Plan and Community Climate Action Plan.  Participating in the pilot program 
will legalize the use of the devices on Penticton streets, which is already occurring given the market 
availability and the low price point of the devices.   

To join the program, municipalities must pass a resolution or bylaw that consents to the pilot project 
starting April 5, 2024, and advise the Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure accordingly.  A bylaw is 
not required to set municipal rules for the pilot, as the new regulation provides a regulatory framework for 
scooters, including regulating locations where they may be operated.  The regulation does permit the City to 
pass additional rules by bylaw, however, at this time staff are comfortable with the proposed Provincial 
regulations and do not believe a bylaw is necessary.   

The RCMP are responsible for enforcing the provincial rules for the pilot project, and can issue violation 
tickets or take enforcement actions accordingly.  The City will be responsible for simplified reporting that will 

- 177 -



 
Council Report  Page 3 of 4 

be provided to the Ministry as part of the study.  Given that it is a pilot program and the City can revoke 
participation at any time, staff are recommending joining.   

E-mobility Public Programs: 

Should Council endorse the recommendation to become a pilot community for e-scooters, it would be an 
opportune time for the City to seek a proponent to offer a public bike and/or scooter share program.  These 
programs are typically run by third parties and provide public shareable bikes and scooters, at convenient 
locations where members can access them (typically app based). 

This shared model can eliminate the upfront costs of purchasing a device, and can help form part of a 
complete transportation system.  For example, the devices are typically provided at places like transit hubs 
or parking lots such that people can take transit part way, or create their own “park and ride” to their end 
destination.  This could work well in Penticton where we have a large number of underutilized parking areas 
(SOEC, shopping centers etc), that could be leveraged to access areas where parking is more of a premium 
(lakes, community center, downtown etc).  It also provides an opportunity for “try before you buy” for those 
who may be interested but not sure they are ready to make the full change.  They are also highly desirable in 
tourist locations as many travelling to Penticton may not want to bring their own personal device, but would 
prefer to explore the community by bike or scooter, and would align well with Travel Penticton’s “Fuel Free 
Almost” campaign.        

These public share programs are readily available around the world with mixed results, and there have been 
many lessons learned and adjustments made to the business models.  For example, the initial programs 
often saw devices (both bikes and scooters) abandoned or littered all over as they had no required end 
destinations or approved areas of use.  Since then, the use of geofencing technology and designated 
docking areas have minimized this risk.  Some companies also offer the ability to further regulate the speed 
of the devices in certain areas (ex. in high pedestrian zones the devices can be limited to 5-10km/hr instead 
of the typical device maximum of 25-30km/hr).     

Staff recommend that the City go through a formal process and seek proposals from vendors who may wish 
to offer publicly shared bikes and/or scooters on City owned properties and facilities.  There would be a 
number of criteria placed on the potential vendors, including limitations on how many devices can be 
deployed and where, maintenance and operation expectations, an exit strategy (for removal of the devices 
should the program fail), and a requirement for data sharing.  The intent would also be to start small and 
grow the program if successful.  Should Council endorse the recommendation to seek proposals, staff will 
report back to Council with a recommended implementation plan once a proponent has been selected. 

It should be noted that there are some businesses in the City providing e-bike and e-scooter rentals already.  
While they may welcome the City’s participation in the provincial pilot program in order to make it legal to 
use e-scooters on city streets, they may be concerned about the call for proposals for a public share model 
for both bikes and scooters which may add competition to their offerings.  In parallel to the public call for 
proposals, staff would reach out to the potentially impacted vendors and seek their feedback around the 
proposed program prior to Council’s implementation decision.       

 

 

- 178 -



 
Council Report  Page 4 of 4 

Alternate recommendations 

Council may want to proceed with participation in the provincial pilot program, and not want to initiate a 
public shared bike and/or scooter program.  If so, Council would only consider this portion of the 
recommended resolutions: 

THAT the City of Penticton consents to the Electric Kick Scooter Pilot Project taking place within the City of 
Penticton, starting on April 5, 2024; 

AND THAT the Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure be advised accordingly. 

 

Attachments 

Attachment A – FAQ’s for Municipal Governments 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

Kristen Dixon, P.Eng, MBA 
General Manager of Infrastructure 

 

Concurrence  

Director of 
Finance and 

Administration 
City Manager 

AMC 
 

AH 
 

 

- 179 -



 

Page 1 of 8 
 

 
Frequently Asked Questions 
 for Municipal Governments 

 

Electric Kick Scooter Pilot Project 
(April 5, 2024 – April 5, 2028) 

 

These FAQs provide information for municipalities on the BC electric kick scooter pilot 

project that starts on April 5, 2024. Communities are encouraged to review this 

information and the Electric Kick Scooter Pilot Project Regulation, and join the new 

pilot project. Municipalities can join by passing a resolution or bylaw and 

communicating it to the Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure. 

Questions about the pilot project can be sent to the Ministry of Transportation and 

Infrastructure at: MVA.Pilot.Project@gov.bc.ca. 

 

  

- 180 -

https://www.bclaws.gov.bc.ca/civix/document/id/oic/oic_cur/0640_2023
mailto:MVA.Pilot.Project@gov.bc.ca


 

Page 2 of 8 
 

Contents 
General information ........................................................................................................ 3 

1. What are electric kick scooters and why are they being piloted? ......................... 3 

2. What’s different about the new pilot project? ........................................................ 3 

3. Why should communities join the pilot project? .................................................... 3 

4. Will the Ministry be providing additional information on the pilot project? ......... 3 

How communities can join ............................................................................................. 4 

5. How can a municipality join the pilot project? ........................................................ 4 

6. What must the resolution or bylaw say? ................................................................. 4 

7. When can the resolution or bylaw be passed? ....................................................... 4 

8. What must current pilot- communities do to continue participating? .................. 4 

9. Is a bylaw needed to set municipal rules for the pilot? ......................................... 4 

10. Can a bylaw set different rules for the pilot project? ............................................. 5 

11. What will happen if a community does not join the new pilot project? ................ 5 

12. Is the Province providing funding to help communities participate? ................... 5 

Pilot project rules ............................................................................................................ 5 

13. Where can I find the new pilot project rules? ......................................................... 5 

14. What are the rules for devices? ............................................................................... 6 

15. Are the rules for devices the same as in the current pilot project? ...................... 6 

16. What are the rules for operators? ........................................................................... 6 

17. Are the rules for operators the same as in the current pilot project? .................. 6 

18. Who is responsible for enforcing the rules? ........................................................... 7 

19. What are the penalties for offences? ...................................................................... 7 

Data collection and reporting ......................................................................................... 7 

20. What data will participating communities have to collect and report? ................... 7 

21. What other data is being collected for the pilot project? ....................................... 7 

22. What will the data be used for? .............................................................................. 7 

Miscellaneous ................................................................................................................. 8 

23. What has been learned from the first pilot project to date? .................................. 8 

24. Why aren’t other types of devices like one-wheeled devices being piloted? .......... 8 

25. What will happen at the end of the new pilot project in 2028? .............................. 8 

26. What other Canadian jurisdictions allow electric kick scooters? ............................. 8 

 

  

- 181 -



 

Page 3 of 8 
 

General information

1. What are electric kick scooters and why are they being piloted? 

Electric kick scooters are battery-powered devices with a motor and two to four 

wheels, a platform for standing and handlebars for steering.  Electric kick scooter use 

is not currently legal in all BC communities. 

In 2021, the Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure launched a pilot project to 

test electric kick scooter use in participating pilot communities, along with guidelines 

for users and rules of the road. The current pilot project ends on April 5, 2024, at 

which time a new four-year pilot is starting under a new regulation and legislative 

framework. The results of these pilot projects will be used to determine if and how 

electric kick scooters should be authorized for general use in BC. 

2. What’s different about the new pilot project? 

The new pilot project provides opportunity to collect more safety data and 

information before a decision is made on whether and how to permanently regulate 

these devices. It is longer (four years instead of three) and has simplified processes 

for participation and reporting. The new regulation also makes other key changes 

which are detailed below. 

3. Why should communities join the pilot project? 

Electric kick scooters are a popular clean, convenient and relatively affordable mode 

of transportation. Participating communities provide the opportunity for residents and 

visitors to legally use these devices in their municipal boundaries. Police can issue 

tickets and fines for electric kick scooter use in a non-participating community. 

The Province encourages communities to join the pilot project as it will assist in 

assessing the safety of these devices and help to develop a potential permanent 

regulatory framework for these devices. 

4. Will the Ministry be providing additional information on the pilot project? 

The Electric Kick Scooter Pilot Project website contains information on the current 

and new pilot project and will be regularly updated. 

Ministry staff will also be scheduling outreach sessions in early 2024 for current pilot 

communities and others interested in joining the new pilot project. If you wish to 

participate or have questions, contact the Ministry at: MVA.Pilot.Project@gov.bc.ca 

- 182 -

https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/transportation/transportation-environment/active-transportation/scooter
mailto:MVA.Pilot.Project@gov.bc.ca


 

Page 4 of 8 
 

How communities can join 

5. How can a municipality join the pilot project? 

A municipal council only needs to: 1) pass a resolution or bylaw that consents to the 

pilot project taking place within the municipality, starting April 5, 2024; and 2) 

communicate that decision to the Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure at: 

MVA.Pilot.Project@gov.bc.ca 

The Ministry will begin publishing the list of participating communities on the Electric 

Kick Scooter Pilot Project website on April 5, 2024, when the new pilot project starts.  

Once a community is listed on the website, notice is provided that the pilot project is 

starting on the date specified. 

6. What must the resolution or bylaw say? 

The resolution or bylaw must fulfil the legislative requirements under Motor Vehicle 

Act section 307 (as amended by the Motor Vehicle Amendment Act, 2023). 

Sample wording for resolution/bylaw: 

The [name of municipality] consents to the Electric Kick Scooter 

Pilot Project taking place within the [name of municipality], 

starting on April 5, 2024.  

7. When can the resolution or bylaw be passed? 

It can be passed anytime prior to or after April 5, 2024. A community that passes a 

resolution or bylaw after April 5, 2024, starts participating in the pilot project on the 

date specified in the notice on the Electric Kick Scooter Pilot Project website. 

8. What must current pilot- communities do to continue participating? 

Current pilot communities must follow the same process to join the new pilot project, 

by passing a resolution or bylaw. 

9. Is a bylaw needed to set municipal rules for the pilot?  

A bylaw is not necessary to set municipal rules for the pilot, as the new regulation 

provides a regulatory framework for electric kick scooters, including locations where 

they may be operated. 

- 183 -

mailto:MVA.Pilot.Project@gov.bc.ca
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/transportation/transportation-environment/active-transportation/scooter
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/transportation/transportation-environment/active-transportation/scooter
https://www.bclaws.gov.bc.ca/civix/document/id/bills/billscurrent/4th42nd:gov23-3


 

Page 5 of 8 
 

Participating communities are authorized to set rules regarding specific matters 

stated in the regulation, such as prohibiting the use of electric kick scooters on 

certain roads. The regulation provides flexibility for participating communities to do 

this by either erecting a traffic control device or by enacting a bylaw. 

If a pilot community wishes to continue using any bylaw they have for the current 

pilot project, they should review it to ensure that it is authorized and necessary under 

the new pilot project framework. 

10. Can a bylaw set different rules for the pilot project? 

A bylaw may only be used for specific matters set out in the regulation. A bylaw 

cannot be inconsistent or conflict with the regulation, as that will render the bylaw 

inoperative and of no force and effect to the extent that it conflicts or is inconsistent 

with the regulation. 

11. What will happen if a community does not join the new pilot project?  

Electric kick scooter use is not legally permitted within a community unless it is 

participating in the pilot project. Contraventions can result in a person receiving a 

violation ticket and fine, or facing other consequences. 

12. Is the Province providing funding to help communities participate? 

Any costs for participating are the responsibility of the community. Communities are 

also responsible for obtaining any related legal or policy advice to participate in the 

pilot project. 

Pilot project rules 

13. Where can I find the new pilot project rules? 

The new Electric Kick Scooter Pilot Project Regulation (which comes into force April 5, 

2024) sets main rules for the pilot project, including device standards and rules for 

operators. Motor Vehicle Act Part 13 (as amended by the Motor Vehicle Amendment 

Act, 2023 effective April 5, 2024) sets overall criteria for pilot projects. 

The Ministry Electric Kick Scooter Pilot Project website provides public information on 

the current pilot project rules, and will be regularly updated, including on April 5, 

2024, when the new pilot project rules take effect. 

- 184 -

https://www.bclaws.gov.bc.ca/civix/document/id/oic/oic_cur/0640_2023
https://www.bclaws.gov.bc.ca/civix/document/id/bills/billscurrent/4th42nd:gov23-3
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/transportation/transportation-environment/active-transportation/scooter


 

Page 6 of 8 
 

14. What are the rules for devices? 

Only devices that meet prescribed requirements set out in section 3 of the regulation 

are considered “electric kick scooters” and permitted to operate in participating 

communities. For example, an electric kick scooter must not have a continuous 

power output rating that exceeds 500W or be capable of travelling above 25 km/h on 

a flat surface. They must also be designed to transport one person and cannot have 

pedals, a seat or a structure enclosing the device. Other equipment requirements for 

electric kick scooters are set out in Part 5 of the regulation. 

15. Are the rules for devices the same as in the current pilot project? 

The new Regulation makes minor updates to certain device requirements, including 

the maximum speed (25 km/hr instead of 24 km/hr), braking performance and 

lighting requirements. If a pilot community wishes to continue using any current 

bylaw they have for the new pilot project, they should review it to ensure that it is 

authorized and necessary under the new pilot project framework. 

16. What are the rules for operators? 

Generally, electric kick scooters can be operated in areas and in a similar manner as 

cycles but must be operated in a cycle lane if one is available. Rules in the new 

Regulation for highway use depend on whether the highway is inside or outside of a 

participating community, the speed limits of the highway and who has jurisdiction of 

the highway. 

Part 2 of the Regulation sets out where an electric kick scooter can be operated 

inside a participating community.  

Part 3 of the Regulation sets out where an electric kick scooter can be operated 

outside a participating community.  

17. Are the rules for operators the same as in the current pilot project?  

The new Regulation makes minor updates to certain operator requirements, 

including where electric kick scooter use is permitted and rules for left turns at 

intersections. 

If a current pilot community wishes to continue using any bylaw they have for the new 

pilot project, they should review it to ensure that it is authorized and necessary under 

the new pilot project framework. 

- 185 -



 

Page 7 of 8 
 

18. Who is responsible for enforcing the rules? 

Law enforcement is responsible for enforcing provincial rules for the pilot project, and 

can issue violation tickets with fines for offences or take other enforcement actions. 

Municipal bylaw officers are responsible for enforcing any bylaws.  

19. What are the penalties for offences? 

Penalties are similar to those for cycling-related offences and will be set in the 

Violation Ticket Administration and Fines Regulation. Most offences have a $109 

fine, except the fine for not wearing a helmet, which is $29. Penalties for 

contraventions of a bylaw are set by the municipality.  

Data collection and reporting 

20. What data will participating communities have to collect and report? 

The new regulation simplifies the data participating communities must collect for 

reporting purposes. Participating communities will no longer need to collect 

information from third parties like shared service providers or ICBC. The Ministry will 

collect that information directly from those organizations under the new pilot project.  

Participating communities will be required to report data using a simplified form to be 

provided by the Ministry. The simplified form is intended to make it easier for 

communities to participate and is expected to be required on an annual basis. 

21. What other data is being collected for the pilot project? 

The Ministry will directly obtain data from other parties specified in the new 

regulation, including shared service providers, ICBC and BC Injury Research and 

Prevention Unit. 

22. What will the data be used for? 

The data collected will help assess the safety of electric kick scooters and determine 

if and how electric kick scooters should be authorized for general use in BC. Results 

will also assist in the development of possible future pilot projects on other matters 

relating to the Motor Vehicle Act. 

- 186 -



 

Page 8 of 8 
 

Miscellaneous 

23. What has been learned from the first pilot project to date? 

Interim results from the current pilot project ending on April 5, 2024 were included in 

a backgrounder to the News Release announcing the new regulations. They included: 

• British Columbians support the testing of electric kick scooters 

• Electric kick scooters have environmental benefits and can help meet 

sustainable transportation goals 

• Participating communities have higher levels of support 

• Electric kick scooters can help meet sustainable transportation goals 

• Injuries and conflicts with other road users are rare when operators follow the 

rules 

• Overall awareness of the project and electric kick scooter laws is low  

24. Why aren’t other types of devices like one-wheeled devices being piloted? 

The current pilot project only applies to electric kick scooters, which are the most 

popular new form of personal transportation. Other types of emerging personal 

mobility devices may be piloted in the future.  

25. What will happen at the end of the new pilot project in 2028? 

The Province will be analyzing the results of the pilot project over the next four years. 

When the new pilot project ends on April 5, 2028, a decision will be made on whether 

to permanently authorize electric kick scooters for general use in BC. 

26. What other Canadian jurisdictions allow electric kick scooters? 

Electric kick scooter use is currently allowed in cities in Alberta (Edmonton and 

Calgary), New Brunswick (Fredericton) and Saskatchewan (Regina and Saskatoon). 

Ontario and Quebec have pilot projects underway like B.C. Rules vary by jurisdiction. 

For example, Edmonton and Calgary only allow electric kick scooter rental 

companies. Saskatchewan only allows electric kick scooters within municipalities 

that authorize their use. 

- 187 -

https://news.gov.bc.ca/releases/2023MOTI0196-001901


 

 
Council Report 

 

   

 

 

Date: February 20, 2024      File No:    RMS/286 Rigsby St 
To: Anthony Haddad, City Manager 
From: Jordan Hallam, Planner II 
Address: 286 Rigsby Street  
 
Subject: Development Permit PL2023-9672 
 

Staff Recommendation 

THAT Council approve “Development Permit PL2023-9672” for Lot A District Lot 4 Group 7 Similkameen 
Division Yale (Formerly Yale-Lytton) District Plan EPP134647, located at 286 Rigsby Street, a permit to 
approve the form and character of a five (5) storey, 48 unit apartment building. 

Strategic Priority Objective  

Livable and Accessible: 
Proactively plan for deliberate 
growth; focused on an inclusive, 
healthy, safe and desirable place 
to live.   

Proposal 

The applicant is proposing to 
construct a 5 storey, 48 unit 
apartment building on the subject 
property. The plans show 39 
parking spaces with EV ready, 10 
class 2 bicycle parking spaces for 
visitors, and 21 class 1 bicycle parking spaces for residents of the proposed apartment.  

As per the City’s Development Procedures and Delegation Bylaw No. 2023-42, this Development Permit 
requires Council approval as the proposal has a floor area greater than 2800 m2.  

Background 

The subject property is located on the east side of Rigsby St between Westminster Ave W and Wade Ave W. 
The property is 1425.7 m2 in size, and currently contains a warehouse that was built in 1949. 

Figure 1 – Conceptual Rendering 

- 188 -



 
Council Report  Page 2 of 26 

The subject property is zoned C6 (Urban Peripheral Commercial) in the Zoning Bylaw and is designated ‘Infill 
Residential’ by the Official Community Plan.  

Financial Implication 

The applicant is responsible for all development costs, including any service upgrades and the payment of 
Development Cost Charges (DCC’s) to help offset the added demand on City services from the proposed 
development.  

Climate Impact 

Council adopted the Community Climate Action Plan (CCAP) in 2021. The proposed development is 
consistent with the following aspects of the CCAP: 

• Shift Beyond the Car: Encourage active & accessible transportation and transit 
o The development is proposing a reduction in parking spaces, encouraging residents to use 

alternative means of travel  
o Secure storage is provided for 21 bicycles, intended for use exclusively for residents. 
o Racked bicycle parking for 10 bicycles is provided near the front entrance of the building, 

intended for visitors of the proposed apartment. 
• Electrify Passenger Transportation: Accelerate the adoption of zero-emissions vehicles 

o The development permit plans show the installation of 39 EV ready chargers, one for each 
proposed parking space.  

This building will be required to meet Step 2 of the BC Energy Step Code. Step 2 requires new builds to be at 
minimum 10% more efficient, with a goal of being Net Zero Ready for new construction by 2032. 

Technical Review 

The proposed apartment was reviewed by the Technical Planning Committee, a group of City staff from 
various departments who review development applications. Staff worked with the applicant regarding 
Development Engineering, Parks Department, and Electrical Department requirements for this proposal. As 
there is no sidewalk currently on the east side of Rigsby St, a new sidewalk will be constructed in front of the 
proposed apartment building. Future building permit requirements were provided to the applicant to help 
expedite the future Building Permit application process. 

Development Statistics 

The following table outlines the proposed development statistics on the plans submitted with the 
development application: 

 C6 Zone Requirement  Provided on Plans 
Minimum Lot Width*: 20.0 m 30.7 m 
Minimum Lot Area*: 650 m2 1425.7 m2 
Maximum Lot Coverage: 100% 57.6% 

Vehicle Parking: 
Minimum 1 parking space per 
dwelling unit 
Total: 48 required 

39 parking spaces provided 
(cash-in-lieu for the remaining 
spaces) 

- 189 -



 
Council Report  Page 3 of 26 

 C6 Zone Requirement  Provided on Plans 
 
Minimum 2 accessible parking 
spaces 

 
2 accessible parking spaces 
provided 

Level 2 Electric Vehicle (EV) 
Ready Chargers: 

Total Required: 39 chargers 
Total EV Ready Chargers 
Provided: 39 chargers 

Bicycle Parking: 

Class 1 (secured): 0.5 per dwelling 
unit (24 spaces required) 
 
Class 2 (racks): 0.1 per dwelling unit 
(5 spaces required) 
 
 
Total: 31 spaces required 

Class 1 (secured): 21 spaces 
provided (cash-in-lieu for the 
remaining spaces) 
 
Class 2 (racks): 10 spaces 
provided 
 
Total: 31 spaces provided 

Landscape Buffer (south): 

Total Required: Minimum 3.0 m wide 
and one tree for every 10.0 m buffer 
area. One shrub for every meter of 
buffer area. 
 
Total Required: Minimum 3.0 m 
wide, 4 trees, and 48 shrubs. 

Total Provided: 3.0 m wide, 5 
trees, and 48 shrubs. 

Landscape Buffer (west): 

Total Required: Minimum 3.0 m wide 
and one tree for every 10.0 m buffer 
area. One shrub for every meter of 
buffer area. 
 
Total Required: Minimum 3.0 m 
wide, 3 trees, and 30 shrubs. 

Total Provided: 3.0 m wide, 5 
trees, and 59 shrubs.  

Required Setbacks 
Front Yard (Rigsby St): 
Side Yard (north – lane): 
Side Yard (south): 
Rear Yard (lane): 

 
0.0 m 
0.0 m 
3.0 m 
0.0 m 

 
3.0 m 
8.3 m 
3.0 m 
1.0 m 

Maximum Building Height 21 m 16.15 m 

Other Information: *Lot width and lot area are only applicable at the time of subdivision. 

Analysis 

Support Development Permit 

The proposed development is considered within the Multifamily Residential Development Permit Area of the 
OCP, which is established to enhance neighbourhoods and create sensitive transitions in scale and density by 

- 190 -



 
Council Report  Page 4 of 26 

addressing issues such as privacy, landscape retention and neighbourliness. The proposed development has 
been designed with the OCP design guidelines in mind.  

Staff consider that the proposed development is supported through the following OCP Goals and Policies: 

OCP Policy 
4.1.1.1 

Focus new residential development in or adjacent to existing developed areas. 

OCP Policy 
4.1.3.1 

Encourage more intensive “infill” residential development in areas close to the 
Downtown, to employment, services and shopping, through zoning amendments for 
housing types compatible with existing neighbourhood character, with form and 
character guided by Development Permit Area Guidelines. 

OCP Policy 
4.1.3.5 

Ensure through the use of zoning that more-intensive forms of residential development 
are located close to transit and amenities, such as parks, schools and shopping. 

OCP Policy 
4.1.4.1 

Work with the development community – architects, designers and buildings – to create 
new residential developments that are attractive, high-quality, energy efficient, 
appropriately scaled and respectful of their context. 

OCP Policy 
4.1.5.1 

Recognize that some traditionally single-family neighbourhoods will see intensification 
as the city grows, but ensure that new forms of residential development are compatible 
with the neighbourhood in scale and design, and are appropriately located (e.g., greater 
density closer to collector roads, services and amenities). 

OCP Policy 
4.2.5.2 

Encourage land use planning that results in neighbourhoods that can be easily serviced 
by transit.  

 

Staff have completed a development permit analysis (Attachment ‘D’) that shows how the development 
conforms to the applicable design guidelines. The applicant has also provided an analysis within their letter 
of intent (Attachment ‘E’), which outlines the project and its conformance to the OCP design guidelines.  

The plans show five trees along the front of the proposed apartment building on Rigsby St, along with shrubs 
and visitor bicycle stalls. The area to the north of the proposal along the lane includes two trees and multiple 
shrubs to break up the parking area. The area to the south of the proposed building has a landscaped area 
with five trees proposed, multiple shrubs, and an amenity area with tables and benches for residents to enjoy. 

As such, staff recommend that Council consider approving the Development Permit. 

Alternate Recommendations 

Council may consider that the proposed apartment is not aligned with the applicable OCP design 
guidelines. If this is the case, Council may direct the applicant to continue working with staff to improve 
specific elements of the proposal. Staff are not recommending this option as in staff’s opinion the 
development plans meet the applicable OCP design guidelines. 

1. THAT Council direct the applicant to update specific elements of the development plans prior to 
consideration of “Development Permit PL2023-9672”. 

Attachments 

Attachment A – Zoning Map 

- 191 -



 
Council Report  Page 5 of 26 

Attachment B – Official Community Plan Map 
Attachment C – Photos of Property 
Attachment D – Development Permit Analysis (staff) 
Attachment E – Letter of Intent and Development Permit Analysis (applicant) 
Attachment F – Draft Development Permit PL2023-9672 
 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

Jordan Hallam 
Planner II 

 

Concurrence  

Director of 
Development Services 

GM of Infrastructure City Manager 

BL 
 

KD 
 

 
AH 

 
  

- 192 -



 
Council Report  Page 6 of 26 

Attachment A – Zoning Map 

 
  

- 193 -



 
Council Report  Page 7 of 26 

Attachment B – Official Community Plan Map 

 
  

- 194 -



 
Council Report  Page 8 of 26 

Attachment C – Photos of Property 

 

 

Rigsby St 

Rigsby St 

302 Rigsby St 

Subject Property: 
286 Rigsby St 

Subject Property: 
286 Rigsby St 

- 195 -



 
Council Report  Page 9 of 26 

 

 

Rigsby St 

Rigsby St 

North Lane 

260 Rigsby St 
Subject Property: 
286 Rigsby St 

260 Rigsby St 
Subject Property: 
286 Rigsby St 

- 196 -



 
Council Report  Page 10 of 26 

North Lane 

North Lane 

Subject Property: 
286 Rigsby St 

Subject Property: 
286 Rigsby St 

- 197 -



 
Council Report  Page 11 of 26 

 

East Lane 

East Lane 

Subject Property: 
286 Rigsby St 

Subject Property: 
286 Rigsby St 

- 198 -



 
Council Report  Page 12 of 26 

  

East Lane 

302 Rigsby St 

Subject Property: 
286 Rigsby St 

- 199 -



 
Council Report  Page 13 of 26 

Attachment D – Development Permit Analysis (staff) 
Development Permit Analysis 

The proposed development is located within the Multifamily Residential Development Permit Area. The 
following analysis demonstrates how the proposal is aligned with the applicable design guidelines. 

Guideline G1 Applications shall include a comprehensive site plan – considering adjacent context for 
building and landscape architectural design and neighbourhood character analysis - to 
demonstrate that the development is sensitive to and integrated within its context and 
surrounding uses and neighbours. 

 • The applicant has labelled geodetic elevations on the site plan, to show they have 
reviewed the topography of the property, which is relatively flat.   

Guideline G5 Siting of buildings should support strong street definition by minimizing front yard 
setbacks while sensitively transitioning to neighbouring building setbacks. 

 • The applicant has located the proposed building at 3.0 m from the front yard, the 
minimum required is a 3.0 m front yard setback, which helps to maintain a connection 
with the street. They have proposed a front entrance on the building that faces the 
street to add a pedestrian scale to the development. 

Guideline G11 Barrier-free pedestrian walkways to primary building entrances must be provided from 
municipal sidewalks, parking areas, storage, garbage and amenity areas.  

 • Rigsby St to the west side of the development provides pedestrian access to the 
development. 

• The proposed development has a sidewalk proposed along the front of the subject 
property to allow barrier-free pedestrian access to building the entrance.  

Guideline G21 Orientation of buildings should face public spaces (e.g., street and lane) with a preference 
for ground-oriented types (e.g., a front door for everyone or every business). 

 • The proposed development provides private outdoor amenity area to the south 
behind the proposed apartment. 

Guideline G33 Water Conservation and Plant Maintenance: Xeriscaping, Irrigation & Mulching 
 • The proposed development includes a landscaping plan that provides adequate and 

appropriate designs.  
• The plans indicate a fully automatic underground irrigation system, which helps to 

reduce overwatering and utilizes a drip system.  
Guideline G35 Tree planting…  

 • Trees and shrubs have been provided at the front of the property as well along the 
south property line with the landscape buffer.  

Guideline MF1 All multifamily developments should incorporate community amenity spaces that provide 
opportunity for recreation and play and address the needs of all age groups likely to reside 
within the development. 

 • The proposed development includes outdoor grass amenity space along the entire 
south side of the proposed development. 

Guideline MF3 Amenity spaces should incorporate vegetation for the purposes of active and passive 
recreation and/or visual interest, and incorporate safe play areas in interior court yards. 

- 200 -



 
Council Report  Page 14 of 26 

 • The proposed development has an amenity area along the south side of the proposal 
and multiple shrubs. This creates visual interest for the residents or tenants living in the 
units, and provides area of shade during the summer months. 

Guideline MF5 Electric vehicle charging stations should be provided in larger developments. 

 • The proposed development has a total of 39 EV ready charging spaces, one for each 
parking stall.  

Guideline MF6 Entrances to apartment lobbies should be connected to adjacent sidewalks and provide 
seating, as well as clear pedestrian-oriented signage. Public art is also encouraged. 

 • The entrance of the proposed apartment is connected to the adjacent sidewalk, and 
has a lobby for residents with an elevator to access the units above. 

Guideline MF9 To increase their attractiveness, taller buildings should demonstrate: 
• High-quality cohesive design of form, materials and colour. 

 • The proposed development has a mix of colours and building materials. The proposal is 
a mix of darker colours and white, with accent colour pieces on the building.  

 

- 201 -



 
Council Report  Page 15 of 26 

Attachment E – Letter of Intent and Development Permit Analysis

- 202 -



 
Council Report  Page 16 of 26 

- 203 -



 
Council Report  Page 17 of 26 

- 204 -



 
Council Report  Page 18 of 26 

- 205 -



 
Council Report  Page 19 of 26 

- 206 -



 
Council Report  Page 20 of 26 

- 207 -



 
Council Report  Page 21 of 26 

- 208 -



 
Council Report  Page 22 of 26 

- 209 -



 
Council Report  Page 23 of 26 

- 210 -



 
Council Report  Page 24 of 26 

- 211 -



 
Council Report  Page 25 of 26 

- 212 -



 
Council Report  Page 26 of 26 

 

- 213 -



Development Permit 

Permit Number: DP PL2023-9672 

Owner Name 
Owner Address 

 Conditions of Permit  

1. This permit is issued subject to compliance with all of the bylaws of the City, except as specifically 
varied or supplemented by this Permit. 

2. This permit applies to:  

Legal: Lot A District Lot 4 Group 7 Similkameen Division Yale (Formerly Yale-Lytton) 
District Plan EPP134647 

Civic: 286 Rigsby Street 

PID: 032-136-641 

3. This permit has been issued in accordance with Section 489 of the Local Government Act, to permit 
the construction of a five-storey, 48 unit apartment as shown in the plans attached in Schedule ‘A’. 

4. In accordance with Section 502 of the Local Government Act a deposit or irrevocable letter of credit, 
in the amount of $_____ must be deposited prior to, or in conjunction with, an application for a 
building permit for the development authorized by this permit. The City may apply all or part of the 
above-noted security in accordance with Section 502 of the Local Government Act, to undertake 
works or other activities required to:  

a. correct an unsafe condition that has resulted from a contravention of this permit,  

b. satisfy the landscaping requirements of this permit as shown in Schedule ‘A’ or otherwise 
required by this permit, or 

c. repair damage to the natural environment that has resulted from a contravention of this 
permit.  

5. The holder of this permit shall be eligible for a refund of the security described under Condition 4 
only if: 

a. The permit has lapsed as described under Condition 8, or 

b. A completion certificate has been issued by the Building Inspection Department and the 
Director of Development Services is satisfied that the conditions of this permit have been 
met.    

6. Upon completion of the development authorized by this permit, an application for release of 
securities (Landscape Inspection & Refund Request) must be submitted to the Planning Department. 
Staff may carry out inspections of the development to ensure the conditions of this permit have been 
met. Inspection fees may be withheld from the security in accordance with the City of Penticton Fees 
and Charges Bylaw (as amended from time to time). 

DP PL2023-9672 Page 1 of 12

- 214 -



General Conditions  

7. In accordance with Section 501(2) of the Local Government Act, the lands subject to this permit shall 
be developed in general accordance with this permit and the plans attached as Schedule ‘A’.  

8. In accordance with Section 504 of the Local Government Act, if the holder of this permit does not 
commence the development authorized by this permit within 2 years of the date of this permit, this 
permit shall lapse. 

9. This permit is not a building permit.  In order to proceed with this development, the holder of 
this permit must hold a valid building permit issued by the Building Inspection Department.  

10. This permit does not constitute any other municipal, provincial or federal approval. The holder of this 
permit is responsible to obtain any additional municipal, federal, or provincial approvals prior to 
commencing the development authorized by this permit.  

11. This permit does not include off-site infrastructure costs that may be required at the building permit 
stage, such as Development Cost Charges (DCC’s), road improvements and electrical servicing. There 
may be substantial infrastructure and servicing costs payable at a later date. For more information on 
servicing and infrastructure requirements please contact the Development Engineering Department 
at (250) 490-2501. For more information on electrical servicing costs, please contact the Electric Utility 
at (250) 490-2535.    

Authorized by City Council, the 20th day of February, 2024. 

Issued this ____ day of February, 2024. 

_________________________ 

Angela Collison 
Corporate Officer 

DP PL2023-9672 Page 2 of 12

- 215 -



Sch
ed

ule
 'A

' 

DP PL2
02

3-9
67

2

DP PL2023-9672 Page 3 of 12

- 216 -

40' x 15'

30' x 10'

3'x3'

3'x3'

3'x3'

5'x4'

3'x3'

mature 
h x w



Sch
ed

ule
 'A

' 

DP PL2
02

3-9
67

2

DP PL2023-9672 Page 4 of 12

- 217 -



Sch
ed

ule
 'A

' 

DP PL2
02

3-9
67

2

DP PL2023-9672 Page 5 of 12

- 218 -



Sch
ed

ule
 'A

' 

DP PL2
02

3-9
67

2

DP PL2023-9672 Page 6 of 12

- 219 -



Sch
ed

ule
 'A

' 

DP PL2
02

3-9
67

2

DP PL2023-9672 Page 7 of 12

- 220 -



Sch
ed

ule
 'A

' 

DP PL2
02

3-9
67

2

DP PL2023-9672 Page 8 of 12

- 221 -



Sch
ed

ule
 'A

' 

DP PL2
02

3-9
67

2

DP PL2023-9672 Page 9 of 12

- 222 -



Sch
ed

ule
 'A

' 

DP PL2
02

3-9
67

2

DP PL2023-9672 Page 10 of 12

- 223 -



Sch
ed

ule
 'A

' 

DP PL2
02

3-9
67

2

DP PL2023-9672 Page 11 of 12

- 224 -



Sch
ed

ule
 'A

' 

DP PL2
02

3-9
67

2

DP PL2023-9672 Page 12 of 12

- 225 -



 
 

Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2024-04  Page 1 of 1 
 

The Corporation of the City of Penticton 
 

Bylaw No. 2024-04 
  

A Bylaw to Amend Zoning Bylaw 2023-08 
 
WHEREAS the Council of the City of Penticton has adopted a Zoning Bylaw pursuant the Local Government Act; 
 
AND WHEREAS the Council of the City of Penticton wishes to amend Zoning Bylaw No. 2023-08;  
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Municipal Council of the City of Penticton, in open meeting 
assembled, hereby ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 
  
1. Title: 
 
 This bylaw may be cited for all purposes as “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2024-04”. 
 
2. Amendment: 
 

2.1 Zoning Bylaw No. 2023-08 is hereby amended as follows: 
 

Rezone Lot 1 District Lot 202 Similkameen Division Yale District Plan 7492, located at 200 Abbott 
Street, from RD2 (Duplex Housing: Lane) to RD4 (Low Density Cluster Housing) as shown on 
Schedule ‘A’. 

 
2.2 Schedule ‘A’ attached hereto forms part of this bylaw. 
 
READ A FIRST time this 6 day of February, 2024 

READ A SECOND time this 6 day of February, 2024 

READ A THIRD time this 6 day of February, 2024 

ADOPTED this  day of , 2024 

 
Notice of intention to proceed with this bylaw was published on the 26th day of January, 2024 and the 2nd day of February, 2024 in an 
online news source and the newspaper, pursuant to Section 94.2 of the Community Charter.  

 
 

      
 Julius Bloomfield, Mayor 
      

 
 

       
 Angie Collison, Corporate Officer 
 
  

- 226 -



- 227 -

mcdonah
Typewritten Text

mcdonah
Typewritten Text

mcdonah
Typewritten Text
    Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2024-04

mcdonah
Typewritten Text
 

mcdonah
Typewritten Text
 

mcdonah
Typewritten Text
 

mcdonah
Typewritten Text
 

mcdonah
Typewritten Text
Date:                            Corporate Officer:



 
 

City of Penticton 
171 Main St.   |  Penticton B.C.  |  V2A 5A9 

www.penticton.ca   |  ask@penticton.ca 
 

Development Variance Permit 

Permit Number: DVP PL2023-9683 

Owner Name 
Owner Address 

Conditions of Permit  

1. This permit is issued subject to compliance with all of the bylaws of the City, except as specifically 
varied or supplemented by this Permit. 

2. This permit applies to:  

Legal: Lot 1 District Lot 202 Similkameen Division Yale District Plan 7492 

Civic: 200 Abbott Street 

PID: 009-985-280 

3. This permit has been issued in accordance with Section 498 of the Local Government Act, to vary 
the following sections of Zoning Bylaw 2021-01 to allow for the construction of cluster housing 
(four dwelling units), as shown in the plans attached in Schedule ‘A’: 

a. Section: 10.7.2.6: to reduce the front yard from 4.5 m to 3.0 m, and; 

b. Section: 10.7.2.8: to reduce the exterior yard from 4.5 m to 3.5 m. 

General Conditions  

4. In accordance with Section 501 of the Local Government Act, the lands subject to this permit shall 
be developed in general accordance with this permit and the plans attached as Schedule ‘A’.  

5. In accordance with Section 504 of the Local Government Act, if the holder of this permit does not 
commence the development authorized by this permit within 2 years of the date of this permit, this 
permit shall lapse. 

6. This permit is not a building permit.  In order to proceed with this development, the holder of 
this permit must hold a valid building permit issued by the Building Inspection Department.  

7. This permit does not constitute any other municipal, provincial or federal approval. The holder of 
this permit is responsible to obtain any additional municipal, federal, or provincial approvals prior 
to commencing the development authorized by this permit.  

8. This permit does not include off-site infrastructure costs that may be required at the building permit 
stage, such as Development Cost Charges (DCC’s), road improvements and electrical servicing. 
There may be substantial infrastructure and servicing costs payable at a later date. For more 
information on servicing and infrastructure requirements please contact the Development 
Engineering Department at (250) 490-2501. For more information on electrical servicing costs, 
please contact the Electric Utility at (250) 490-2535.    

DVP PL2023-9683 Page 1 of 3

DRAFT

- 228 -



Authorized by City Council, the _____day of February, 

2024. Issued this ____ day of February, 2024. 

_________________________ 

Angela Collison 
Corporate Officer 

DVP PL2023-9683 Page 2 of 3

DRAFT

- 229 -



DVP PL2023-9683 Page 3 of 3

Sch
ed

ule
 'A

' 

DVP PL2
02

3-9
68

3

- 230 -


	1. Call to Order
	The Mayor called the Regular Council Meeting to order at 1:00 p.m.
	3. Adoption of Agenda
	6. Adoption of Minutes:
	7. Consent Agenda:
	8. Staff Reports:
	9. Public Question Period
	10. Recess the Meeting
	11. Reconvene the Regular Council Meeting following the Public Hearing at 6:00 p.m.
	12. Bylaws and Permits
	13. Notice of Motion
	14. Business Arising
	15. Public Question Period
	16. Council Round Table
	17. Adjournment
	7.2 - 2024-02-06 COW Minutes - Hayley or Paula.pdf
	1. Call to order
	The Mayor called the Committee of the Whole meeting to order at 1:01 p.m.
	2. Adoption of Agenda
	THAT the agenda for the Committee of the Whole meeting held on February 6, 2024 be adopted as presented.
	3. Delegations:
	4. Adjourn to Regular Meeting

	7.3 - 2024-02-06 Public Hearing Minutes.pdf
	1. Call to order

	8.1.b - Code of Conduct Policy.pdf
	PART ONE – ETHICAL CONDUCT
	Division 1 – Interpretation and Application
	Policy Statement
	Scope
	Definitions
	Interpretation
	Foundational Principles

	Division 2 – Conduct Regulations
	Comply with all Laws
	General Conduct
	Handling of Personal and Confidential Information
	Conflict of Interest
	Interactions with Staff, Volunteers, and Other Members
	Conduct of Meetings
	Interactions with the Public and Media
	Gifts
	Use of Public Resources

	PART TWO – INVESTIGATION, COMPLIANCE & ENFORCEMENT
	Division 1 – Implementation and Preliminary Steps
	Implementation
	Preliminary Steps

	Division 2 – Complaint Intake
	Complaint Procedure
	Preliminary Assessment
	Criminal Conduct
	Disqualification Proceedings

	Division 3 – Resolution Procedures & Investigations
	Informal Resolution
	Referral to Solicitor
	Formal Resolution
	Confidentiality
	Adjudication and Reporting
	Obstruction

	Division 4 – Governing Body Decision
	Final Determination
	Remedies

	Division 5 – Post- Decision Matters
	Remuneration
	Reimbursement of Costs
	Frivolous and Vexatious Complaints


	8.3.b - Attach C - 2024-2028 LTU Final Draft.pdf
	License to Use
	THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF PENTICTON
	1. Grant of License
	2. Duration
	3. License Fee
	4. Utilities
	5. Covenants of the Licensee
	6. Environmental Covenants of the Licensee
	7. Non-Exclusivity
	8. Assignment
	9. Cancellation
	10. General
	11. Notice
	12. Payment of City’s Expenses
	1. Purpose
	2. Annual requirements
	3. Vandalism
	4. Miscellaneous
	5. Safety/Protection
	6. Special Events

	8.6.b - Attachment C - Beach Vending LTU 2024.pdf
	License to Use – Beach Vending
	THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF PENTICTON
	1. Grant of License
	2. Duration
	3. License Fee
	4. Covenants of the Licensee
	5. Non-Exclusivity
	6. Assignment
	7. Cancellation
	7.1 In the event that:
	7.2 If the Licensee is in default in the observance of any covenant, agreements, provisions or conditions contained herein and such failure continues for a period of thirty (30) days after the giving of written notice by the City to the Licensee of th...
	7.3 Thirty (30) days after expiration or cancellation of this license, any improvements or fixtures that remain unremoved from the Vending Site, shall be absolutely forfeited and become the property of the City and the City may remove them from the Ve...
	8. General
	9. Notice
	10. Payment of City’s Expenses




